Conversations with Morya, Mark, and Martin: A Modern Socratic Dialogue

Martin Lasater

To all my friends through the ages

Contents

Contents	3
Introduction	6
Chapter 1: The Nature of Man and Politics	7
Nature of Man	9
Good and Evil	16
Does the End Justify the Means?	20
Defining Freedom	23
The Commonwealth Ideal	
Conditions for an Ideal Government	
Momentums in Human Behavior	
Is Perfection Possible for Mankind?	
The Key Role of Education	50
Society and the True Self	55
The Need for Checks and Balances	64
Strategy to Establish Commonwealth of Goodwill	72
Knowing the Will of God	80
The Role of Spiritual Teachers	84
Role of Evolution	85
The Tao of Government	89
War and Peace	96
The Need to Survive and to Transcend	
Becoming the True Self	
Chapter 2: Building and Sustaining Spiritual Communities	
Perspectives on Communities	
Spiritual and Secular Communities	
Leadership in Spiritual Communities	
Masculine and Feminine Leadership Styles	
Generational Survival of Spiritual Communities	137
Children in Spiritual Communities	139
Key Factors in Community Success	144
Checks and Balances in Spiritual Communities	
Chapter 3: The True Self	

Awakening to the True Self	
The Natural Goodness of Mankind	
Man's Will and God's Will	
The Validity of Moral Judgment	
Balancing Free Will and Spiritual Guidance	
Dimensions of Reality	
Karma and Reincarnation	
Chapter 4: Integration of Body and Soul	
Trust and Integration	
Mercy and Forgiveness	
Separating and Integrating Levels of Consciousness	
Spiritual Integration and Worldly Responsibilities	
Is Earthly Perfection Possible?	
The Goal to Become One's True Self	
Identifying the True Self	
Spiritual Potential of Mankind	213
Chapter 5: The Brotherhood and Sisterhood of Light	216
Cycles of History	218
The Greatest Value	220
Does the Inner Quality Prove the Existence of God?	222
A Spiritual Community of Goodwill	
Responsibilities of Spiritual Masters	235
Basing Decisions on One's Best Character	237
Balancing Service to Humanity and Personal Spiritual Growth	239
Chapter 6: Sons and Daughters of God	246
What Does the Term "Sons and Daughters of God" Mean?	248
Spiritual Evolution	252
Marriage and Remaining Single	255
The Soul's Great Mission in Life	
Commonalities between People and Cultures	
Karmic Connections	
Separating the Real and Unreal in Self	270
Understanding the Role of Humanity	

Aligning with the Will of God	275
Chapter 7: A Final Message from Morya	278
About the Author	

Introduction

The following Socratic dialogue reflects a series of conversations between three life-long friends – Morya, Mark, and Martin – as they discuss topics such as the nature of man and the proper role of government, how spiritual communities might best be organized, the meaning of the true self, the integration of mankind's spiritual and material sides, the brotherhood and sisterhood of light, and what it means to be a son or daughter of God.

In their conversations, each of the men – sometimes joined by their wives – reflect different perspectives of these and other issues. Morya, for example, brings to the discussions a high moral and spiritual perspective. Mark looks at things from the point of view of someone on a spiritual path but still actively engaged in outreach activities through the University of Colorado. Martin is more a realist and pragmatist, who views the world from mostly a rational point of view and who constantly raises challenging intellectual questions; but, at heart, he has good intentions. All the conversations take place in the United States over a period of several years, when the friends meet at various locations to enjoy a few days of well-earned vacation from their professional jobs.

The first conversation centers on the nature of man and politics, one of the age-old discussions held between people on different continents for thousands of years. The setting is a campsite in the Beartooth Mountains of Montana, where the three men enjoy the rugged scenery, fresh air, and breathtaking vistas of the Northeast entrance into Yellowstone National Park. Their dialogue explores different political, social, psychological, and moral issues associated with the establishment of a more ideal form of government and how such political institutions might develop over time.

Chapter 1: The Nature of Man and Politics Day One: Campground

Martin, being the younger of the three men and the one most accustomed to camping, adds a few logs to the fire and repositions the blackened pot so the water can come to a more rapid boil. It is early evening, with the last rays of sunlight warmly illuminating the snows and glaciers on the mountaintops surrounding the valley in which they are camping. It is a peaceful time, with Venus, Mars, and Saturn appearing in the darkening sky along with a few of the brighter stars. The wind is not too strong, but strong enough the keep the mosquitoes off and to sway the tops of the tall surrounding pine trees. All in all, it is a beautiful night and the three men are mostly quiet with their own thoughts, relaxing after a satisfying meal of stew, baked potatoes, and French bread for dipping.

Martin, after settling back into his folding chair and propping his boots against one of the rocks surrounding the fire, broke the silence by saying, "This is great. I could live here forever and think of nothing except being a speck of contented dust in this vast universe. This whole experience makes me feel peaceful and at one with everything around me." Martin, who lives and works in the Washington, D.C. area as a government contractor for a Federal security agency, is clearly shedding his day-to-day concerns with his job. The others, looking at him as he spoke, could see the lines of tension around his eyes soften a bit as he set aside project deadlines and the worries that sometimes kept him up at night. Martin turns to Mark and asks about his research center at the University of Colorado.

Mark explained that his center was a joint academic, business, and government research institution dedicated to bringing together the greatest insights into the potential of human beings. He says, "At first I was surprised at the very positive response the center's mission received, especially from the scientific community. Actually, what I found out is that a great deal of research interest is now focused on issues such as defining consciousness. Apparently, this is one of the big issues not yet resolved. It involves not only religious and philosophical inquiry, but also quantum physics and astronomy. The funny thing is: the more insights that science brings to the table, the more it seems to authenticate some of the oldest religious theories of mankind. It's fascinating. I hope both of you can someday come by and be my guests and perhaps take part in a seminar with my students."

Mark then asks of Martin, "What kinds of things are you involved with now?"

Martin shakes his head slightly and says, "Oh, the usual. Nothing so important. Just the continuous daily grind of trying to do things well but often never seeing any positive results from the effort. I feel like the government is on auto-drive, with everyone running around like crazy, but very little of substance being accomplished. With all the technology we have, we work faster and produce more analysis, but in the end nothing much is done to improve the system. In fact, the more we produce in terms of studies and recommendations, the slower policymakers seem to be reaching their decisions, which are usually off-target anyway. There probably is too much information, and the overload on policymakers and analysts seems to be gluing up the business of good governance." He falls silent with a resigned sigh.

Mark comments, "I know what you are saying. I have too many reports on my desk to help me reach a decision, so I tend to rely mostly on my intuition to find the right course of action."

Martin chuckles and says, "I believe in intuition, too, but without the data and the facts, your intuition becomes nothing more than a guess at best!"

Nature of Man

Morya adds, "What we are talking about here is knowledge – not of the facts and circumstances of a particular case or situation – but rather knowledge of man himself and his capabilities to make decisions. Man is the key; not systems of information sharing or the latest tools of analysis."

Silence follows for a moment as the two other men pondered the meaning of this. After rearranging the coals around the pot, Martin asks Morya "What do you mean that the knowledge of man is more important in decision making than the data on which the decision is based?"

Morya answers with a slight smile, "Oh, I am not criticizing the data. What I mean is that man has within himself the ability to analyze facts and see alternative solutions far better than any computer or spreadsheet. Only man can understand the complete set of circumstances surrounding the decision to be made: political, economic, social, technological, psychological, spiritual, and so on."

Martin thinks about this and says, "That may be true for some people – a small minority perhaps – but most of us are not so knowledgeable about the larger picture. We only see and understand the immediate environment in which we live. That is the environment in which we make decisions anyway, not the whole scope of reality."

Mark interjects, "You're both talking about the same thing. Everyone makes the best decisions they can with the knowledge they have. Some make better decisions than others; some have a broader understanding of reality than others. Some rely on facts, some rely on intuition."

Martin comments, "That's right. But those of us who deal with politics and governance on a dayto-day basis have to function in a reality defined by a certain consensus within society. For

example, in a time of limited federal budgets, who gets what portion of the pie has little to do with spirituality and a whole lot to do with who has the better lobbyists or larger voting bloc in Congress."

Taking the pot off the fire and pouring water into three cups with tea bags, Martin passes Morya and Mark their cups and returns to his chair. Looking up at the now star-filled sky, he says, "Still, I can see some truth in what Morya is saying." Gesturing at the stars, he continues, "We are such a small part of cosmos. Our decisions are about as important as those of a single ant on the prairie. Life stretches endlessly from horizon to horizon, while we just observe what we see immediately around us."

Morya says, "Man is not limited to the time and space his physical body occupies. His consciousness, his awareness, his understanding of self and reality, are not fixed but rather capable of endless expansion in whatever direction or dimension the individual may choose. Man has the capability to expand his horizons, but relatively few people know how to use that capability. If he does have and indeed uses that capability, then his decisions – in whatever profession he may be in – will be better than if he did not have or use that capability."

Mark observes, "That is why meditation and spiritual contemplation is important. The goal in these exercises is to become more expansive in one's vision and understanding. This is one of the first lessons we teach students at our institute, and yet it is one of the most difficult lessons for new graduate students to grasp because they mostly have been trained to become subject matter experts. Breaking knowledge down into increasingly smaller pieces in analysis is the academic fashion of the day. However, a broader view is necessary if all the various disciplines are to be integrated. This includes spiritual experiences, which tend to broaden a person's view of themselves and thus can contribute to better decisions."

Martin says, "I believe what both of you are saying is true, but – from a practical point of view – we still have the dilemma of how to raise the consciousness not only of a few but also of the many. If society is to improve its decision making in the way you are implying, then some way must be found to improve the understanding and wisdom of both the few and the many. Are you suggesting a weekly meditation hour for the masses?"

Mark answers, "You will always have the few precede the many in understanding anything. The few have a responsibility to teach the many. That is why we have had religious, scientific, and other kinds of leaders throughout history. One individual gains a great insight; he or she shares it with a few; and the few gradually share it with more and more people until it gradually becomes universally accepted. This is an ongoing process."

Morya observes, "There is another factor here beyond data and education. Sometimes people in a primitive environment, without the complexities of technology, have very keen insight into their relationships with other parts of life. For example, many American Indians understood that man is part of nature and that its parts are all interconnected. They often found their role or place in nature through a deep understanding of the character of the animals around them: one type of person soaring like an eagle, another as strong as a bear, another as cunning as a fox or as crafty as a crow. What this kind of identification accomplishes is a profound sense of one's natural character. Most people in these primitive societies are actually quite at ease with themselves because they sense the true character inside. As society has become more complicated, people have often lost touch with the truth of who or what they are. They have lost not only their sense of oneess with all of life but also their understanding of self."

Martin adds, "You know, I once saw a Yaqui Indian do a deer dance and, before my eyes, I swear that he took on the character of a deer! But what does being able to identify with an animal have to do with making proper decisions?"

Mark offers, "I can answer that. As an individual becomes more aware of his true self – his inner quality, his core character, his Christ Self or some might call it – the individual develops a moral compass and set of standards which he can use to make better choices. In that way, while his choice may not be absolutely perfect, it definitely is the very best choice he can make at a given moment. And that kind of criteria in decision-making tool is much better than greed, self-gratification, or search for personal power."

Martin comments, "I get the point. A person can greatly improve his decision-making ability by better understanding the highest quality within himself. That highest quality is what we have referred to as the inner quality. People have different inner qualities. One person may have great wisdom, another a sense of harmony and beauty, another a profound feeling of duty or responsibility towards others. Any individual making a decision based on his or her personal best character is far more likely to make a good decision – good in the sense of honestly seeking benefit for all involved – than a person making a decision solely on the basis of what is good for himself."

The men relax a bit and sip their tea. Martin stirs the fire with a stick, sending sparks spiraling upward over their heads.

Morya, watching the sparks, says: "You see how those sparks are being propelled upward by the heat of the fire? This is similar to how people may be energized to move toward some higher goal. The ability to energize the people toward loftier objectives is one of the most important

roles of leaders, political and otherwise. The power of a leader to do this is greatly amplified if the motivation of the leader is the inner quality."

Martin observes, "And what is truly sad is that often those leaders who can inspire, use their gift to convince others to do their bidding rather than encouraging the people to improve themselves."

Morya comments, "Nonetheless, some leaders do want to inspire their followers to improve themselves. What the leader needs to convey, however, is that the highest form of inspiration comes from within, as an individual recognizes his divine potential and seeks to express that potential through his everyday activities. In this way, the leader kindles the fires of inspiration within the individual citizen himself."

Mark says, "That is a very good point, Morya. The most powerful motivation for selfimprovement comes from within the person, not from without."

Morya continues, "The goal always is for the individual to discover his or her true self. Becoming the true self is thus the motivation one needs to become the truth self." He waves his hand to the stars above. "Here are hundreds of thousands of stars and planets, many of which may harbor life, in addition to earth. We may not recognize that distant form of life as being part of ourselves, and that lifeform may not recognize us. But the force of life initiated by the Creator pulsates in each of us. The force of life actually compels us universally to strive for both survival and transcendence. For human beings, part of transcendence is to discover one's inner quality and to embark on the path of becoming the true self. This discovery and expanded sense of selfhood are in reality part of the evolution of mankind himself."

Martin thinks about this and comments, "I do believe in God, although I do not know if God is a person, an energy, or something else entirely. Sometimes I feel I am part of God and part of God is within me. Usually, when I think of God, I feel the pulsating energy of life all around. There is a flow in the energy of life that I sense but cannot see. I think that flow is the Tao, as the Chinese would call it. Whatever the flow of life is, I have experienced it and consider it one of the proofs that a spiritual side of existence actually exists."

Morya observes, "It is good that you have had those experiences. In fact, it seems to me that God Himself grows as we grow in understanding. We are like seeds of God's consciousness. When we bear fruit by knowing and expressing our inner quality, God's plan for our lifestream advances and the Creation as a whole becomes richer. It is a marvelous interplay of spirit and matter, consciousness and life, which continues for as long as this universe exists."

Mark, looking at the stars and then the fire, nods in agreement. After a pause, Martin says: "Let me try to summarize this. God, or Nature, or Life – whatever you want to call it – has placed within each of us a unique potential of goodness. We call that potential our inner quality. The inner quality, therefore, is our true character as individuals. If we can somehow discover that inner quality and then begin to express it in our daily lives, we gradually become our true self. What this means is that our soul and our outer consciousness become one, such that we act on earth as our soul rather than as some artificial self-image we have created through superficialities.

"The realization that we are potentially limitless in the expression of our inner quality gives us great hope and strength, for it places our future largely in our own hands. Knowing who we are enables us to become what we are, or at least gives us a vision towards which to strive. An individual who is on this path of self-realization makes better decisions because he or she is more

awake to the realities of life. Every man, woman, and child on the planet have this potential insight into their true selves, and the society whose members share this knowledge will itself become richer, stronger, and more creative."

Martin pauses, and then adds with a smile: "At least until the barbarians show up at the gates." Mark quickly points out, "Don't forget, there have been instances in which the saints have saved their communities by using spiritual force to turn back the hordes of darkness."

"I don't know if those stories are true or not," observes Martin, "but I do know that there are no saints who can turn back the scourge of illicit drugs, cancer, terrorism, or random acts of violence against the innocent. That is why, while we keep our holy books close to our hearts, we are constantly vigilant and make sure our powder is dry."

Morya laughs and says, "It is true that the saints will not always save us. Goodness has never been completely protected from evil in this plane of existence. But part of the reason for that is that man himself, while a son or daughter of God in potential, contains within his consciousness seeds of the misuse of free will. Even though an individual may be aware of his inner quality and want to express that quality, there usually is much for the individual to do in terms of selfcleansing."

Mark nods, but Martin interjects half-jokingly, "This is indeed depressing news, Morya. It is difficult enough to have a proper understanding of yourself. Why do we have to battle our thoughts and feelings to become a better person? It should happen more naturally. It should be a pleasant experience all around!"

Morya chuckles. "Yes, it should. But it isn't. Why is that?"

Martin, stubbornly refusing to concede the point, counters, "I don't know. Why?"

Mark, looking first at Martin and then at Morya, says, "I think I can answer that."

Good and Evil

Martin got up and refilled everyone's cup as Mark looked at the fire for a long moment. Morya gazed at the Milky Way – a linen across the sky – the forest alive with the sounds of insects and the occasional snaps and pops of branches breaking or falling from trees in the wind. Occasionally, a large moth would flutter for a moment near the fire and then, having approached too closely, quickly fly away. It was a peaceful moment. Mark begins to speak.

"The origin of evil is one of the greatest mysteries confronting man throughout history. There have always been acts of decency and kindness, and there have always been acts of cruelty and hatred. I like to think that, sometime in the distant past, mankind was all good – the Garden of Eden setting in a moral sense, in which man was innocent as a child and naturally good, without the taint of corruption.

"The reasons mankind became corrupt are his disobedience, selfishness, and arrogance. He disobeyed the commandments of God written in his soul. He became selfish and created an artificial distinction between himself and others, especially between himself and God. He became arrogant in his power to create, and came to view himself as not needing God – indeed, to consider himself as God.

"When these things occurred in mankind's consciousness, he became vulnerable to the force of what we call evil. Evil is an energy veil between man and his Creator. That energy is a free will creation comprised of the anti-God feelings, thoughts, and actions of those whom God created. Evil, in some ways, is one of the results of having free will. Without conscious oneness between man and God, man does not always act according to his highest calling, but rather acts in ways harmful to himself and others. That, to me, is the origin of evil. Evil arose because man lost his sense of oneness with God, a loss attributable mostly to his misuse of free will."

The two other men are quiet, taking this explanation in. Martin tries to bring the conversation back to the realities he perceives. "I can understand all of that, and it may be true. However, I am not aware of any documented evidence of there being a time when mankind did not have to struggle to survive. A Garden of Eden never existed in this world, at least to my knowledge. And if such a Garden did not exist, and if man has constantly been concerned about his own survival, then how could there be an initial state of innocence in which all men identified themselves as being one with God, a time in which all men were good with no evil amongst them? To me, being selfish and concerned with one's personal wellbeing is natural, part of our genetic makeup, part of our evolution as mankind. In fact, when I observe nature, I cannot see any being so altruistic that it does not care about its survival in this world."

Morya says, "The ancients tell us that the origins of evil exist beyond our planet, and if that is the case, then we may never know that origin, but only take as hypotheses the explanations that are offered by those wiser than ourselves. And, Martin, in regards to your comment, ideals have been pursued by mankind forever on earth. Whether the Garden of Eden existed in reality is not as important as the ideal of oneness with God that it represents. Having an ideal of universal goodwill is not a bad thing for individuals or for society. The fact that terrible things occur in this world does not negate the importance of trying to prevent those occurrences both now and in the future."

Martin replies carefully, "I am not saying that good and evil are equal, like two parts of a whole. I am saying that, from all recorded history and archeological evidence that we have found, and

from all my observations of people whom I have known, that individuals seem to have both good and evil inside of themselves. Some are better, some are more evil, and some are blended in their motivations and actions. I have never known anyone to be completely good or completely evil, although there seem to be people with those aspirations."

Morya responds, "I agree that no man is perfect, save perhaps a handful of embodied masters. However, every man can improve. There is no limit as to the extent of that improvement. An evil man can become a good man; and vice versa for that matter. The key question is: Why does a person want to improve himself, to become a better person, to eradicate the evil inside and to replace it with good?"

Martin says, "I understand that, for myself at least, 'good' is the expression of my inner quality and 'bad' are thoughts, feelings, and actions that ran counter to my inner quality. 'Evil,' it seemed to me, is a deliberate decision to rebel against one's inner quality and to undermine the expression of goodness in the world. My free will enables me to express my inner quality, to know of its existence but not strive for its expression, or to act deliberately against it. I always have a choice. Even though I perceived my inner quality as somehow being connected to my soul and hence to God, I could reject that potential and even work against it, if I wished."

Morya nods and comments, "Man always has free will to determine what he will do. Even if he is aware of his soul's potential."

Martin continues, "What I am trying to say is this: if we can experience our inner quality and if we decide to try to become that inner quality in our outer self, then we can live by an individual standard of what is right and wrong for ourselves. If every individual acts according to their

highest standard, then goodness in man and in society will increase dramatically and that which we call evil will diminish in this world."

Morya comments, "The key always is the individual, who must learn for himself what is right and what is wrong and then – most importantly – to do what is right and avoid doing what is wrong. God gave man free will and He will not force man to make the right decisions in this dimension of time and space we call home. This world is mankind's responsibility and each of us have to make our own choices. The purpose of this schoolroom we call earth is for individual souls to learn to make right choices."

He thinks for a moment and then continues, "Much of what we see as being 'evil' or 'bad' or 'destructive' or 'negative' is actually a reflection of mankind's psychological burdens. Getting to the root of these disturbances in our psychology and 'fixing' the problem is not always easy to do. That is why many of the great teachings of the world, such as those of the Buddha, have often been seen through the eyes of psychology. These teachers were trying to help people work through their mental and emotional imbalances. The tools they used in this process, however, have varied with the individual teacher and student."

"Well," Martin says after a long pause, "this was an interesting discussion. The hour is late. Why don't we call it a night and try out some of the nearby trails tomorrow? I'll take care of these dishes." As Martin washed the dishes and the fire gradually died down, Mark and Morya sat watching the stars and the glowing embers for a bit, yawned, and then got up to prepare for their evening's rest.

Day Two: Chief Joseph Highway

Does the End Justify the Means?

The next day, the friends enjoyed a full day of driving and hiking in the Chief Joseph Highway area. Martin collected rocks as was his favorite pastime; Mark took pictures of the scenic vistas; and Morya wandered off alone to find a comfortable rock on which to sit and enjoy the wondrous views that spread everywhere out before them. Towards late afternoon, they returned to the camp site and went about self-appointed chores to get ready for the evening. In about an hour, dinner was ready: steak, sweet potatoes, green beans, and corn. It was a delicious meal and the men ate with few words but lots of appreciative nods. When finished, Martin gathered up the dishes and washed them while the water was boiling for their evening tea. The stars and brighter planets began to appear and each of the men put on a light jacket and sat a bit closer to the fire as a cool breeze came down from the mountains. With the cups were filled, Martin put a couple of more logs on the fire, and the three men settled into their camp chairs, falling silent with their own thoughts.

After a while, Martin says, "I would like to ask your opinion about something that has puzzled me for years." Mark and Morya nod, anticipating one of Martin's characteristically convoluted questions. Sipping his tea and wrinkling his forehead, Martin continues, "You know that I work as a security analyst in Washington. One of the things I have noticed is the tendency of almost all decision makers to set aside their personal moral beliefs when making hard choices, such as how to respond to a terrorist incident. The question I have is this: is it morally appropriate for a national leader to make amoral decisions when acting on behalf of the nation?"

Mark smiles and says, "Ah, the old ends verses means argument. It seems to me that Machiavelli addressed this in *The Prince* and, from what I recall, he clearly believed that a political leader

was not obligated to act according to any moral standard other than his own interests. That, to me, is a false rationale for a leader's behavior."

Morya comments, "And yet, the question is a good one because sometimes a leader is not acting as an individual but rather acting on behalf of society. Morality appropriate for an individual in normal daily life can be different from morality appropriate to a national leader in a time of emergency, especially when his or her actions are for the protection of society for whom they are responsible."

Mark says, "However, the morality of the group should reflect the morality of all of its members. How can an exception to that moral standard be given to leaders of the group?"

Martin observes, "I have studied Machiavelli a little, perhaps because I have been puzzled by the observation I mentioned earlier. Machiavelli was a complicated person, like most of us. He did write *The Prince*, but he also wrote one of the first treatises on democracy. He clearly favored a republican form of government over a dictatorship, yet he is remembered more for the authoritarian arguments in *The Prince* than for his arguments for a republic. Machiavelli's ideals were ignored; his amoral guides for ruthless leaders were embraced."

Mark says, "This proves that you ought to be careful what you say and write. Still, we cannot walk away from the fact that Machiavelli argued in favor of the end justifying the means in politics. And his arguments have been used by generations of tyrants to justify their own thirst for power at the expense of others. In my view, this exploitation cannot be justified or rationalized on any basis."

Morya cautions, "We need to be careful in making judgments here. Do you recall, Martin, what exactly Machiavelli said about the end justifying the means?"

Martin thinks for a moment and then says: "Actually, he never said the end justifies the means. What he said was that the results achieved by the Prince need to be considered before judging the correctness of his actions. The statement, 'the end justifies the means,' is used as a blanket excuse to do evil to achieve good – a political version of the Bible's description of those who said 'let us do evil that good may come.' Interestingly enough, Machiavelli was a very religious person, but he hated the corruption of the Catholic Church in his day. And even though he preferred a republican form of government, he did believe that in the chaos of Italy at the time – which was then occupied by foreign mercenaries and divided into warring city states – that a strong, forceful, even ruthless leader was needed to unite the country. He wanted leaders to be guided by high moral standards, but he knew from experience and the study of history that such leaders would be taken advantage of and their good works ruined. So, it seems to me Machiavelli was advocating that the leader of his times use ruthless, pragmatic means to achieve a peaceful and prosperous country in the future. The question is: was he morally wrong to advise using these means to achieve those ends?"

Mark thinks a moment and comments, "Listening to your explanation, I am reminded of the story of Arjuna in the *Bhagavad Gita*, when the Lord Krishna instructs Arjuna that he must fight and defeat in battle his friends and relatives because that is his duty. Krishna told him, however, that he must fight without lust for war and without attachment to the fruits of his actions. This is the core of karma yoga, the path of action. Machiavelli advised the Prince to use his desire for power and his ability to instill fear in others to suppress all opposition to his rule. The two princes are both urged to action, but the higher way of Krishna is to do one's duty with no selfish attachments, whereas the lesser way of Machiavelli is to act with any necessary means to attain one's ambitions at the expense of others."

Martin adds, "Arjuna's story is actually similar to the ethical dilemma spoken of by the philosopher Kierkegaard, when he analyzed the biblical account of Abraham being asked by God to sacrifice his son Isaac. Kierkegaard could not resolve this dilemma, and ended up concluding that the best ethical choices of mankind are sometimes overridden by God's will, for which we have no explanation. In the end, no matter how good we think we are, no matter how logical our moral systems, we still must listen to God's direction and do what He asks."

Morya comments, "All of life's dilemmas – whether they be faced by presidents or laymen, whether they be of large or small consequence, whether they involve strategic calculations or the passions of love – must be addressed in the heart and mind of a single individual. Mankind is not 'wired' for collective consciousness; mankind is 'wired' for individual self-determination. The key is the individual and how he or she makes decisions. The better one's internal decisionmaking processes, the better the decision, and the more in harmony the person is with his role in life. Hence the importance of knowing one's inner quality or one's best character of goodness."

All agree and decide to call it a day.

Day Three: Lamar Valley

Defining Freedom

The next morning they arose early, ate a quick breakfast, and drove out to Lamar Valley to watch the wildlife. They were fortunate to find a good place to park on one of the few turn-offs on the highway, and spent most of the day looking at and photographing the bison and occasional wolf and bear visible near the tree line across the valley. A few elk were also spotted on their side of the river, high on the bordering hills. Later, they drove further into the Park and walked a few miles on the one of the trails near the Yellowstone falls. When they returned to camp, it was getting late, so they hurriedly prepared a light dinner. By the time the dishes were washed and put away, and the water ready for their nightly tea, it was getting dark enough to use the lantern. As they settled down beside the fire, the men relaxed and took a few moments to gather their thoughts and put the day into perspective.

Martin says, "Morya, I have been wanting to ask you for some time how you define freedom?" Morya replies, "To me freedom is obeying the will of God in all things."

Martin ponders this seeming paradox and then asks Mark the same question.

Mark says, "For me, freedom would be sitting at the feet of the masters and listening to them speak."

Morya asks, "And for you, Martin, what is your definition of freedom?"

Martin responds, "Freedom to me is the ability to do and say and be whatever I want. I do not like to be restrained or controlled by others. And I suppose, from a political point of view, freedom is the ability to choose one's leaders and have a voice on public policy. Also, freedom of speech and freedom of assembly are important. Much like our Bill of Rights."

Morya then raises a question: "And what of the bison we saw today. What do you think freedom means to them?"

Surprised by the question, Martin thinks and then says, "For a bison, even though I doubt they think about it, freedom probably is the ability to move where they want when they want, to eat, sleep, roll in the dirt, procreate, and just be themselves as they feel themselves to be."

Picking up the theme, Mark then asks, "That's a pretty good description. What about a pine tree? What is its sense of freedom?"

Martin laughs, "Well, for sure I never thought about that. But I imagine a pine tree's sense of freedom would be to take root and find enough nourishment to grow tall and old and majestic, with the strength to endure hot summers and harsh winters and the occasional fire that might sweep through the valley."

Morya comments, "Consider what we all have just said. There are many kinds of freedom and what it means to one form of life may not be the same for another form of life. Freedom is a quality of God, like love and wisdom, and it takes infinite shapes, depending upon who needs the freedom."

Mark asks, "Morya, you said that following the will of God was how you defined freedom. Could you explain that for us? How can following the will of God be freedom?"

Morya nods and drinks his tea. "Remember what Gautama told his disciples: 'Go Be.' He was telling them to not just memorize what he said, but to be their true selves. Becoming one's true self is to experience true freedom. Freedom is found in one's consciousness. Freedom is the unfolding of the inner self or inner quality, as you would call it, Martin. Freedom is closely connected with one's self-awareness. For me, loving and following the will of God is my inner quality, what I am in essence. Therefore, when I obey God and follow His will, I am free."

Mark thinks about this for a moment, and comments: "Freedom, then, is not merely something granted by the framers of constitutions or the leaders of government. Freedom is a condition of life and consciousness inherent in life itself. It cannot be created or destroyed by man. Freedom exists, like love or beauty exists. It is there to be experienced and enjoyed by all. A birthright, if you will."

Morya adds, "Freedom is very much associated with your inner quality. If you, Martin, have experienced your inner quality as honor and integrity, then it is through the expression of honor and integrity that you feel free."

Martin says, "Yes, I think that is right. To me, I feel truly free when I am able to express honor and integrity as I want to express it."

Mark adds, "And becoming one's inner quality – in other words, the process of becoming one's true self – is for each of us personal freedom."

Morya nods his agreement and then says, "These are all good insights. Now let me complete the circle with Martin. If God intends Martin to express honor and integrity as the character of his soul, does not his desire to express honor and integrity mean that Martin wants to do God's will? In other words, when we strive to become our true selves, we are fulfilling God's plan for our individual lives. This is why I can say that when I seek to do God's will, I am indeed free."

Martin, after pausing to think through the logic, replies: "Yes, I can see that. I want to be my true self, whose character is honor and integrity. God wants me to express that character, because honor and integrity are parts of Himself given to me. If I act with honor and integrity, then I am doing want God wants me to do. And if I do what God wants me to do, then I am doing God's will. At the level of the inner quality, therefore, my free will and God's will become one. To me, at that point in consciousness, freedom is to follow God's will."

Mark exclaims, "Exactly! That is why Morya loves God's will so much. God's will is good, and to do what God wills is to do what mankind in his highest consciousness wants to do for himself. The Buddha and all the great saints of the ages have in common an overwhelming desire for man to know himself and to be himself, because the true self of man is an expression of an aspect of

God. To become one's true self is to become a son or daughter of God, as our Lord Jesus taught us to become."

Martin says, "That is a beautiful concept. And I will tell you a secret. For years, since I discovered my inner quality, I have been saying this simple mantra: 'I am a son of God. I love God. The will of God is good. I serve the will of God with honor and integrity, purity and perfection.' It is simple, but it reminds me of what is important in life and helps me to focus on the best steps forward in whatever activity I am engaged in. And now, from this conversation, I can add a simple motto for myself: 'Take what God has given you and do something good with it'."

Morya laughs and claps his hands. "Excellent!"

The three men quietly drank their tea, staring at the fire and looking upward at the stars, now and then covered by clouds racing across the sky. After a while, they said goodnight and went to their tents.

Day Four: Beartooth Pass

Martin got up early the next morning and cooked scrambled eggs, bacon, French toast, and coffee. The friends sat by the fire in the morning chill and enjoyed their coffee as the day awoke around them. An hour passed with light conversation, and then everyone packed into Martin's truck for a trip up the Beartooth Highway.

As expected, it was cold and cloudy near the top, with patches of slowly melting ice. The drifting snow in places towered over 15 feet beside the road. Amazingly enough, when they got to the top of the pass, the sky was clear as crystal. They stopped and walked around for some time, taking pictures of the clouds blanketing the valleys far below. Martin collected some interesting

black crystals and put them into his Army map bag. They then drove down the other side of the pass to Red Lodge in order to restock their supplies. After that, they crossed over to Highway 72/120 to get onto the Chief Joseph Highway in Wyoming. Their campsite was near Willow Park across the border in Montana. It was a long way around, but they had plenty of time to enjoy the sights and stretch their legs. When they got back to the camp, it was nearing 5:30 pm and the men set about gathering firewood. Mark cooked fresh trout purchased in Red Lodge, flavored with lemons and olive oil. As they ate, Morya concluded that – by far – Mark's cooking was better than Martin's. A little joking here and there while the dishes were washed and put away, and the men settled down into their chairs for what Martin and Mark had been anticipating all day – Morya's discourse on ideal government.

The Commonwealth Ideal

Morya looked for a while at the flickering fire, and then asked, "Does anyone see any stars tonight?" Mark and Martin look up and shook their heads. Morya continues, "As you know, just because you can't see the stars, doesn't mean they don't exist. And if you can see them, that doesn't mean that you can easily reach them, or even understand them. An ideal government is something like the stars. Some people can conceive of what an ideal government looks like; others cannot. But no one can easily attain an ideal government, because humans are imperfect and the souls of mankind are still evolving. My vision of an ideal government is not something that can be achieved overnight, but I believe it has potential of being realized in the near future." He pauses, stretches his legs a bit, and then goes on. "As I envision it, an ideal government in the modern world has to look beyond its own borders. In fact, with all nations dependent upon one another for trade, communications, technology, food, a clean environment, etc. – it is necessary in today's world for national governments to cooperate with one another to the greatest extent

possible. Despite their continued outbreak, mostly in Third World countries, wars are increasingly recognized as being an outdated means to solve disagreements between nations. Dialogue and finding mutual benefit are becoming more of the norm. That being said, there are relatively few effective forums for resolving international issues on a global scale. My vision for an ideal government is a commonwealth of goodwill nations, with an international forum specifically established to hear disagreements between states and to suggest – not mandate – resolutions that would be fair to all and supportive of world peace."

He takes a few sips of tea and continues, as Martin adds a new log to the crackling fire.

"I use commonwealth in the sense of a community of nations bound together to serve the common good. I am not speaking of a one-world government to which each nation is subservient, but rather a free association of nation-states working together for the benefit of the global community. An international forum to operationalize or make practical the activities of the commonwealth is an important first step. More on this forum later.

"The underlying assumption of this ideal community of nations is that all men are brothers and that we all sink or swim together on this planetary home. Each nation in this commonwealth would retain its sovereignty and be able to pursue its own policies. However, each participating national government would pledge to cooperate with the others wherever necessary and possible. The types of issues addressed by this commonwealth would generally be global issues too great for a single nation or even a single bloc of nations to resolve or manage on their own. These issues might include, for example, pollution of the ocean, environmental issues such as climate change, global response to catastrophic events involving multiple regions of the world, developing and maintaining international space stations, harmful activities of rogue and dangerous states, and so on.

"The ideal on which this commonwealth would be based is universal goodwill. This goodwill is in turn based on the recognition that – whatever one's cultural differences – we are all God's children in this continuum of time and space and that what unites us is far greater and far more important than what divides us. This sense of universality also stems from the fact that we are also the children of Nature, having evolved on this planet as a species with exceptional capacity to help or harm our environment and each other.

"For lack of a better name, I am calling this ideal government a commonwealth of nations for goodwill. It is not a government in the sense that its institutions oversee the lives of the world's peoples. It is a formally established global organization, with institutions created as necessary, for the world's nations to work together cooperatively on the most pressing problems of the day. The commonwealth differs from the United Nations in that it would not be dominated by a few major countries, nor would it be fractured along the lines of various ideological and socialeconomic blocs. It would be comprised of nations sharing a sense of global goodwill.

"The most important organization of this commonwealth of goodwill nations would be an international forum, whose members would be selected by the nations themselves under the common criteria of having as their representatives the very best of their citizens who have a global outlook. The power of the forum would not be based on political factors. Rather, its power would be based on the universal recognition of the independence and quality and goodwill of the national representatives. The discussions and solutions generated by the representatives would be the very best that mankind can derive. The forum's suggestions to the global community would have credibility because of the integrity of the national representatives. Being sovereign states, national governments could accept or reject or modify recommendations presented by the commonwealth's forum. Rogue nations could elect to go their own way and even seek to harm

other countries, but those rogue nations would face the collective weight of world opinion and the possibility of sanctions from the other members of the commonwealth. This, then, in short, is what I envision as an ideal government toward which mankind today should strive."

Mark was the first to reply. "I agree with you that a commonwealth of goodwill is an excellent ideal toward which to strive. Mankind as a whole has great incentive to move in this direction because of the increased interdependencies of all nations – a trend that appears to be growing stronger year by year."

Martin, carefully weighing his thoughts, says, "I think the idea is quite good, but I am troubled by the challenge of finding individuals within each nation who are both trusted by their governments and sufficiently global-minded to serve as representatives in the commonwealth's forum. Nation-states, and most particularly leaders of nations and heads of governmental institutions, very often have an 'us or them' attitude. A large percentage of the leaders we have today would expect their representatives to the forum to have not only universal goodwill in mind but also a predisposition to be loyal to their sponsoring nation's interests. If this were the case, then the forum's representatives might frequently engage in bickering over sensitive issues, such as what we see in the United Nations. How are you going to get from the UN model of today to the place where the representatives of individual states are indeed global citizens of goodwill?"

Morya, brightens and says, "Yes, that is the question. Under what conditions could such an ideal government be possible?"

The three men remain silent for a few minutes reflecting upon Morya's question. Mark then speaks up, "I think that is a discussion that would take some time. May I suggest that for the

remainder of this fine evening, we enjoy the fire and light conversation and then tomorrow take up Morya's question in earnest? I myself need to formulate my answers."

Everyone thought this a good idea. Martin adds another log to the fire, refills the cups, and then relaxes in his chair, his eyes resting on the fire, but his mind turning over Morya's intriguing question. One by one, they drift off to their tents for the evening. Morya was the last to call it a night, sitting silently before the dying embers, his own mind considering the various options to make his ideal a reality.

Day Five: Yellowstone National Park

Conditions for an Ideal Government

The trip through Yellowstone Park the next morning was pleasant, and the men saw a large momma black bear with two cubs running up a small hill next to the road. The traffic was heavy at times. Old Faithful was faithful still, never ceasing to amaze its audience. The fact that the entire basin was a caldera in the process of bulging under magma pressure didn't seem to concern his friends, although Martin noted how the dead tree line was growing wider around some of the "hot spots" in the Park. Yellowstone is, geologically speaking, a very active area and the subject of intense government and academic investigation because of its classification as a super-volcano. Martin, in fact, had considered this as one possible catastrophic scenario in his disaster planning work with government. But on this sunny day, the beauty of the scenery and comfortable temperature contributed to high spirits among the three men, who preferred to set aside for the moment what might happen in the future. They returned to camp about 6 that evening and set about their respective chores. Morya surprised them by saying he would cook dinner that night, and Mark and Martin were pleasantly surprised when Morya laid out a camp feast of grilled salmon, baked potatoes, fresh corn, and hot buns. Martin and Mark stuffed

themselves and wondered aloud why Morya hadn't told them of this talent earlier. Martin did the dishes, while Mark busied himself with collecting a bit of firewood for the evening's campfire. About 8 or so, all was done, and the three men fell comfortably into their chairs with a cup of steaming Darjeeling tea.

After about five minutes, Martin asks, "Well, Morya, that was a great meal and one that most agreeably sets the stage for our next discussion. You were going to tell us the conditions under which your ideal commonwealth would be possible?"

Morya stretches and stifles a yawn, then says, "I am enjoying the fire after the exertion of keeping you two properly feed. Why don't you start the conversation?"

Rising to the challenge, Martin replies, "OK. I'll begin. We have noted before that no ideal government has ever existed because people themselves have never been ideal. Without ideal people, an ideal government is impossible. And yesterday I commented on the difficulty of finding objective, qualified, and sufficiently influential people to serve on the forum. I like the idea, but I think it is unlikely to be realized anytime soon."

Morya just stares at the fire as if he weren't listening, so Mark speaks up. "I personally think such a commonwealth is possible, because of two current conditions. First, there is a precedent for such a global body in the United Nations and in the many regional organizations found around the world. And second, there is growing recognition that many of the problems we face as a global community – climate change, polluted environment, economic interdependency, and so on – cannot be solved by individual countries acting on their own. These two factors make it probable that the vision Morya has shared with us will eventually become a reality...maybe in two generations, perhaps less."

Martin says, "I agree that your two existing conditions are correct and that they are conducive to such a commonwealth. However, you miss the most important point – the character of man himself. If you cannot change the character of man, then you will never be able to have an effective commonwealth of goodwill to address the global problems you speak of. For instance, nearly all people agree that crime is a problem. Yet, despite thousands of years of effort, we still have crime. The nature of man himself is the root cause of the problem."

Morya sighs and sips his tea, while Mark takes up the gauntlet. "But you forget that mankind adjusts pretty well to its environment. Mankind has progressed from identifying mostly with his tribe, to his city, to his region, to his nation. And now, increasing numbers of people identify themselves as global citizens. As you shift your sense of self-identify, you broaden your definition of what is in your interests. If this is true, then why can't the current trends of people seeing themselves as residents of a global community eventually alter their opinion of national interests and insist their leaders focus instead on issues of global importance? If a sufficient number of people identify themselves as global citizens, Morya's commonwealth will indeed become possible."

A twinkle forms in Morya's eye, but he remains silent behind his cup. Martin comments, "Again, what you say is true, but it took thousands of years before a portion – and not all – of humanity began to view national interests as being of greater importance than the interests of their local community. In many parts of the world, there is not even a sense of nation yet today. Are you suggesting that we wait for another one or two thousand years before a sufficient number of global citizens emerge to make a commonwealth possible?"

Morya settles more comfortably into his chair. Mark responds, "Your timetables have a flaw in that the movement of self-identity from smaller social units to larger social units has accelerated

tremendously in recent generations because of advances in technology and communications. We are talking about an evolution of maybe 10 or 20 years. That certainly would earn a place for Morya's commonwealth of goodwill among some of the more practical visions of an ideal future government."

Martin says, "You usually speak in terms of helping people find their true self, but today you have not mentioned this at all, rather pointing to technology and interdependencies as drivers toward this ideal commonwealth. But to me, interestingly enough, it is precisely the question of how to change the character of man that makes or breaks the practicality of achieving the commonwealth."

Martin turns to Morya and asks half-jokingly, "Morya, have you rested enough to be engaged with this conversation?"

Morya looks at Martin and says with a smile, "Yes, I was just letting you two do the preliminaries." Mark and Martin shake their heads, acknowledging that this indeed was what Morya had been doing. "So please, Morya," says Mark, "tell us more about your concept of an ideal form of government."

Morya begins, "Actually, both of you are right in your identification of the conditions necessary for a commonwealth of goodwill. The interdependencies of the world are altering people's perceptions of their social units. The most essential condition, however, is proper consciousness. Where man's consciousness is, his political institutions will follow. If men elevate their consciousness, then the institutions of politics will become more refined. If men raise their consciousness to the level of universal goodwill, then the commonwealth of which I spoke will become a reality."

Mark nods in agreement and adds, "The key, then, is raising men's consciousness to the level of goodwill for all. But it seems that success is measured one person at a time rather than one nation at a time. The process of refining the consciousness of all of mankind will take a long, long time."

Morya continues, "It does take some time, but there is no barrier to the expansion of consciousness. The challenges are, first, educating individuals to know of their capability to control their consciousness; second, to train them in how to gain that control; third, to show them the benefits of expanding their self-awareness; and fourth, to give them an opportunity to expand their consciousness in tackling real world problems such as climate change. This is not rocket science. It is logical and doable."

Mark says, "Actually, the technology, the education, the awareness of interdependency, the recognition of the global challenges we face as a species – all are convincing more and more people to expand their consciousness and sense of self-awareness to include larger and larger social groupings. There are probably millions of people who today consider themselves to be citizens of the earth, not simply citizens of their nation or local community. The seeds of an expanded consciousness are there; the growth environment is favorable; an ideal government of the sort mentioned by Morya is possible – and within a shorter time frame than thousands of years."

Martin finally concedes the point. "I confess, Mark, your argument is sound. I agree that personal consciousness is the key to a commonwealth of goodwill, and I agree that more and more people are reaching a level of understanding necessary for global connectivity to work. What other conditions, Morya, do you see as necessary for the ideal of a commonwealth to become a reality?"

Morya replies, "Let's talk more about this tomorrow. I want to take a short walk before retiring and enjoy the stars." About a half-hour later, Morya returns, says goodnight, and retires to his tent. Shortly thereafter, Mark and Martin do the same, each looking forward to a good night's sleep before moving their things to the Rock Creek Resort just south of Red Lodge, Montana, for the remainder of their vacation.

Day Six: Move to Rock Creek Resort and Visit to Cooke City

Prior to leaving for the vacation, Martin had booked a condo at the Rock Creek Resort to give everyone a respite from a week of camping. After checking in and getting their refrigerator stocked up with groceries from nearby Red Lodge, Martin suggested they drive down to Cooke City and explore the old mine tailings off the Lulu Pass Trail. Not having anything better to do, they all piled into Martin's pickup and took off, bringing lots of water and snacks.

They found the Lulu trail passable in most places, with a few drifts of snow covering the dirt road at higher elevations. Martin got out at every opportunity to hammer away at rocks and shift through the tailings – looking for gold, he said. The others just stood around the truck for the most part, sometimes taking a stroll to look at abandoned buildings or to gain a more perfect photograph of the surrounding mountains. After a few hours, they drove into Cooke City for an early dinner and then returned to the Resort just as the sun disappeared behind the mountains.

There was a chill in the air when they arrived, so Martin quickly got a fire going in the fireplace, set a pot of water to boil on the stove, and placed some cookies and fruit on the table. With a cup of hot tea in their hands and a warm fire at their feet, the men comfortably settled into their chairs and listened to the sounds of the creek flowing rapidly over boulders just below their

porch. In the distance, there were flashes of lightning around the summits of some of the mountains, and an occasional drop of light rain from nearby thunderstorms fell on the porch.

Momentums in Human Behavior

All were quiet for some time, and then Morya spoke up. "Martin, you are surprisingly silent for one so anxious to continue the conversation of last night. May I ask, what is on your mind to make you so thoughtful?"

"Well," Martin says, "I have been thinking about a dream I had last night that might bear upon our discussion of the conditions that must exist before an ideal commonwealth can be formed. I know the dream reveals more about me than about any other thing, but still it vividly displays a condition that will be difficult to overcome – at least for most people. I'm not a good interpreter of dreams, so maybe you guys can help out." Martin starts to recount his dream, as the others listen attentively.

"I was with a beautiful woman whom I loved and who loved me. There came into the dream a flying orca, a killer whale, absolutely magnificent in its strength and power. The woman loved the orca, and I liked – even loved – it very much, too, having great respect for its size and presence. Yet, even as I admired the orca, I knew in my heart that I would have to slay the orca because, if I did not, it would take the beautiful woman and probably destroy me. But I was torn in this, because I liked the orca even though it posed a potential threat to me and my loved one. The orca was friendly toward both of us. We all seemed to love each other. But the orca seemed an intrusion into our lives, and I sensed that eventually it would do us harm. The dream ended before I could decide what to do, even though I already knew what I ought to do."

Mark says, "Now, that is an interesting dream. Obviously the woman is your soul, you are you, and the orca is what is called the 'dweller on the threshold' in the mystical teachings. Because

the killer whale can fly, its power comes from the mind. You need to gain control of your mind so that its power can be used for the good inherent in your inner quality. This will free you and your soul to complete the mission God has given you."

Martin responds, "I am not sure I understand what you mean by the dweller on the threshold."

Mark gestures toward Morya, who answers: "The dweller on the threshold is that part of an individual's consciousness that stands in the way of one becoming his or her true self. It can be thought of as the accumulated momentum of one's life – past and present – which detours or presents an obstacle to the individual from becoming integrated spiritually and materially. All of the lust, all of the selfish ambitions and activities causing harm to others, all of the negative thoughts and feelings and memories that one holds on to and refuses to let go of – all of these comprise the dweller. The dweller exists in our consciousness, because – as illustrated in your dream – we somehow like and admire these parts of ourselves. Almost all of mankind hold on to a set of negative characteristics, which – in a moment of anger, thoughtlessness, laziness, revenge, or whatever – come to the surface of consciousness and is accepted by the person as something he wants to do or become.

"This accumulation of negative momentums is called in the esoteric teachings the dweller on the threshold. It really is the sum total of an individual's bad side – which the person himself has accepted and identified with at various times. It must be slain – metaphorically speaking – before the individual can become his true self. By 'slaying the dweller' I mean letting go, giving up, and transmuting all of that negativity in one's consciousness. By 'transmuting' I mean changing the moral polarity of the energy comprising the negativity into positive or beneficial polarity. This is symbolized in the ancient teachings as changing base metal into gold. It means taking a tendency towards anger and changing that tendency into calmness and peace. Being willing and able to go

through this process, for all kinds of harmful tendencies, is necessary for man to return in grace before God."

Martin asks, "That truly is an esoteric explanation. Do you mean to say that, even though a person has experience with his or her inner quality, that they can never become their true self unless they somehow 'slay' the dweller?"

Mark says, "Yes," and Morya nods.

Martin asks a further question: "You use the term 'slay' the dweller, but is it possible to 'control' or 'tame' the dweller? The reason I ask that is because, as a human being, I feel I need to have the power and emotions embodied in that orca in order to survive and prosper in this world. If people cannot defend themselves with all available means, then the best of humanity will become prey to those who would exploit them. Surely, that cannot be the will of God."

Morya replies, "Slaying the dweller is a generic term applying to individuals, societies, culture, and even planetary systems. What your dream indicated is a concern with slaying your dweller at the individual level. This means eliminating from your consciousness the ill effects of misbehaving while in embodiment as a human being. By misbehaving I mean the misuse of God's energy for negative purposes rather than positive purposes. God does not want His children to be victimized by evil doers. God wants His children to use their minds, emotions, physical body, and spirituality to properly address the challenges of life. Imagine God's energy as a waterfall continuously passing through your consciousness. You – the person in embodiment – can take this energy and use it as you will. For instance, you can use the energy in an expression of love or as an expression of hate. The purpose of slaying the dweller is to take the

accumulation of hate energy residing in your consciousness and refining it into a positive energy such as the desire to help others. Does that clarify this a bit?"

Martin nods and then says, "Yes, that helps in understanding my dream. However, the existence of the dweller is what concerns me about the possibility of establishing an ideal government such as a commonwealth of goodwill. If people themselves have to be perfect in order for an ideal government to become a reality, then how on earth can all seven billion of us overcome our accumulated negative momentums? It is difficult even for good-minded people to perfect themselves. And, from what I have read, the few saints among us have struggled mightily to become a saint. For the most part, this world is not comprised of saints, but of sinners, some of whom are truly evil.

"What bothers me the most, and what was reflected in my dream, is that someone like myself – who is not perfect but who believes in God and tries to improve a bit every day – still embraces certain negative aspects of my character. For example, I still get resentful when I think of some sign of disrespect from past employers. Deep inside of me, I do not seem to want to slay the orca, but instead want to embrace it and invite it into my world with my true love so we can all enjoy life together. This, I believe, is the deeply held attitude of most of mankind. We want to be good, we want to express our inner qualities, we want to become our true selves, but deep within our consciousness we cling to and even admire some of the negative things we have done and some of the negative characteristics we have become. How is it possible, then, for a commonwealth of goodwill to be formed on this earth, if the citizens of earth are not and possibly cannot be perfected?"

Mark shakes his head at this profound expression of doubt, but Morya calmly says, "Yes, you are right. The problem is within man himself. But I ask you, Martin, if the problem is within you, is the solution there as well?"

Martin thinks for a moment, then says quietly, "I don't want to be perfect. And I don't want to be a saint. At least not yet." He gets up, puts his cup in the kitchen sink, and goes to his bedroom. Mark and Morya sit silently for a while by the fire and then retire to their own rooms, allowing the fire to gradually die out on its own.

Day Seven: Grand Tetons

Is Perfection Possible for Mankind?

The next day everyone got up fairly early, had a quick bowl of cereal and fruit for breakfast and, at Mark's suggestion, took off in his SUV for a trip to see the Grand Tetons south of Yellowstone. It was a several hours trip, so the men chatted about the weather, their old campsite, future vacations, and other light subjects. When the Tetons finally loomed before them in all their glory, Morya said, "You know, in the universe there is no such thing as perfection. Certainly, nothing that exists in time and space is perfect. Everything is constantly evolving, moving from one state of existence to another. Perfection in this world, therefore, is not an end-state, but rather a constantly retreating goal never to be obtained. The question, Martin, is not whether you want to be perfect – for that is an impossibility – but whether you want to try to become your true self by continuously improving your character?"

Martin sat silently for a moment and then replies, "Let's talk about this later this evening, because I can see it may lead to some interesting conclusions." The others nod, and the rest of the day was spent in sightseeing and easy conversation. That evening, after dinner and settling down with their habitual cups of tea, Martin reintroduces the discussion begun by Morya earlier in the day.

"To take up Morya's point from this morning, let us assume that perfection is not possible on this planet. If the ideal is equated with perfection, then the realization of ideals is impossible as well. That means that a perfect or an ideal society or government is not possible. Nor is it possible to have a perfect or an ideal person. Our daily observations prove that this is the case. We may have in our mind some ideal, but we will never see such a thing as an ideal tree, an ideal flower, an ideal car, an ideal building, an ideal institution, or an ideal anything."

He pauses for a moment to consider his next words. "But why do we as human beings constantly use the terms ideal and perfection, if they are non-existent? What concepts are we actually describing? If, as it seems true, everything in the universe is changing and evolving, never reaching an end-state of perfection, then what does that say of spiritual things? What does that say of God? Is God perfect, as we all believe, or is He evolving? If God is not perfect, then how can He be God? If God exists as perfection, then how can He be constantly changing?"

Morya chuckles and Mark speaks up, "Martin, your logic is strong, but it is blinding you to an obvious truth. Why can't God both improve Himself and still be perfect? Consider His universe of souls. His seeds of consciousness are scattered across cosmos – including the seed that we as individuals have as our inner quality. These seeds of consciousness are intended to mature, ripen, and bear good fruit. If you, Martin, increase your honor and integrity and express it in the world through your own creation and through your own correct use of energy, isn't God Himself evolving because of that fruition of His own consciousness? You are His seed and the perfection that is God can increase as you gradually improve yourself."

Martin smiles at this, and says, "Well, I suppose it is possible that God evolves as His consciousness and qualities expand throughout His creation. But why then do we say that God is perfect if He is constantly changing?"

Morya exclaims, "Enough! Who among us knows what God is, what God thinks, or what God may look like from the perspective of creatures on the other side of the Milky Way? We are discussing whether an ideal government is possible for man. We know that a perfect government is not possible – if we define perfection as meaning no further improvement can be made. But we are approaching paralysis by analysis, as the saying goes. Our terms seem to be getting in the way of our reasoning. Ideals are not necessarily perfection. Ideals are goals that we routinely can change as we gain in understanding; perfection is an end-state of which we have no knowledge or experience. In government – as in all affairs of men – there is no perfection.

"There is, however, good government and bad government. There are political goals that are worthy enough to pursue. And it is this – worthy goals to pursue – that we refer to when we discuss ideal government. An ideal government is a vision of an improved government that is much better than the government we have today. If we reach that goal, our understanding of what government can and should be will evolve, and we will set new goals so that further improvement can be made. Life evolves, society evolves, and individuals evolve. The planet itself is evolving beneath our feet – as Yellowstone so beautifully demonstrates. So let's set aside all talk of the absoluteness of God (of which we know absolutely nothing), and human perfection (which we know is impossible), and instead concentrate on how government in this day and age might be improved."

Martin enthusiastically takes up the theme. "If improvement is the goal, not perfection, then we are indeed in the realm of what is possible. Everyone on this planet would agree that

improvement is feasible in their lives and in their social and political institutions. Improvement may be slow, but it is possible. In terms of government, and more precisely the conditions required for the realization of a global commonwealth of goodwill, the major kinds of necessary improvements would include ... Let's see." He begins to count on his fingers and then lists those that come to mind:

- "Mankind must expand his sense of self-identity to include others.
- "Men and women must broaden their understanding of self-interest to include the interconnections and interdependencies that link us all together.
- "Leaders of nations must seek to serve their people rather than themselves.
- "Bureaucrats in government must be rewarded for meaningful service to their stakeholders and forgo the common 'we know best, trust us' attitude.
- "Institutions must be created at the international level that allow for the free, creative, and equal discussion of what is the common good.
- "Some kind of international mechanism must be created that allows all governments great and small to seek fair redress for their grievances with other nations."

Martin pauses and continues, "These are just a few points that I can immediately think of. Yet, even these relatively simple improvements would help create an environment more conducive to the evolution of a commonwealth along the lines Morya is suggesting. At the same time, we are discussing here a change in the character of both man and his governing institutions. These changes will not occur overnight."

Mark comments, "That is a good list, but what is interesting to me is that you did not mention God or religion. Did you deliberately avoid spiritual factors as being necessary for the development of an ideal commonwealth, or perhaps it was an oversight? This might be a serious omission, because human beings are both material and spiritual in nature. And, certainly, when we talk about government being reflective of the best character of mankind, we ought to consider both the material and spiritual sides of man."

Martin responds, "I did not deliberately avoid mentioning spiritual matters, but I am not sure that government should be based on religion. Government is a practical institution created by men to address and help solve real-life problems. If man can improve himself through his own means, including reason, why can't we create an improved system of government without involving God?"

This sparks a quick response from Mark. "Wait a minute, Martin. Aren't you the one who argues that men and women have an inner quality that is spiritual in nature and that, as individuals express that inner quality, then they and their society will improve? And isn't it true that you also believe that if individuals improve, their governing institutions will improve also?"

Martin says, "Yes, I believe that. But I also believe that individuals can improve themselves with or without God. If the inner quality exists in the consciousness of man as a potential, then becoming one's true self is simply the natural unfoldment of the evolution of mankind. If this is true, creating a commonwealth of goodwill may be possible without divine intervention."

Morya comments, "I think the difference being discussed here is the extent to which God and spirituality are explicitly linked with our ideal government. Don't forget that many nations, including the United States, mention God in their governance documents. And many countries, such as those in the Islamic tradition, believe that religion and government are deeply intertwined and cannot and should not be separated. Countries which are so-called atheistic, such as China, often have major portions of their society which are deeply religious. So what we most

commonly have are political institutions which may or may not be associated with religion, but which almost universally govern people which do have an innate sense of spirituality."

Mark says, "Yes, but I still am curious. Tell me, Martin, why didn't you list a stronger belief in God as being essential for an ideal government?"

Martin explains, "I do believe in God, very firmly. And I do believe that my inner quality is a gift of God and a window to Himself that I can use to expand my consciousness and gain a greater understanding some of His mysteries. But that is my personal belief. I think that every person should have the right to believe or not to believe in God. But since none of us have a complete understanding of God, how can we mandate that belief in God is a precondition for ideal government?

"The key belief for an ideal government is not belief in God, but rather a belief in the magnificence of life and a deep respect for that life. An individual could be a good citizen under an ideal government and still not believe in God. If this is true, then maybe belief in God is not as important in creating an ideal government as a sense of goodwill. And that sense of goodwill does not necessary flow from belief in God. A sense of goodwill can exist in anyone who loves life and nature."

Morya ponders this and adds, "Very eloquently said, but let us not forget that many of the most important advancements of mankind have been done in the name of God, however God might be defined. It is belief in God that reminds men of their inborn nobility. If there is no belief in God, then it is hard to imagine that man, on his own, with all his selfishness and imperfections, would be able to create the fair and just institutions necessary for a commonwealth of goodwill."

Mark agrees, "Yes, that is true. Without God, man is nothing. Without God, an ideal government is impossible."

Martin disagrees somewhat. "Well, I am not sure man is nothing if he doesn't believe in God. Animals may not conceptualize God as humans do, but that does not mean that animals have no value. I think that all of life has value." He pauses and then continues, "But please don't misunderstand me. I believe in God. What God is, I am not sure, but I can perceive the majesty of God through the infinite potential of honor and integrity within myself. These are qualities which I believe are aspects of God's own consciousness. However, an ideal government must be based on human needs and human characteristics, not solely on a belief in God."

Mark asks, "Are you saying that man himself is the key to building an ideal government? Not God."

Martin thinks for a moment and then answers, "Yes. I think that is true – at least to some extent. Let me explain. This planet is our responsibility. The forms of government that we create and live under are our creation. We ourselves must build an ideal government if it is to become a reality on earth. We should not expect that God will establish an ideal government for us. That is not to say, however, that we cannot be inspired and even spiritually fortified by God. But the building of an ideal government is our choice and our responsibility, not God's."

Morya considers this and comments, "You are right in saying that the creation of an ideal government is mankind's responsibility, not God's. The key question, however, is whether man is capable of building an ideal government without God."

Martin and Mark are both silent on this point, so Morya continues, "I think that God – whether as a belief held by men or as a spiritual force behind the scenes – is intricately involved in the

affairs of man, including the evolution of his political systems. To dismiss God from this role is a dangerous proposition because most people do not yet identify with their inner qualities. If men were more aware of their true self and were seeking diligently to reflect their good qualities, then we might be able to say that man himself can create an ideal government. But how many people are today aware enough of their inner quality to build an ideal government? If there were a sufficient number, then wouldn't an ideal government already exist? In truth, there is a great gap between the type of citizen necessary to create and support a commonwealth of goodwill and the type of citizen existing today. I think that this gap can best be bridged by an alliance of faith between God and man, whereby God and His saints encourage men to become more aware of their true self. At a certain point, the awareness of the true self in the mass consciousness should enable man to build a vastly improved domestic and international political system. If that is true, then God or a belief in God is a necessary and enabling condition for the establishment of an ideal government."

Mark nods and Martin raises his hands in acknowledgment of the logic of Morya's observations. Then Martin says, "I think you are right, Morya, in at least one sense. Whether the inner quality is born of nature or of God does not make too much difference, especially if one considers that nature itself is from God, the Creator of all things. I guess it is a matter of what you believe, and also a matter of practicality. If men themselves believe that they can create an ideal government, then perhaps they can. If men believe they need guidance and support from God to create an ideal government, then that would work as well. The main point is that the establishment of an ideal form of government will require the best of mankind's character. And, in a practical sense, the bringing forth of that best character can best be accomplished by mankind working with God

in a partnership to improve both the character of man himself as well as the character of his political, social, cultural, and other institutions."

The men are quiet for a time, sipping their tea and watching the fire as it gradually dies down. Martin eventually stands up and observes, "That was a good discussion." Reaching into one of the kitchen cabinets, he adds, "Now how about some cookies before we go to bed?" The others laugh, and reach into the extended box of cookies for a final snack of the evening.

Day Eight: Theodore Roosevelt National Park

The Key Role of Education

Following a leisurely breakfast the next morning, the three friends decided to drive over to the Theodore Roosevelt National Park, a few hours northeast of Billings off Interstate 94. They took Mark's SUV and settled down for a relaxing and scenic drive through eastern Montana and the western portion of North Dakota.

As everyone sipped their coffee and Mark drove on, Martin asks, "Morya, we seemed to agree yesterday that one of the most important contributing factors to the establishment of a commonwealth of goodwill is the realization by a significant number of people – on a world scale – that they have an inner quality of goodness that is in harmony with the will of God, the higher evolution of humankind, or some combination thereof. Is that your understanding?"

Morya nods, and Martin continues, "Well, if that is the case, then we have to ask ourselves how are these large numbers of people to acquire this understanding, given the great variety of cultures around the world and the deep divisions between religions. How is this process of greater understanding to take place in a practical way?"

Morya ponders this as Mark listens while driving through the open countryside. Morya says, "You are asking a key question, since a commonwealth of goodwill can never occur unless people and their leaders have goodwill, and a common sense of goodwill is difficult to come by if individuals are antagonistically divided by their faith and beliefs, including politics."

Mark observes, "We need to look at this question from the point of view of the commonality of goodness in men's hearts. If we focus too much on what divides us, we will divert our attention from what we are trying to accomplish. Above all, I think we should remember the old advice that we should not let perfection become the enemy of the good." Everyone agrees with that observation.

Morya then continues, "Humanity did not spring suddenly out of the earth to be the men and women we are today. There is a long, long history behind each of us, written into our DNA and recorded in our soul's progression from its infancy. For much of that history, each of us has had to contend with two great forces of life: survival and transcendence. We have had to survive in order to live, and that has required a certain set of mental, emotional, physical, and spiritual toughness that evolved naturally to meet that need. We have also been internally compelled to try to transcend our current limitations – to become stronger in order to live a better life. This need to transcend has required its own set of attributes: mental, emotional, physical, and spiritual. These attributes have also evolved over time."

Morya pauses to take a drink of water and then points to a small herd of pronghorns a few hundred yards away in a pasture. As the SUV speeds on (Mark taking full advantage of Montana's generous speed limits on the Interstates), Morya further develops his ideas on how education can contribute to the establishment of a commonwealth of goodwill.

"Let us consider the nature of education. Education is both the transference of knowledge and the absorption of knowledge. If there is nothing to be taught, education is at a standstill. If the students are not receptive, then nothing will be learned. Therefore, the substance of the information, the training and skill of the teacher, and the participation and hard work of the student are all essential to education.

"In terms of the commonwealth of goodwill, the substance of the information to be taught and learned includes such things as the mutual benefits that can come to nations if they cooperate on global issues. In terms of teaching techniques and student participation, the key is opening the student's mind to the possibilities that become realizable through education, understanding, and wisdom. Students must want to learn because they believe knowledge is good for them. Human beings mostly function on the basis of self-interest, and that is natural – part of the survival instinct we discussed earlier. But what is 'self-interest'? Doesn't that depend on how you define the 'self'?"

Mark comments, "That is a good point, Morya, and it gets to the fundamental question we have wrestled with in all of our discussions: how can individuals come to understand their own divine potential, when they don't always know such a potential even exists?"

Morya responds, "I tend to agree with Martin here when he implies that self-understanding does not necessarily have to be defined in terms of spirituality. Individuals have enormous mental, physical, and emotional capabilities which almost no one on this planet has yet realized. Even someone who does not believe in God can see the advantages of worldwide cooperation on meeting the challenges of global warming. The sense of 'we are all in this together' does not have to be based on spiritual belief. It can be based solely on mankind recognizing the need for global planning to survive a looming crisis. This is part of our survival instinct."

Mark quickly adds, "Yes, this is true. People can cooperate without doing so for spiritual reasons. However, a more permanent and meaningful cooperation between people, one based on love and mutual respect, almost certainly has to be based on spiritual understanding. That is why, throughout history, all lasting bonds – for example, the ceremonies celebrating marriage and the assuming of important positions of leadership in society – have all been sanctified by spiritual symbols."

Morya nods and says, "Yes, there is some truth in that. But as I was going to say, in addition to the survival instinct mankind have an inborn need for transcendence. Individuals lacking belief in God or in things spiritual can cooperate for selfish reasons and have done so for thousands of years as a matter of survival. So, one way for a commonwealth of goodwill to be created is for mankind as a whole to come face-to-face with a terrible threat to all of humanity, such as an impending explosion of a super volcano or predicted asteroid impact. Cooperation on a global scale between the world's governments would almost certainly occur under these circumstances. But, as you say, a more permanent level of cooperation based on a mutual sense of goodwill – reflecting the instincts of transcendence – is likely needed over the long-term for our commonwealth to succeed."

Mark adds, as he checks his mirrors before zooming past a slow minivan, "Yes. God always prefers the gentler way. This is why we should emphasize the transcendence aspect of mankind's character rather than his survival instincts."

Martin interjects, "But when has man ever chosen the gentler way? Without pressure and crisis, men does not move very far from their comfort zones." Mark responds, "Who was it that said, maybe the historian Toynbee, that civilization if it is to transcend itself must face serious challenge, but not so serious as to consume all the energy of its people? If I recall, he also described a creative minority that must exist if new solutions are to be found to propel the civilization forward. I think he had great insight there."

Morya adds, "Yes, the creative minority does play a key role in the advance of civilization. The creative minority grasps a new idea and, if they are gifted in communications, convey that insight to the rest of us in terms we can understand and apply in our personal lives. In terms of education, having a teacher who is a member of this creative minority can be a great blessing to a student. However, the other side of the coin in education is the absorption of knowledge. No matter how insightful the teacher, no matter how well he or she communicates, if the student is not receptive one might as well be talking to a brick wall."

He pauses, then continues, "For the commonwealth of goodwill to come into existence, I believe that both the pressing survival needs of humanity must be present as well as the transcendent ideas. I think that both of these aspects are present today. We need to do something about global issues impacting our entire ecosystem and way of life. We also have available deep insights into the interdependencies of life and the environment and also currents within mankind's sense of spirituality that point him in the direction of greater cooperation with one's fellowman. These are powerful forces which, I am convinced, are likely to push and pull humanity in the direction of the commonwealth we have described."

Soon thereafter, Mark exited to Medora, North Dakota, one of the entrances to the southern portion of Theodore Roosevelt National Park. For the next few hours, the men enjoyed the unique landscape and the numerous bison, wild horses, and prairie dogs throughout the Park. Around mid-afternoon, they drove back through the entrance and stopped to buy milkshakes in Medora's small homemade ice cream shop. Everyone was mostly quiet on the way back. Martin, taking his turn at the wheel, drove to Billings, where the men stopped for dinner at Cracker Barrel before heading south to their condo. Everyone was tired at that point, so they said goodnight, washed up a bit, and retired without even starting a fire.

Day Nine: Morning in the Resort

The next morning was foggy with a light drizzle, a little on the chilly side, so the three friends decided to stay in their condo until later in the day. Mark fixed a full breakfast of eggs, pancakes, toast, and coffee, while Martin got a fire going in the fireplace. Morya and Martin complimented Mark on the breakfast. Later, they all retired to the living room to warm their hands by the fire.

Society and the True Self

The men were quiet for a time, then Mark says, "I have heard of past civilizations in which the leader was nearly perfect, but the people did not follow him, so the society eventually collapsed. I have also heard of past civilizations in which the leader was corrupt and society, even though comprised of outstanding individuals, collapsed as well. The lesson here seems to be that, for an ideal society and government to survive, both the leaders and the citizens must be striving to achieve their highest potential."

Martin replies, "I can accept that premise. We are talking about the evolution of society and government to a place where a commonwealth of goodwill is possible. Under these conditions, where should one's efforts be directed: towards improving social and political institutions, or towards improving individual character and behavior?"

Morya responds, "That is a good point. I would have to say that the emphasis needs to be on the individual. Institutions, no matter how well organized or how noble their mission statements, can

be corrupted by misguided leaders or bureaucrats. Individuals, on the other hand, once on a path of self-improvement generally stay on that path and make steady progress toward strengthening their character. Over time, the building of individual character can make a tremendous difference in the quality of leaders and people, thence their behavior, and thence the performance of the social and political institutions they lead or participate in."

Mark asks, "Assuming that approach is true, how is character-building to take place, when so few people are pursuing the sacred teachings that point a person to his true self?"

Morya smiles and says, "In the past, the sacred teachings were only conveyed in private because of fear of retribution from established churches and mainstream thinking. Remember that for many centuries, even scientific facts such as the world being round were dangerous to discuss openly." He paused to take a sip of his coffee. "Nowadays, at least in most societies, people look less toward their church for guidance and depend more on their observations and experience for insight into their deepest characteristics. Some people decry this as a falling away from religion. I see it as movement toward greater spirituality on the part of people everywhere."

Martin comments, "Unfortunately, the propaganda of the church has been replaced by the propaganda of the state. Both institutions have sought to control the individual to serve their own ends. I hope that, as people become more aware of their true selves, the influence of the state will be reduced – at least when the state is intrusive and manipulative beyond a tolerable level."

His friends agree, and Martin continues: "Focusing for the moment on spirituality, I have long felt that spirituality is something that most people accept as part of their lives. Fewer people today – as a percentage of the population – identify themselves as members of a church, but more and more people seem to be seeking out the spiritual side of themselves. They sense an internal spirituality, they ponder its origin, and they think about how this sense of spirituality fits into their daily lives. There is, I believe, a gradual awakening of people to their own inner potential – which, when you think about it – almost always leads to a consideration of one's sense of selfhood. Churches can help us understand our spirituality, but our spirituality and our sense of selfhood are not dependent upon a church."

Morya adds, "Yes, I agree that there is an observable evolution in the consciousness of mankind, as people move beyond doctrine and dogma to self-discovery and freedom of opinion. This process is long and convoluted. Still, this evolution is a key factor in our discussion. Let me ask you both, do you think that this evolution of more and more people seeking to discover their own spirituality makes it more or less likely that a commonwealth of goodwill might exist in the future?"

Mark carefully replies, "I think it makes it more probable. For at least two reasons: first, what we are talking about is an awakening of people to their own higher potential; second, a better understanding of self is likely to lead to more demands for global solutions to global problems. This will have an impact on government, as leaders feel they must respond to these calls for action in order to guarantee their continuation in power. So, in short, yes, the more people are seeking to define their own spirituality, the higher the probability of your vision of a global commonwealth of goodwill one day becoming a reality."

Martin observes, "What we are talking about here is the positive impact on society that individuals can have when they become more of their true selves. This reiterates the importance of individuals becoming aware of their inner qualities and their own potential. The natural result of this is an effort to improve one's life and social institutions, including forms of government."

Morya and Mark nod their agreement. Martin gets up and notes that the sky is clearing, so maybe they should go for a hike. A short time later, the three men start walking on one of the many trails that lead from the lodge into the nearby mountains.

A couple of hours up the trail brought the men to an overlook with a breathtaking view of mountains, valleys, and deep gorges where rivers had carved their way through ancient layers of volcanic ash. Mark says, "This is so beautiful. Even though we see all around us evidence of the power of change and the impermanence of human existence, we are in awe of the majesty of nature and feel we are being propelled along with everything else forward in time. We have no choice but to move along with the flow of nature, the flow of the will of the God."

Morya leans against a tree, then says, "Yet, humanity is in a unique position of having enough intelligence to see the infinite potential for improvement in their lives. They have sufficient motivation and skill to seek to make that improvement in practical ways. People are genetically engineered to fight or flee in the face of danger, as well as to respond creatively to favorable opportunities. Living on this planet requires humans to be exceptionally flexible and remarkably well-rounded. You can see the validity of the biblical statement that men are made a little lower than the angels but crowned with greater glory."

Martin comments, "If people can acquire skills in surviving, then people should also be able to acquire skills to become their true self. The problem I see is that too many people do not have a proper sense of self-identity. The need to concentrate on meeting the basic necessities of life blocks out our motivation to explore the more noble side to ourselves."

Mark observes, "I have found in many years of counseling that almost everyone recognizes that they have a better side to themselves. And almost everyone wants to express that better side. To

become a better person seems a near universal desire, at least in my experience. I have never once encountered a person with a black hole of evil in their consciousness."

Morya says, "There are indeed such individuals. The reasons they are this way are varied, but that is a subject for future discussion. Even if such people exist, the commonwealth of goodwill can occur if the vast majority of citizens want it to happen. It is the majority of people, plus exceptionally far-sighted leaders, that we are interested in, not the small minority of evil-doers who unfortunately exist in all societies."

Standing up, Martin urges his companions to walk some more before the clouds obscure the sun once again. As they walked, they suddenly spotted a black bear foraging on a slope a few hundred yards ahead with two cubs chasing each other around a fallen tree. Martin says, "I don't think it would be a good idea to get much closer. Let's turn back and give them space. We have had a good walk and I am getting hungry. How about some hamburgers for a late lunch?" They turned and walked back to the condo, enjoying the views – and an easier path – on the way down.

At the lodge, Martin got a fire going in the deck grill, while Morya and Mark prepared the patties and cut up the onions and tomatoes for the burgers. When they were finished eating, Morya walked back to his room to stretch out for a bit in the coolness of the mountain air, and Mark and Martin relaxed on the deck. For dinner, the three friends had some cereal with fruit. Afterwards, they sat around the fire drinking tea and amicably chatting about the weather and the next day's plans for venturing into some of Yellowstone's back country. At some point, Mark asks, "I have a question, Martin. From your perspective of working closely with the federal government, do you think it is possible to reform political institutions from within?"

Martin responds, "I have almost never seen rapid reform from the bottom-up in a governmental organization; I have often seen gradual change, usually requiring ten years or so. I have seen rapid change occur once in a while, when reform was initiated from top government leadership, such as in a time of presidential transition."

Mark says, "So, reform of government is most likely to be initiated at the top level. It is not likely that bureaucracy would be able to make major changes in the way government works?" Martin answers, "Generally speaking, I would say this is true."

Mark continues, "If that is the case, then a movement with government to participate in a global commonwealth of goodwill would almost certainly have to come from the head of government. Is that correct?" Martin nods, wondering where this line of reasoning is heading. Mark then asks, "Well, then, what is the likelihood of a head of government to have the political vision to see the value in a global commonwealth of goodwill?"

Martin is about to respond, but Morya replies first. "There actually is a very high probability that some heads of government would have this vision. National leaders are often extraordinary people and they certainly are not ignorant or ill-informed. Moreover, they generally are sensitive to the needs of their people. If the public desires global solutions to some problem and/or if the leader believes strongly enough in the idea, then the head of government would very likely support the creation of an international forum to address global issues such as those we discussed."

Martin adds, "I would agree. There have been many instances in which national leaders have argued for greater global cooperation. Often, these leaders have been successful in bringing other

leaders on board with their ideas. Even in these best case examples, however, there is frequent disagreement on how best to implement the idea of increased international cooperation."

Mark comments, "I am thinking here of the climate change issue and the war on terrorism. The broad level of agreement that something must be done is not easily translated into plans that can be put into effect. It would seem, therefore, if Morya's idea of a commonwealth of goodwill is to be realized, then a rare concurrence of leadership, public support, and agreement on plans must take place. Morya, would you agree with this?"

Morya thinks for a moment and then responds, "I think what you said is valid, Mark. It does accurately reflect the current state of man's self-identification with his own nation. Most people view themselves as citizens of a given country, rather than as citizens of the world. And national leaders usually attain and hold their position precisely because they pledge to serve the selfinterests of the nation."

Martin points out, "What we have here is a basic conundrum. For a commonwealth of goodwill to be established, both leaders and citizens must consider themselves global citizens first rather than national citizens. In other words, a change in social self-identification would need to occur. How could this change happen? The two more obvious ways would be either through some threatened world event in which mankind would have to cooperate to survive, or through some expansion of mankind's self-identification on a global scale.

"Pragmatically speaking, there is always the possibility of a major catastrophe threatening humanity. However, a global expansion of consciousness is largely unheard of. Such an expansion of self-identification is rare even on a national scale. Although, I must admit, over a longer period over several decades, such a change in self-identification to being a global citizen

could occur. But at best, this is a slow and uncertain process. It is true that time is being compressed today because of global communications, trade, financial interdependencies, and so on, so that this process might occur over, say, one or two generations. But for a speedy process, the only conceivable stimulus for such a change in personal outlook would be a global crisis brought home by something like climate change, a pandemic, or simultaneous regional disasters."

Morya observes, "Let's not forget the impact of large scale human disaster, such as genocide and forced migration, captured on television and broadcast around the world. If the suffering of others is great enough, then people globally could start demanding that some solution be found. After all, we are all brothers and sisters on this planet. Evidence of this public demand has been seen in some of the responses to terrorism, for example, as well as in global relief efforts aimed to help those stricken by major cataclysms."

Mark nods at this and continues with his argument, "So, we agree it is possible under certain conditions that the general public might be willing to support the idea of a commonwealth of goodwill in order to address specific global issues. And we also agree that it is possible that a sufficient number of national leaders would be willing to seek greater international cooperation on some of these global issues through forums similar to the commonwealth. Therefore, Morya, it would appear that at least some of the conditions necessary for your commonwealth of goodwill are indeed possible. Such a commonwealth may not be comprised of perfect people with an enlightened spirituality, but it might be comprised of people willing to cooperate in order to protect their own interests. Does that seem a reasonable conclusion?"

Morya thinks for a moment, sips his tea, and then replies, "That, indeed, is possible. What we also have to be concerned about, however, is that some trends toward greater global cooperation

might be exploited for selfish or harmful reasons. For example, the use of communications and technology to promote pornography or acts of terrorism. Moreover, it often happens that high-sounding ideals, constitutions, and institutions become merely a mask used by governing elites to exploit the people. This is always a danger when new political institutions, such as a commonwealth of goodwill, are being developed. The commonwealth will need to be protected from these tendencies in order to succeed in its noble purpose."

Martin agrees, "From my perspective, a commonwealth of goodwill cannot be based solely on the ideal of global goodness. There must be checks and balances put into place to ensure that such a global enterprise is not misused or rendered ineffective due to parochial interests. Let's call it a night and continue this discussion tomorrow after our adventure on the trails."

Morya and Mark agree, and while Martin tidies up the living room and kitchen, the two other men retire to their rooms for the evening. After putting things away, Martin sits by the fire for a while, thinking about what was said and wondering if, indeed, it would be possible for an ideal commonwealth to actually work.

Day Ten: Hiking in Lamar Valley

In the morning, the three friends drove in Martin's pickup to one of the trailheads off the Lamar Valley in Yellowstone Park. They saw large herds of bison, some elk, a few wolves in the distance, and what appeared to be a grizzly bear running up one of the nearby hills. After several hours of hiking, they sat down to rest and to munch their energy bars. Enjoying the fresh air and catching their breath, they decided to go another couple of miles and then doubled back around 2:30 to give them enough time to return to the truck and get to the lodge before nightfall. After

dinner, the men retired to the living room, mug in hand, noting how fast the night descended and how chilly it had become.

The Need for Checks and Balances

Martin eventually says, "I was thinking about our conversation last night and how trends toward interdependence, multipolarity, mass communications, leadership accountability, and so on are creating the conditions conducive for a commonwealth of goodwill. The other necessity – the universal goodwill of people – is simply not going to occur any time soon. People are not purely good, nor do they have only good intentions. Many if not most people have a side to themselves which is selfish, jealous, greedy, lustful, and vengeful. People are all too frequently liars, cheaters, and thieves. This is part of human character, be it a genetic flaw or some reflection of our instinct for survival. The need to temporarily cooperate globally on some issue does not translate into a change of that basic human character. What is needed is a change in character of human beings, and that is something very difficult to achieve."

Mark and Morya shift uncomfortably in their chairs and Mark begins to speak, but Martin quickly continues, "Not everyone has all of these negative characteristics at the same time, of course, and the degree of expressing these behaviors differs with each individual. However, they do exist in almost everyone, and that is why men agree amongst themselves that no one is perfect. Isn't that true?"

Mark and Morya are silent but clearly do not like the path the conversation is taking. So Martin presses on with his argument. "Look, I believe in the essential spiritual nature of the soul inhabiting the human body. I believe that the soul is tied into some universal Spirit, which we all call God – although our interpretations of God differ. But that potential of spiritual goodness is not fully expressed under current human conditions, or under any past human conditions of

which we are aware. We know this from observation. It cannot be denied. Why people are not expressing their inner spiritual nature is something theologians and philosophers and psychologists and great thinkers have pondered for thousands of years. Every great prophet and world teacher has postulated some theory about this, or offered some analogy by way of explaining how man in embodiment could be both good as well as bad, when his spiritual nature was essentially good."

Martin pauses to sip his tea, while the others continue to remain silent. Martin goes on, "We cannot, in my estimation, depend upon the universal goodwill of man to provide the foundation for a global commonwealth of goodwill. If we do that, then the commonwealth is just another ideal form of government, one that sounds wonderful and one that maybe should exist, but one that will never exist as long as men are men. Becoming a better person is an individual effort, undertaken by a deliberate choice of freewill. This process of personal improvement is difficult for most, easy for a few, and seemingly impossible for others. The probability of all of mankind – even a significant majority of mankind – to be good at one time seems so small as to not warrant serious consideration."

He takes a deep breath and continues, "Individuals have to wrestle with themselves, one on one, to overcome their negative motivations, bad habits, impure desires, and morally questionable behavior. It takes work – hard work – on a daily basis to overcome the conditions that stand in the way of an individual becoming their true self. Do either of you disagree with this?"

Mark speaks up, "Martin, that was one of the most depressing assessments of humanity I have ever heard. People are sons and daughters of God, miracles happen every day, and individuals can – with the help of God and the great teachers – overcome their weaknesses and become better people. This happens constantly. It happened to you, it happened to me, it happened to

Morya here, it happened to hundreds of people who we have encountered in our lifetime. Why do you insist on bringing the imperfection of mankind into the discussion of the goal of creating a commonwealth of goodwill? People don't have to be perfect before they address what nearly everyone agrees are global problems?"

Martin replies, "I think, Mark, you and I come at the problem of creating a commonwealth of goodwill from two different perspectives. You see the commonwealth emerging as the natural expression of mankind's innate goodness. I see the commonwealth emerging as a political necessity to address worldly problems. Both perspectives are correct. But, from a political point of view, I cannot see such a commonwealth emerging solely as a result of the goodness in men's hearts. As Morya has pointed out, conditions do exist for the emergence of such a commonwealth in the not-too-distant future. These conditions include global issues such as climate change and scarce resources. From an organizational point of view, however, a commonwealth comprised of representatives from all the nations of the world must have not only an agenda to address (the pressing problem) but also an enlightened sense of what it means to have personal responsibility to try to leave the world a better place than we found it. Beyond these two conditions, however, is also a requirement for an institution to exist that allows the representatives to freely discuss the issues and to do so in an environment relatively free from selfish manipulation on the part of some. Wouldn't you agree with that?"

Mark frowns but nods. Then Morya speaks up, "I see where you are coming from, Martin, and, yes, those conditions are required for a commonwealth to work for the purposes for which it would be created. We need some system of checks and balances to increase the likelihood that selfishness does not undermine the important work that is to be done. God gave man free will and the earth is mankind's sphere of responsibility. No master, saint, or God Himself is going to

step in and solve man's problems – personally, socially, or politically. It is mankind's collective responsibility to address and solve global problems, and it is mankind's responsibility to ensure that its political institutions serve their purposes. We cannot assume that humanity's goodwill alone will assure the success of the commonwealth."

Martin and Mark nod their agreement. Mark then asks, "All right, Martin, what kind of checks and balances do you think are necessary for Morya's vision of a commonwealth of goodwill to be successful?"

Martin thinks for a moment and replies, "If you recall the history of the American political experiment, the founding fathers did not assume the perfection of men but rather their imperfection. They made this assumption while at the same time believing that God was guiding the founding of the nation. So we have a model of a political system based on both the innate goodness of mankind and his temporary imperfection. The American political system tries to balance these two assumptions about the nature of man, and it seems to me that, in considering a commonwealth of goodwill, we need to find a similar balance." He looks for agreement from Mark and Morya, who indicate tacit approval.

Martin continues, "If we take these assumptions as being true for the organizational foundation of the commonwealth, then we would need to have certain institutions and procedures in place. The institutions and procedures would likely be different if people were perfect, and they likely would be different if people were inherently evil. The institutions and procedures of the commonwealth should be based on the assumption that the souls of men and their inner character are spiritually good, but that their behavior and motivations are a mixture of both good and bad. Institutionally, therefore, the goal is to protect and encourage the good while guarding against and constraining the bad."

Martin chuckles to himself as he sees a certain irony. He says, "Look, the common characteristic of the pure and impure man is self-interest. But is the individual motivated by the interests of his true self, or is the individual motivated by the interests of his lesser self? Regardless, the foundation of the check and balance system of government is self-interest. The efficiency of the organization will depend on how well the self-interest of the individual representatives and their respective nations are served. In this kind of political situation, the best way to achieve checks and balances is through an organizational structure that reflects these self-interests yet allows no one set of interests to predominate. Think of the three branches of the U.S. government, for example, a model followed by many other countries as well.

"In large measure, the issues that would be discussed in the commonwealth would be global in nature and serious in consequence – otherwise, the individual nation-states could address them or they could be brought before the United Nations or regional intergovernmental organizations. Because the issues discussed by the commonwealth are by their nature very complex, it would be vital that they be well-researched and analyzed in an objective way and presented to the representatives in sufficient time for them and their individual governments to become familiar with the underlying issues. Thus, one key institution within the larger commonwealth organization would be a robust, well-staffed, and well-funded research and analysis center tasked with the responsibility to frame and study the issue beforehand. The center would clearly and objectively set forth alternative solutions or approaches to manage the various issues, with the costs and benefits of each alternative identified. This center would be an important part of the check-and-balance system because it would objectify the issues and identify the key discussion points for the representatives in their deliberations."

Pausing to drink some tea, Martin continues, "A second element of the checks and balances is a highly efficient secretariat, whose primary responsibilities are to provide staff support to the members, provide public relations for the commonwealth, publish and distribute representatives' reports, and ensure that all representatives have up-to-date secure communications. The secretariat also provides a professional facilitating staff to assist the representatives in their deliberations, if requested, and publishes periodic meeting summaries for the media and the general public."

He thinks for a moment and then adds, "The research center would best be independent from the secretariat, and would receive its tasking from the Executive Committee of the representatives. The head of the research center would be selected by the Executive Committee and would serve a fixed term in office. The head of the secretariat would be approved by a two-thirds vote of the representatives meeting in plenary session. The secretariat head would serve a fixed term in office. These procedures would closely tie the research center and the secretariat to the representatives, yet ensure that the heads of these powerful support institutions would not become bureaucratically entrenched over time."

Martin waits while Mark places another log on the fire and then goes on, "Each country would have one representative and one alternate representative. Only the principal representative would vote. The alternate representative would become the voting representative when the principal representative could not fulfill his or her duties. The representatives would be selected by each country according to its own procedures, but the criteria for selection would be commonly used and known to the public. Representatives should be leading intellectuals residing in the nation. Representatives could also be humanitarians with a strong record of public service, or some other uniquely outstanding member of society. The goal is to create a body of the most far-sighted

individuals on the planet, representing each country and bringing to the deliberations a wide perspective in a common attempt to find satisfactory answers to some of humanity's most pressing problems.

"The representatives would meet formally, behind closed doors, in-person once or twice a year, and by teleconference once or twice a year. Deliberations could occur in all the meetings, but voting on recommendations would only take place in meetings held in person. The representatives would not be authorized to set policy or dictate actions the states must take. Theirs is an advisory role only, but their recommendations would carry considerable weight because of their prestige, recognized good will, and collective wisdom. The secretariat, in its public report of the meetings, would explain each recommendation and the rationale behind it, with caveats for different opinions to ensure a fair and true representation of what actually occurred in the deliberations. These public summaries would not identify the source of the opinion. Each country would be responsible for supporting its representatives and paying for his or her expenses or per diem. Each representative would serve a fixed term of four years but could be re-selected by the country at its discretion."

Stopping to warm his hands over the fire, Martin says, "The Executive Committee of the representatives would be a much smaller body, selected for a fixed term by the representatives from among themselves. These individuals would be paid a handsome salary and work throughout the year to advance the commonwealth's business. The Executive Committee would assign tasks to the research center and direct the activities of the secretariat through its head. The Executive Committee, in consultation with the representatives, would develop the agenda for the plenaries. For each plenary meeting, the Executive Committee would elect two of its own to act as the chair and vice chair."

At this point, Mark interjects, "OK, I can see the logic behind your plan, but I do not see the structure of an actual government. Rather, what you have described is some sort of super committee. I thought the commonwealth was a global political institution, not a committee of intellectuals."

Morya nods and asks, "Martin, when we discuss ideal governments we usually mean governing bodies. Did you omit something?"

Martin replies, "Let me explain. I don't think that, over the next ten or twenty years, nation-states will hand over power to a world government. The international system is just that: a system comprised of nations. It seems to me that the most we can hope for in the short- or mid-term is some international institution staffed with the necessary expertise to address in a goodwill fashion the problems that beset humanity. If that mechanism – we are calling it a commonwealth of goodwill – can be established, and if its recommendations can be adopted by nation-states out of their own interests, then that would be an historic accomplishment. Defined in this way, I think the ideal of a commonwealth of goodwill is possible within ten years."

He thinks for a moment and then continues, "We have to keep in mind that people are not going to become completely good by, say 2025, nor are nation-states likely to surrender their sovereignty by then. If that is true, then we need some interim institution to address global issues from a global perspective. The commonwealth is not political, as if often the case with the United Nations. The commonwealth forum would be an honest best effort on the part of all cooperative nations to arrive at solutions to major problems that confront us all. I think it might work, but it will take a lot of effort to see it become a reality."

Mark says, "Well, that is quite a model you have created and it deserves some careful thought. It's getting late, so I suggest we call it a night and take up the question of its possibility tomorrow."

Everyone agrees, and the discussions end for that evening. Mark, however, seemed somewhat troubled over the direction Martin had taken the conversation and inwardly determines to address these concerns the next day.

Day Eleven: Yellowstone Geysers

The next day Martin got up early and prepared omelets and toast for breakfast, along with coffee and tea. Morya and Mark came out of their rooms to the waiting breakfast. Everyone gathered around the fire with their plate of steaming food and cup of java to start the day. After eating, they drove into Yellowstone Park once again, this time to explore more thoroughly the various geysers. Martin in particular was interested in seeing how the landscape was being shaped by volcanic activity in the area. They ate lunch in one of the Park's inns, and drove back through the Lamar Valley, stopping frequently to watch the wildlife. Back at the lodge, Martin got the fire going, while Morya made vegetable stew for their evening meal. The three friends then settled into their chairs to continue their conversation from the previous night.

Strategy to Establish Commonwealth of Goodwill

Mark spoke first. "Martin, I have been giving quite a bit of thought to what you said last night, not about the institutions and checks and balances of government, but about the character of man. You seem to believe that government should reflect, or at least take into account, the negative side of mankind. Yet, by its very definition, an ideal government should point people toward a higher and nobler possibility. Your description of the commonwealth of goodwill, which Morya initially described as an ideal, has changed our discussion from an ideal

government to a practical governmental organization. Is that what you intended to do? Is there no role for idealism in government?"

Morya says, "Let me address this issue before Martin comments. We all know that mankind as a whole has a dual character. We all know that mankind individually has a spark of divinity or at least a potential for nobility and goodness far beyond what is normally expressed. The great world teachers have all instructed us on our divine potential, while at the same time exhorted us to improve our character. Government can play a dual role in this process by addressing both the practical needs of the people and a hope for a better future. It seems to me that the concept of a commonwealth of goodwill embraces both functions of government: it addresses current issues of great concern, and it provides a mechanism for enhanced cooperation between all peoples – a critical step toward achieving world peace and global harmony. I do not see anything wrong in Martin's analysis, even though he approaches the concept of the commonwealth from a slightly different perspective than we might have done."

Mark nods and says, "OK. I can accept that. But I still believe that our emphasis in these discussions of ideal government should be on the ideal rather than on the practical. If we focus too much on the practical, we tend to accept and accommodate the current imperfections of man. If we focus on the ideal, we can note where improvement in the character of man might be necessary and possible, but the outcome of our discussions will be different: highlighting more of the ideal aspirations towards which we should strive."

Martin replies, "What you say about focus is true. I do tend to focus on the practical because that is the world in which I live and work. You are a spiritual teacher and counselor. You try to help people understand their inner quality and realize a higher vision for themselves and for society. Both of our perceptions are correct; it's just that reality has as many dimensions as there are

points of view. There are infinite ways to describe what is real and what is possible. I was hoping, in my short dialogue last night, to point out how, in a practical way, a commonwealth of goodwill might be created and sustained, given the conditions that exist or which are foreseeable over the next couple of decades. I think Morya's idea is excellent. I was trying to understand how it might be achieved."

Mark says, "I know, I know. And that is a good thing. But let's not forget the larger picture. Mankind individually and collectively has a dual character. We have agreed on that assessment. It is our responsibility – at least it is the responsibility that I have given myself – to try to help others expand their good character and diminish their negative character. In my view, we should not try to accommodate the negative characteristics of mankind; we should try to assist people and society to improve themselves. And this requires the acceptance of a higher vision of what is possible for man. It also means that we should describe ideal forms of government in ideal ways, rather than try to lower their probabilities of succeeding by emphasizing too much the current negative qualities of people."

Morya comments, "Both of you have valid opinions. It really all boils down to strategy: how do you best assist mankind – by working with him as he is, or by exhorting him to his full potential? This is a debate that has been going on for a long, long time, and it is not one that we can resolve this evening. Ultimately, each of us must choose our own path to try to improve the lot of man. My own path has been to internalize the will of God as much as possible. As that alignment has strengthened over the years, I have found myself wanting to describe to others the joys of expressing the will of God. I love the will the God. By my nature, I am not too accommodating to mankind's weaknesses or laziness. I believe in discipline and hard work, because that is what it takes to shed impurities in one's character and to adhere to the magnificence of the will of

God. To me, the will of God is everything. That is how I know God. That is how I know myself. It is my role in life to reflect the goodness of the will of God. Therefore, not surprisingly, that is how I approach the concept of ideal government. I seek first to understand how God would like that government to function, and then I try my best to describe it."

Martin says, "We all respect and admire you for that diamond-like commitment to the will of God, Morya. I have increasingly come to love that divine will myself. I know I spend too little time in meditation, and that my habits are not always pure. But I find that reminding myself of the goodness of the will of God helps me to at least keep my eye on the larger picture. I work in an environment dominated by self-centered people. But I have learned gradually to know my inner quality and to recognize the inner quality of others. This enables me – usually – to work at the level of the higher mind, understanding present conditions yet seeking pathways to a better tomorrow. But without an anchor of love for the will of God, I could easily be lost. I have been there before and know how easy it is to stray from an honorable path to one that is dishonorable."

Mark comments, "We all love the will of God and we all have strayed in this and certainly in past lifetimes. Maybe that's why we are still friends after all these years. Each of us functions as best as we can, given our current understanding and the opportunities we are given. Karma and dharma, circumstances and duty, are what drive us forward."

The three men are quiet for a while, each lost in his own thoughts. Martin gets up after a few minutes and pours more tea, then adds some wood to the fire. He walked out to the porch and paused to look up at the clear night sky, brilliantly lit by the millions of stars visible even to the naked eye. He goes back into the living room, sits down, and pushes his hands deep into his coat pockets.

Mark says, "One thing that has interested me over the years, and which may have some relevance to our discussion, is the various strategies that have been employed by servants of light and servants of darkness to advance their respective goals on the planet. What are some of your ideas on this subject?"

Martin says, "I define good strategies as those in harmony with the will of God. That means thinking, feeling, and acting in harmony with one's inner quality. For me personally, good is acting with honor and integrity, so a good strategy is one that is based on or incorporates elements of honor and integrity. That is the standard that I use, but I recognize that others have different inner qualities and therefore might have a different understanding of what is a good strategy. A strategy of evil or darkness, on the other hand, means to me a strategy that seeks to undermine honor and integrity in the world of men. A strategy does not have to be morally good or evil, however. A strategy can be based just as easily – as has been demonstrated countless times in international politics – on amoral principles of serving national or self-interest, regardless of the moral implications. Like church and state, strategy and morality can be separated in an operational sense."

Morya comments, "These definitions are perhaps important in terms of our discussion, but from the point of view of the soul's higher level of consciousness there is no misunderstanding of what is good and what is evil. At the level of the soul, the individual knows what he or she should do in a given situation. When the person in embodiment does not do that but rather chooses some other path or even seeks to undermine what their soul knows they should do, then the individual is venturing onto dangerous ground. If the individual so misuses his or her free will too much, the individual can become progressively evil in their outlook and actions. Some believe that such an individual might eventually even lose the soul, although this is a spiritual

mystery. What occurs in our world, however, is that the individual who loses contact with his soul begins to drift hither and yon without a moral anchor. In that condition, almost any action – positive or negative – is possible from the individual, for they have become in essence a rudderless ship in the ocean of life."

Morya continues, "There is a critical decision point in human consciousness when an individual decides, on his own free will, to depart from doing what he knows or believes God wants. At this juncture, the individual moves from strict obedience to the will of God to taking upon himself the responsibility of deciding what is right and what is wrong. This decision is not made from the perspective of the higher mind, but rather from the perspective of the lesser, self-centered mind. Because mankind has free will, he can easily be tempted to ignore God; not because man is evil by nature, but because man believes himself to be clever and skilled and therefore able to decide for himself what is best. God does not intend for mankind to be a slave, and we should not forget that free will is a gift from God to the souls of man. The challenge and opportunity for mankind is to learn to use free will to create according to the patterns of his soul's unique quality. For you, Markin, there is an infinite variety of creative activities that can be done with your inner quality of honor and integrity. For you, Mark, there is likewise an infinite variety of activities that can be done with the power of the spoken word. It is through the expression of one's inner quality that an individual aligns his or her free will with the will of God. It is as simple as that."

Martin observes, "This helps to place into context the strategies of light and darkness, and also sheds light on how the commonwealth of goodwill ought to be established. At spiritual levels, there is a difference between strategies conceived for advancing mankind's inner qualities of goodness, and strategies conceived for the purpose of promoting mankind's separation from God. It is possible for the goal of both strategies to be the same – for example, the creation of a

commonwealth of goodwill. However, there are two approaches to achieving that goal: one based on the expression of the inner quality of goodness, and one based on the manipulation and expediency of selfish interests. I still, however, am not clear on how strategies at spiritual levels can always be reflected in strategies designed for conditions on earth."

Mark offers, "Well, the connection seems obvious to me. Strategists in whatever field they may function in on earth should develop strategies seeking to help mankind and further goodness. They should avoid developing strategies harming mankind or undermining his goodness."

Martin responds, "I can see the validity of that. However, we still have the ends and means dilemma. If your strategic goal is to achieve greater good, then why is the utilization of questionable means not justified? If the goal is the creation of a commonwealth of goodwill, what differences does it make in which strategy is used as long as the strategy is successful in creating the commonwealth?"

Morya says, "It is always possible here on earth to use questionable means to achieve some good end. However, it is morally incorrect to do so, because – in almost every conceivable situation – morally appropriate means can be found to attain the good goal. That is the role of the higher mind, of which we have spoken so often. The problem with employing immoral means to achieve good ends is that the criteria of appropriateness is moved by the human mind from being morally correct to expedient. Expediency is often a valid standard of efficiency, but – in a moral context – expediency should never replace the ethical principles and moral standards of one's inner quality. To set up expediency as the standard by which to judge one's strategy is to continue the process of disconnecting the individual in embodiment from the moral guidance of his soul. Expediency, in other words, is one of those slippery slopes we need to be careful of when we speak of strategy and morality. It is always best, even here on earth, to employ the

higher mind to develop strategies aligned with the inner quality in order to achieve some good goal of benefit to mankind."

Mark and Martin nod their agreement at this explanation. Martin then says, "I see, Morya, that the strategies you mentioned earlier are deeply psychological as well as moral. Strategies of good and evil have mostly to do with man's vision of himself and, ultimately, with man's relationship with God and with all things spiritual."

Morya smiles and agrees, "Yes, ultimately all strategies of good have as their goal the establishment and retention of man's connection with his own divinity and with the larger divinity of the universal God. All strategies of evil have the opposite goal: the breaking of the link between man and his inner quality and thus the breaking of the link between man and his spiritual Creator. The plans and methods to achieve these opposite goals are numerous, but almost all center around man's self-awareness. Does man see himself as a soul expressing his inner quality, or does man see himself as separate from God and hence left to his own devices? "Man's vision of himself heavily influences the course of his lifetime. Over time, the strategies of good are stronger, because mankind (whether he knows it or not) are creatures of spirit as well as of flesh; but the strategies of evil can be devious. Even the wisest of men can fall victim to the rationale that they do not really need God because of their own internal greatness. That is why it is ever so important to never let go of your appreciation, love, and obedience to the will of God. Acknowledging the existence of God in whatever form you identify with, and loving the will of God as it unfolds in your life, maintains the vital connection between your outer consciousness and God. God will almost never interfere with your free will. But you will never have true freedom unless you freely embrace the will of God and use your self-determination to express your inner quality."

Martin asks, "But, still, you imply that all strategies are either of light or darkness. Here on earth, we live in a gray world of a blending of good and bad. So our strategies, as most of our lives, are a mixture of good and bad. How do we possibly separate the good and bad within ourselves and within our strategies if we are by our nature a blending of the two moral qualities?"

Mark sighs and Morya says, "That is a very profound question, because the separation of the wheat and chaff is critical to the soul's evolution. Let's continue this discussion tomorrow, when our minds are fresher."

The men sat silently for some time, staring at the fire, and then, one by one, they quietly retired to their rooms.

Day Twelve: Billings

The next day was again cloudy and rainy, so the three men decided to drive up to Red Lodge for breakfast, and then to go into Billings to stock up on groceries and to eat lunch or an early dinner at Cracker Barrel. Mark drove his SUV, with Morya in the front and Martin in the second row of the roomy vehicle. About 2 pm, they went to Cracker Barrel and each of them ordered their favorites. Afterwards, they drove back through Red Lodge and on to the condo. Martin got a fire going and put on some water to boil, while Morya and Mark unloaded the groceries and put things away. After a bit, the three men sat down to enjoy the fire and the Dutch apple pie they picked up on the way down from Billings.

Knowing the Will of God

Now comfortable and settled in, Martin broached the subject for the night. "Morya, we all appreciate your commitment to God's will and feel the intensity of your belief and the power that it gives you. But I have a question. It seems that people have a problem interpreting what God's

will actually is. Maybe that is a misstatement. Many people don't have a problem articulating what they think God's will is, but – if you compare the various points of view being expressed on what God's will is in any given situation – you are likely to find several and even some contradictory interpretations of what God's actual intention is. So, how can you know what is the will of God? Or, more specifically, how can you know that your interpretation of God's will is correct? This issue is relevant to our discussion last night, where we raised the question of separating the good and bad within ourselves and within our strategies to achieve the commonwealth of goodwill."

Morya answers, "In reality, no man knows what the will of God is – in its entirety – because man's consciousness does not encompass the totality of God. What each of us can know, with a fair degree of certainty, is how God intends for us to act in our daily lives – including the development of our strategies. God's will for us as individual human beings is to discover and to express the inner quality that He has placed as a seed of infinite potential within our souls as its predominant character. Since every person can come to know their inner quality, expressing one's inner quality is to act according to the will of God. In terms of strategy, when a person develops a strategic approach to some issue – such as building a commonwealth of goodwill – if the person uses their inner quality as the lens through which the issue is envisioned, then their strategy will reflect the standards of their inner quality. In this way, the strategy will be good – although the strategy may not necessarily be successful since morally good strategies can be impractical and inappropriate for specific purposes."

Mark interjects, "Now I am confused. Is our criteria of following God' will based on our personal vision of our inner quality or on following the guidelines of God's will as they are

known to us through inspiration or even spiritual teachings? How do we know that our imagined true self is in fact our true self and not some artificial self we have created in our minds?"

Martin comments, "Let's not get too far astray here. What we are discussing is whether strategies for achieving a commonwealth of goodwill ought to be guided by our inner qualities and higher minds, or whether a strategy of expediency might be appropriate as well."

Morya nods and replies, "Mark, to address your question, while no man can know God's will entirely, an individual can know the will of God for himself – at least in part. Knowing the will of God for oneself and acting upon that will are key challenges for each of us. God has given to everyone the ability to know His will from the perspective of their inner quality. In this sense, knowledge of God's will is not a secret available only to a few. We become our true self gradually, as we know and act upon more of God's will through the lens of our inner quality.

"Martin, to address your point: the goal of creating a commonwealth of goodwill is a good goal, certainly aligned with both God's will and mankind's highest aspirations. However, to achieve that goal as it is envisioned requires that men go about it in a proper way. Establishing a commonwealth of goodwill through evil means undermines the purpose of the commonwealth and makes impossible the realization of its noble goals. To create a commonwealth of goodwill and to realize its noble goals require that men achieve these ends by pursuing their highest aspirations. In other words, to develop strategies based on their best character or inner qualities." Martin asks, "Are you saying that it is better for the commonwealth not to be built at all if amoral means are used?"

Morya responds, "I am saying that God's will is for mankind to create great and noble things based upon their inner qualities, using their free will and higher minds. It is only in this way that

the ideal can be realized on earth. Simply being clever and creative is not enough. The motivations and plans of action, and the actions themselves, need to be demonstrative of mankind's best character rather than based on manipulation and subterfuge. Ends and means must align with each other in terms of honor and integrity."

Martin thanks Morya for his explanation and says, "That is quite clear to me now. One cannot follow the will of God in trying to achieve some worthwhile goal by employing immoral means. Mankind's intentions to do good need to be coupled with mankind's motivations and actions to do good. If that is not done, then God's will is not accomplished, no matter how great the earthly accomplishment. This highlights the fact that, from God's perspective, what is most important is the perfection of the soul, not the perfection of the earthly object."

Morya smiles and agrees. Then adds, "You see from this the importance of a person knowing their inner quality of goodness. If a person knows that quality and thinks about its meaning, then the individual will sense the true self that he or she is destined to become – the image of their soul as held in the mind of God. If a person understands that this is their true self, and if they determine to become that true self, then they will begin to act appropriately here in the world of form. Their goals, such as establishing a commonwealth of goodwill to help all of humanity, will be in keeping with God's will. The strategies and tactics they devise to achieve this goal will reflect the qualities of their inner quality, thus properly aligning means and ends. And, further, and equally important, their behavior as a son or daughter of God will enable their efforts and bring everything – goals, strategies, and personal habits – into alignment with the holy will of God."

Mark comments, "That is beautifully said, Morya. And all of this depends on a person being aware of and becoming their best character, which is the gateway to contacting their soul and becoming their true self."

Martin nods and says he understands.

The Role of Spiritual Teachers

Mark then asks, "But what of the role of spiritual teachers and those who say they can tell us what the will of God is? Clearly, it is challenging for people to not only know what God's will is but also to act in moral ways to fulfill that will. It seems to me that people are lacking in both areas: we don't know what the will of God is, and we don't have the knowledge or self-discipline to act according to the standards of our inner quality. How are we going to learn this, if not with the help of spiritual teachers?"

Morya says, "You are right. Spiritual teachers vary widely in their knowledge of the will of God; however, with discernment people can identify the most advanced from among them. The distinguishing characteristic of a great spiritual teacher is not his or her personality or even outward character, but rather their ability to not only convey the truth of God's will but also the truth of one's own true self. For finding one's true self is the goal of all ethics, and the path to that discovery is becoming more and more of one's true character, that is, one's own inner quality."

Mark adds, "As the Buddha says, 'Go Be.' The idea is for man to go and be his true self. Yet, although most people probably are not aware of their inner quality, they almost universally sense whether they are being true to themselves."

Morya continues, "This is where God's mercy comes in. The sins of most people are serious and numerous enough that it would take an enormous amount of time to balance their negative karma. Individuals often become so burdened with the weight of their misdeeds that they seem unable to recognize their own inner nobility. Having lost the vision of their true self, they almost give up on the quest for self-improvement. God and His saints often intervene in such cases to clear the burdened consciousness sufficiently so that the individual can glimpse – even for a moment – their true reality, their inner quality, their true self. Often, this single spiritual experience is enough to change the course of one's entire life. We begin to pursue the source of our inner quality; we begin to see that the inner quality is the character of our soul and true self; we self-correct the course we are on and begin to pursue the will of God that is written in our hearts.

"Yes, we have all benefited from God's mercy. I pray and have faith that His mercy will be sufficient to bring all of humanity to that point where individuals realize their true self and seek to express their inner quality in their personal and social life. When that occurs, the individual and then society will be able to build our commonwealth of goodwill. In this way, the ideal of a commonwealth and the will of God on an individual level will merge into one reality. That is the vision of the future I carry in my mind and in my heart."

The men sit silently for a while. Then, Martin and Mark thank Morya for his insights and excuses themselves for the evening. Shortly thereafter, Morya retires to his room as well.

Day Thirteen: Rock Creek

Role of Evolution

The next morning was cold, damp, and misty, so the three men got up a little later than usual and decided to stay at the lodge beside Rock Creek until the weather cleared. A few snowflakes blew

down from the mountain peaks, several of which were blanketed in thick gray clouds that indicated snow. Martin cooked up some eggs, bacon, grits, and toast, while Morya and Mark started a fire. The men settled down with plates of hot food and mugs of steaming tea for breakfast. After they ate and Morya cleaned up the dishes, the three refilled their cups and sat down by the fire. Martin was the first to speak.

"My friends, we have had a couple of wonderful exchanges about the will of God and His mercy, and how the commonwealth of goodwill can become a reality under certain conditions, the most favorable of which is the discovery of the inner quality in large numbers of people, including national leaders. The inner quality seems to be key. I would like to propose for your consideration an alternative explanation for the inner quality, one not linked to God but linked to evolution."

Mark and Morya indicate their wish for him to continue.

Martin says, "We know from science that life is remarkably resilient on earth. We are finding life in the most unusual and hostile places, many of which are uninhabitable by human beings. We are also almost daily hearing of the discovery of planets orbiting distant stars. We are learning that comets and meteorites often contain the building blocks of life and even molecules of water. Scientists tell us that the complex atoms essential to life and the composition of the earth originate in explosions of ancient stars. Because of these discoveries, many scientists are beginning to think that life is far more widespread across the universe than we originally thought. However, we are also learning that the form which life takes in remote or difficult ecosystems is likely quite different from what we see on earth.

"If that is the case, then the idea of God being manlike or His attention being placed completely on humanity may be wrong. Logic tells us that, if there is a God, then He or She or It would need to be universal. God's form may not be manlike. God may not even have form at all. God may be a spirit or some other thing that we cannot comprehend because we have not experienced that dimension of existence.

"What we know about mankind is that we have a very powerful imagination. I believe that imagination is one of our most important tools for survival as a species. It enables us to imagine a better future, to imagine a goal toward which to strive, to imagine a strategy to reach that goal, even to imagine how to govern ourselves. It enables us to imagine God as a supreme Judge to weigh our moral decisions. The power of imagination, in other words, which is one of the primary drivers for ideals, is in fact a tool we have picked up through eons of evolution.

"If this line of reasoning is correct, then our inner quality may actually be some kind of psychological phenomena related to humanity's imagination and hence a product of evolution, not spiritual grace. Think about it. We define the inner quality as the best character of an individual. Experiencing the inner quality is, in essence, an experience in self-discovery, a recognition of our noblest side. And who among us doesn't want to be a better person? What better way for the species to guarantee its survival than to have each of its members believe in its own divine-like potential? The inner quality, then, may not necessarily prove the existence of God. It may prove that nature has given us an incredible power of imagination which we can use for almost unlimited personal and social improvement."

Mark sits back in his chair and objects, "Your argument has a certain logic. But man's ability to discovery his inner quality does not negate the existence of God. If God is the Creator of all

things, God may have placed the seeds of the inner quality and imagination within evolution so that advanced species like humanity may one day discover them."

Morya says, "Both of you are correct, to a degree. The inner quality is inherent in the spiritual consciousness of individuals. The inner quality is also waiting to be discovered by a highly evolved brain. It is important to keep in mind that the soul of man and the body of man are both evolving: one spiritually, one materially. But both evolutions are connected in the sense that the spiritual soul inhabits the physical body of a human being. Our goal here on earth is to merge the consciousness of the soul with the outer awareness of the person so that the full potential of man – both spiritually and materially – can be realized. This process takes lifetimes of embodiment. God did not create a fully developed universe, nor a fully enlightened human being. He created the seeds of the universe to develop over billions of years of evolution. There is no contradiction between God and evolution. Spirit and matter co-exist quite nicely in cosmos."

Mark comments, "But there is the danger, isn't there, Morya, that men and women – upon seeing their inner potential – may reject the idea of God and try to become gods themselves?"

Morya replies, "God does not need man's adoration or acceptance to exist. Mankind benefits when it tries to understand the role of spirituality in life and tries to incorporate that understanding into everyday activities. But the fate of man rests largely in the hands of man. What they do with their free will is their own decision. What God has provided is a framework in which free will operates. That framework includes karma, whose role is to ensure that cause and effect work morally as well as materially. Individuals, whether or not they believe in God, usually come to the conclusion through their returning karma that it is in their own best interests to be the best person they can possibly be. What occurs – not always but normally – is that when

people discover their own noble potential, they decide to pursue that potential because of the harmony and sense of self-fulfillment it creates in their own consciousness.

"Hence, the expression of one's inner quality is both an important step in mankind's evolution as well as the fulfillment of God's plan. The various 'dimensions' of man – for simplicity's sake let us call them spirit and matter – coexist whether the outer mind is aware of these multiple dimensions or not. It is far better for man to acknowledge and understand his spiritually, but life goes on regardless of whether he believes in God."

After a moment, Mark says, "This has been very interesting, but the sun is beginning to shine. Let's drive up to the pass and take some pictures. With the clouds and snow and the sunlight, this should make a perfect setting."

Martin and Morya agree, and all begin preparing their day packs. The three get into Martin's truck and drive up the Beartooth Highway to the top of the pass.

The Tao of Government

After an afternoon of walking in the snow around the Beartooth Pass, the friends arrived back at their lodge hungry and tired, ready for a warm meal and to settle in for the night. Mark prepared some stir fry with chicken and vegetables, while Morya started a fire. After the meal, cups of hot chocolate or tea in hand, the three men gathered in the living room in anticipation of another round of discussion on what comprises an ideal government.

Mark asks, "Morya, I know you have spent countless hours thinking about ideal government. We have talked about, from a practical point of view, some of Martin's suggestions for the institutions required for such a government to function, and you have shared with us your views on some of the spiritual characteristics that would make a commonwealth of goodwill both

possible and sustainable. I would like to you ask you: what kind of leader should be the head of an ideal government? What makes an ideal leader in an ideal society?"

Morya smiles at the question and says, "OK. If you want my views on this, I will give them to you. But first, I would like to hear Martin's opinion."

Martin leans forward in thought, and then frames an answer. "I would say that we must first understand that these are generalities, because there is no such thing as a single model for ideal leadership, just as there is no such thing as a single model for ideal government. Governments must fit their environments, and leaders must fit the times and circumstances of their moment in history."

Morya picks up the thread of the conversation and says, "That is true. The circumstances often make the leader. On the other hand, there are certain characteristics of a leader all of us would like to see, especially if we are considering political leadership in an ideal society. I think, first and foremost, such a leader must be dedicated to the well-being of his people and embody the spirit of selflessness. Such a leader must have strong moral character, as well as personal discipline to follow the moral standards he or she believes in. The leader must be willing to work long hours and, if necessary, to sacrifice the personal pleasures that make life pleasant and enjoyable for the rest of us. The leader must be humble before God, life and nature, and respect the dignity of the people. The leader must be compassionate and empathize with the conditions of life, ideas, hopes, and dreams of the people. The leader must be approachable by all, rich and poor, the powerful and the needy, because he or she is the leader of all of society, not just a privileged few. The ideal leader should also insist upon equality and fairness in society and its institutions. The leader should know when to be stern and when to be merciful, because every

society – no matter how ideal – will have its moments of peace and prosperity and its moments of challenge, pain, and need."

Mark asks, "Morya, do you think the political leader of the nation should also be its spiritual leader?"

Morya answers, "It is very difficult for a political leader to also be a spiritual leader. Difficult, but not impossible. The difficulty arises because a political leader must address the practical needs of society, whereas a spiritual leader must address the aspirational needs of the soul. It is true that both parts of mankind need to be addressed, but it is asking a lot for a single person to be able to solve both practical and spiritual problems. This is especially true in modern times when society is so complex. Perhaps in ancient, simpler times, or perhaps in very small modern communities, such a combination of functions is possible."

Martin asks, "But even assuming it is possible, is it a good idea for an individual to wear both secular and religious hats at the same time?"

Mark responses, "The ancient teachings show this to be possible and beneficial. If it worked before, why won't it work now in certain circumstances?"

Morya comments, "There is nothing wrong in having a single person carrying the dual responsibilities of state and church. But because such a person would have considerable power, there is increased risk of misuse of that power. So is such an arrangement a good idea, as Martin asks? I would say that it depends on the individual and the circumstances. This is something almost impossible to predict beforehand. I would say, however, that such an arrangement might be suitable for a single individual in a given situation, but that it would be risky to perpetuate that arrangement beyond the time of its utility. Remember the history of dynasties: having one

exceptional leader does not mean that all successive leaders will be exceptional. In fact, it has never occurred in human history. That is why in modern democracies there are checks and balances among the governing institutions and no single person, organization, or interest group has complete power. In this sense, I agree with Martin's suggestion that all governing bodies must include check-and-balance systems."

Mark then asks, "I have always wondered whether leaders have a different morality than normal people. Morya, do have some thoughts on this?"

Morya says, "Being a good leader and following a moral life are fairly easy during times of peace and plenty. When war occurs or society is threatened, then being a good leader and always following popular moral principles becomes more challenging. When national survival is at stake, the leader's first responsibility is to ensure the safety of the nation and its people. Ensuring the safety of society requires different strategies, depending upon the source and nature of the threat and the risks involved. Inevitably, these strategies will require the leader to ask, expect, and in some cases demand personal sacrifice from the people until the emergency passes and normalcy returns. The leader is thus faced with a moral dilemma: is it best to shorten the time of the people's sacrifice by pursuing expedient strategies, or to be morally correct in all ways even if the people's suffering is prolonged? Clearly this choice is not one to be made by the normal citizen; it is a choice that can only be made by the leader. In other words, being a leader requires a person to transcend in some ways the moral framework normally used by citizens in society. In that sense, the way a leader approaches morality is somewhat different from the approach taken by a citizen.

"Hence, the actions taken by the leader to protect society during times of emergency might not be appropriate during times of stability. Are these extraordinary measures immoral? The

distinction between proper and improper behavior can blur in some situations. What is most important, however, is that leaders hold themselves accountable to an ethical and moral standard that is reasonable and necessary under the circumstances. In an imperfect world, perfect morality is sometimes difficult to achieve, especially among leaders needing to protect their people. Still, all leaders should exercise great care in their behavior and do their best to use good means to achieve good ends."

Giving this some thought, Martin observes, "Historically, it has proven to be hard for even the best intentioned leader to relinquish command authority when stability returns."

Mark replies, "That has certainly been true in many cases, but this is where Morya's description of the ideal leader comes in. A truly moral leader would be able to relinquish his emergency powers once the emergency passes. No matter his or her role during various circumstances, the leader would always have a solid core of moral integrity. Holding on to this core of integrity enables the leader to use his or her higher mind and thereby see more clearly the most appropriate strategies for the situation."

Martin then asks, "Morya, when the survival of society is at stake, can the leader employ immoral means to protect the society?"

Morya chuckles and replies, "Still revisiting your Machiavelli, I see. OK, let's address the issue of whether there are any circumstances that would justify an ideal leader to compromise his moral standards. I think this point more than any other illustrates why it is so difficult for an advanced spiritual teacher to assume a position of political leadership. Someone who is very spiritually advanced – Jesus comes to mind, and Gautama – would simply not accept a political leadership position because it would cause them to face the dilemma between doing everything

necessary to protect society and doing everything morally correct as an example of proper behavior.

"A great spiritual teacher is a teacher of mankind, a teacher who tries to explain man's relationship to God and nature and to all of life, including other men. The duty, if you will, of a spiritual teacher is to teach spiritual things. The duty of a political leader is to lead the people in peace and in crisis. As we have noted, the two positions can be filled by someone functioning from a high level of consciousness, but these are different responsibilities. Jesus, for example, did not compromise his principle that to live by the sword is to die by the sword. A political leader, on the other hand, must be prepared to wield the sword and to ask the best young men and women of society to face the near certain possibility of death. You can see this difference in duty in the story of Arjuna in the *Bhagavad Gita*. One might be tempted to argue that a spiritual teacher is more highly advanced than a political leader, but it is nearly impossible for us humans to judge another's position on the spiritual ladder. I suppose the lesson here is that we probably should focus less on hypotheticals dealing with other people and more time on understanding ourselves and fulfilling our duty, whatever that might be."

As Morya pauses to drink from his cup, Martin stands up to add wood to the fire, and then Morya continues, "In terms of duty, when a leader who is functioning from his higher mind is faced with moral dilemmas and complex problems offering no easy solution, he or she can use two primary guides. First, the leader can use his own moral standards inherent in being in contact with the inner quality. The inner quality contains within itself a set of moral standards for that person. If you contact your inner quality, those standards will become apparent to you. Being true to those standards is the first moral guide for a leader – or for any of us for that matter.

Second, a leader who has contact with his inner quality can also use his higher mind to make the best choice of which he is capable.

"The wonderful thing about the higher mind is that it broadens enormously perceptions of the environment in which decisions must be made. Far more strategic options are available to someone using the higher mind than would otherwise be the case. One's intuition becomes sharper; one's reasoning power more acute; one's perceptions are enhanced. And, like the moral standards of the inner quality, the higher mind is available to anyone be they leader or citizen. The skill in using the higher mind varies considerably, however. Combined, these two moral guides – the individual's own standard of morality and the higher mind's ability to improve decision making – enable the leader to work through the difficult choices he or she faces in protecting the nation and serving the interests of the people. Does that answer your question, Martin?"

Martin says yes and Mark adds, "I think, from all we have said tonight, that being a political leader is one of the most challenging of all professions. At the same time, it is one of the most rewarding in that the lives of countless people can be improved if one's decisions are correct. Leadership – and I suppose it would apply to leadership in all aspects of society – is a grave responsibility. No wonder the ancient teachings say that the karma – good and bad – of leaders is much greater than the karma of those who are led. It is not surprising, therefore, that many of the world's greatest spiritual teachers chose not to be political leaders. And yet, at the same time, there is some validity in the concept that you cannot separate spirituality and politics. In some ways, the two go hand in hand, for only when politics is guided by moral and spiritual standards can society achieve its highest potential."

Both Morya and Martin agree, and after a few minutes all three men retire to their rooms as small pellets of ice start to fall from the overcast sky.

Day Fourteen: Cody

After breakfast the next day, the three men left in Mark's SUV to go visit Cody, Wyoming, and to explore the area around the east entrance into Yellowstone, before winding back through the Park to the Lamar Valley. They were fortunate to see a couple of grizzlies and lots of other wildlife on the way back. So with plenty of good pictures to remember the trip, they were happy to arrive back at the condo toward nightfall. After preparing a quick meal of goulash and green beans, they settled in for their talk of the evening.

War and Peace

Martin initiated the conversation. "It seems to me in our discussions that we have presented two alternative views of the future. One, the ideal, in which everyone and everything is optimally good and in alignment with the will of God. The other, a vision of a society much improved from today but still characterized by the same mixture of good and bad that has always – at least in recorded history – accompanied mankind. So the discussion I would like to introduce is this: how do war and peace fit into these two visions of the future. Could war exist in an ideal world? Is peace achievable in an improving global political environment?"

Mark comments, "I think you have touched the heart of the issue. Is the future to be an ideal one, or is it to be an improvement of the present condition. I think that, as men and women come into contact with their inner qualities, they will gradually improve their character to such an extent that a more perfect society is possible. Each of us have witnessed – individually in ourselves and in others – the transformative power of a personal experience with one's own spirituality and the resulting relationship that develops with God and with other parts of life. What to us now seems

like a distant and unlikely future, may in fact become a reality because man nature is changing. If individuals can dramatically improve their character, then why cannot society improve dramatically as well? And, if society can improve, why cannot a more ideal government emerge?"

Morya says, "Such change is possible and it is the hope of all of heaven. However, the future of mankind rests always in the hands of mankind. Not even God Himself will intervene to create an ideal society for us. Man has to create an ideal society himself, if it is to exist at all. At the present time, Martin's perspective is probably closer to realization. People can gradually improve, but achieving perfection even for an individual seems only remotely possible. Mark, your insight is also valid, in that social improvement is dependent upon the improvement of individuals, and – very importantly – individuals can reverse course very quickly when they realize their spiritual nature. Think of Paul, or Saul as he was known then, on the way to Damascus. A complete change of direction occurred in his life because of a single spiritual experience! Such a thing is possible for everyone. And if sufficient numbers of people awaken to their spiritual nature, then the vision of an ideal society conceivably could come to pass."

Mark says, "This is true, Morya, and I believe that it is the will of God that such a transformation of man's character take place. But changing the heart of men is something that only God can do, and it must occur with the concurrence of the individual. God has planted a seed of Himself in the soul of everyone: what we call the inner quality. Each person must discover his or her own inner quality and decide, by their own free will, to express that inner quality."

He pauses and then continues, "I guess what I am saying is that, even though every person has the potential of becoming aligned with the will of God – and hence able to build and participate in an ideal society – only God has the power to bring the experience of the inner quality to

sufficient numbers of people to create an ideal society. We – as individuals – seem incapable of producing the ideal society on our own because it requires too many of us to be enlightened at the same time."

Martin says, "I personally think an ideal society is possible. But I think it is highly unlikely because of the nature of man and because God has given mankind free will to pretty much do as he pleases in this dimension of time and space. I do not believe that God would give man free will and then take it away in order to create a perfect society. Society is man's own creation, and it will likely so remain. And if society is man's creation, then it will reflect the strengths and weaknesses of its creator. Since man is imperfect, society will be imperfect, and all social institutions – including government – will be imperfect as well. I don't see how you can get around that."

Mark shakes his head and observes, "With God all things are possible."

Morya comments, "Well, again, both of you are correct in some ways. But, for the sake of discussion, let's assume Martin's analysis is true – at least for the foreseeable future. To your question of the evening, Martin, what do you think the implications are for war and peace in the future, if gradual improvement in people and in society actually occurs?"

Martin stirs the fire with a stick and responds, "I think that most major governments have concluded that war and other forms of violence are not the preferred solutions to their problems. The costs of war are too great. But there are fanatical groups such as terrorists and dictators who continue to wage war as a means of advancing their interests. Therefore, while the number of armed conflicts between nations will likely diminish, hot spots of local or regional conflict will occur."

He pauses and then continues, "Countries will always have different and conflicting interests that sometimes prove impossible to resolve. This is the nature of international politics, and it likely will continue into the future. We can hope and expect, however, that as leaders and peoples become better educated, they will see options other than violence to resolve their differences. Overall, it seems that a reduction in war will occur, but that war will not be entirely eliminated. If you factor in the possibility of greater numbers of people actually becoming aware of their inner qualities, then the possibility of war would be reduced even further."

Mark adds, "For two reasons. First, the inner quality provides an individual with access to the higher mind, and the higher mind perceives many more options from which to choose in addressing complex issues. Second, the spiritual experience accompanying the discovery of the inner quality helps one to identify more closely with one's true self, one's fellowman, and the global community. This expanded sense of self-awareness will tend to draw leaders and peoples closer together in a more concerted effort to address common concerns. And, as Morya has so eloquently reminded us, when people of goodwill work together to find a commonly beneficial solution to problems, those solutions usually can be found. The bottom line here is that higher levels of education will teach mankind the interdependencies that link our interests, and a greater awareness of the inner quality and higher mind will enable people to solve more of their problems. Together, these factors will likely work together to reduce the frequently of conflict and increase the peaceful resolution of international issues. That is what I think."

Everyone nods their agreement and satisfaction over the course of the dialogue and Morya says, "I suggest we end our discourse for the time being and talk about our new adventure for tomorrow. We will be leaving in a couple of days and we want to fill every moment of our

vacation with a fond memory of the majesty of these surroundings." Everyone then relaxed to enjoy the evening's fire and the peaceful sounds of the nearby stream.

Day Fifteen: Bitterroot National Forest

The following day was bright and sunny, so after breakfast the three friends decided to drive out to Missoula, Montana, and explore the Bitterroot National Forest area, especially some of the gravel roads off Highway 93. On the drive out I-90 from Billings, the men enjoyed coffee and donuts picked up along the way and remarked on the beautiful scenery. They all agreed it would be wonderful to have some property out here, but Martin reminded them that the winters in this part of the country were bitterly cold and windy. After consideration, they concluded that visits in the late spring or early fall were the best options.

The Need to Survive and to Transcend

Near Bozeman, Martin raises a new topic for discussion. "I have been thinking about the roles of survival and transcendence in human affairs, and how these twin motivations influence people as they go about their daily lives. By their nature, individuals cannot ignore the drive to survive, nor the need to transcend themselves to meet ever more challenging circumstances. It seems to me that these two motivations are keys to mankind's evolutionary progress. They are also intertwined, because survival is enhanced by transcendence, and transcendence is only possible if one survives."

He pauses to point out a large buck standing in a field close to the road, then continues, "Yet, human behavior can be influenced quite differently by these two motivations. For example, a person will do almost anything to survive – lie, cheat, steal, kill. But, to transcend himself, a person will often seek to control these survival instincts and instead cultivate his higher vision and nobler side. In my estimation, it is the contradiction between these two basic motivations that explain – to a great extent – why people are so often conflicted between their moral ideals and their actual behavior. The desire to do better and the perceived need to behave in amoral ways are natural expressions of motivations springing from inside of ourselves. If both morality and amorality spring from our natural selves, then why is the one praised and the other criticized in most spiritual teachings? Logically speaking, it doesn't make sense, other than the explanation that society has artificially created moral guidelines which are not at all based on nature or even on God's will. Morality, in other words, might perhaps best be seen as nothing more than a social construct, with no reality at all except in people's minds. If we are both moral and amoral, then why do we place such emphasis on morality? Why not just be natural? Isn't that what being one's true self actually is?"

Mark and Morya both laugh. Mark then says, "Thank God you are not a national leader, Martin. That is one of the most perverse arguments I have ever heard! You would have us all be savages, rather than the finely cultured people which we are." Martin smiles at Mark's exaggerated reply, but acknowledges the beginning of a counter-argument.

Morya, who has enjoyed this exchange, comments, "That's a good one, Martin, and I know from our conversations that you are positing an argument for the sake of discussing an important point, rather than favoring a return to barbarism on a global scale. Yes, all men do have twin motivations for survival and transcendence, but is not the evolution of mankind from roving nomad to modern civilization proof that humanity is moving from a predominant concern about survival to a greater desire to realize the full potential of the human condition? Is not that evolution in mankind's consciousness both natural and good? Is not that evolution the same path an individual goes through as he decides to improve his character after discovering his inner

quality? And isn't this path of progress the exact one taught to us by world teachers throughout history?

"We human beings have the creative ability not only to change our environment but also to change ourselves. Since we have both the choice and the ability to realize our higher potential, shouldn't we work to create a better self? Shouldn't we all strive to improve our environment, along with ourselves? You speak of the nature of man as being brutish, but higher sides of man exist as well. So why not tap into that inner potential and become the very best person we can be? Clearly, that would lead to a better world. And certainly that would reflect the will of God for the individual and for society. And clearly a better society would better ensure the survival of the species – thereby fulfilling that side of nature's evolutionary purposes."

Martin nods and stares out the window. After a while, he says, "Well, I cannot really counter that argument, because I agree that there is no contradiction between man being natural in a state of early development and man being natural in a state of advanced achievement. Survival and transcendence have always existed, but like yin and yang the balance between the two is constantly shifting. The trick for the person is to know which of these two sides of himself he should be expressing at a given time."

Morya comments, "That is why, when individuals do reach a certain level of development, they need to know their inner quality and true self and to be able to use their higher mind. These are capabilities all people have, and their coming into prominence in a person's life is as natural as having a desire to eat and procreate. All of these things, and more, are what make us human beings. At this stage of mankind's evolution, we need to focus more on developing our spiritual capabilities in order to make the next great leap in our progress as a species of life. And part of

this progress is developing new models of governance, which is what we have tried to think through in terms of the commonwealth of goodwill."

By then the three men were getting hungry, so they stopped at the next McDonald's and then continued on their journey, with frequent comment on the beauty of the land through which they were travelling. They returned to the Lodge toward evening, had a quick dinner, and then retired to their rooms early because they intended to go on a long hike tomorrow, their final day, weather permitting.

Day Sixteen: Hiking

They arose early, had a quick breakfast of oatmeal and toast, and then got into Martin's truck for a trip down the Chief Joseph Highway to one of the trails they saw when they had driven through the area earlier. Turning off the highway, they drove a few miles down a rough dirt road and then came to a clearing. They parked the truck, Martin strapped on his revolver in case of bears, Mark took out a can of bear spray, and Morya loaded up on water and energy bars. The three men set off on a narrow game trail, which led to a high plateau overlooking the deep gorges of Clarks Fork of the Yellowstone River. After walking several miles along this ridge line, the men stopped to build a fire, warm their hands, and snack on the energy bars and water Morya had stuffed into his backpack. As the men lay back on the grass and stared at the clouds rolling across the bright, sun filled sky, they quietly absorbed the majesty of this place, so far removed from the city life in which they worked and would soon return. After a while, they headed back to the truck and then returned to the condo by 4:30 to prepare a final evening meal of baked chicken, fresh salad, and French bread. When all was eaten and the dishes cleaned and put away, the three friends sat in front of the fire and listened to the night sounds of the forest and the creek. There was no moon that evening, so the stars were brilliant and the evening crisp and cool.

The fire was comforting, and the hot spiced tea delicious, so the men were very relaxed as they recounted the day's adventure.

Becoming the True Self

Mark spoke up, "I couldn't help but think as I was walking on that trail today that life really is a journey. The interesting thing is that we neither know the beginning nor the end. All we know is the present and that small part of the past we can remember. Most of our journey is never retained in our memories, yet we are constantly experiencing so many things. Often I wonder: what is it all for? Are we here, born in this life, only to live in the moment, or is there purpose in our journey?"

Martin and Morya look at Mark, who continues, "I can remember when I was a small child and my mother taking care of me. I can also remember when she was about to pass from this earth, how I looked at her aging features and wondered about all the things she had experienced but which I would never know. And now, as I am getting older, I see my children and realize that they cannot possibly share the experiences I have had. Sure, they listen to my stories, but they can't experience the pain and joys I have felt. Nor can they learn the hard lessons, good and bad, that I have come to know over the years. It seems as if the doors on one's life are opened and closed only for oneself, and we leave very little behind. Sometimes I think that is such a waste. How often I have counseled my children to do this or that, only to have them do the opposite. I have learned through the years that one cannot impart wisdom to children, because they lack the experience from whence the wisdom comes. They wind up making the same mistakes I made, and I can do little to help them. All I can do is love them."

The men are quiet for a while, and then Morya says, "Yes, this is a characteristic of humankind. I know that the world teachers, having spent their lives gaining wisdom that would benefit

humanity, find it sometimes disappointing that those who hear their message are unable to comprehend its true meaning. Still, progress in men's understanding incrementally goes on. This is certainly true technologically and, to some extent, culturally, but improvement in mankind's character is indeed slow. The motivations and actions that influenced the ancients are pretty much the same that guide us today."

Martin comments, "And yet, if we think about it, progress at the individual level is being made. In this single lifetime, we ourselves have improved our understanding and, hopefully, improved our character. As we grow in wisdom, the doors of understanding open and the lessons taught by our parents and teachers become clearer to us. How often have I turned my thoughts to older and wiser friends and suddenly understood what they were saying to me. Maybe, rather than thinking about mankind's improvement as a group, we should think about mankind's improvement as individuals."

Mark adds, "Still, one would think that self-improvement should have a more widespread influence on one's family and society as a whole. Isn't that our assumption about how conditions might arise for a more ideal government in the future? Are we saying that social progress is not cumulative, but rather must start all over again with each generation? I think of the greatness of classical Greece and how its achievements faded from memory for a thousand years. Who knows what insights might lay buried beneath the dust of history."

Morya says, "This indeed is an interesting point. Should we focus our efforts on today, by seeking self-improvement first; or should we focus on the future, with a view toward improving humanity over generations? Might the evolution of mankind be something we should leave in the hands of God, and only be concerned about ourselves, our loved ones, and perhaps our current social, political, and ecological environment? Even though man has a certain capacity to

determine the future, his actual ability to make that determination is rather small. We are all left with the need to improve ourselves first, and then to do what we can to help those who follow."

Mark nods and comments, "I am reminded of the old teaching that sufficient unto the day is the evil thereof, and other adages advising physicians to first heal themselves before attempting to heal others. The message from past religious leaders has often been that we need to concentrate on self-improvement, before we think about improving the world."

Martin shakes his head slightly and says, "I have to confess that, in my own life, I tended to try to heal the world before I was whole myself. I tried to avoid the hard discipline of mastering my passions and instead concentrated on doing good things for society as a whole. From my experience, good intentions are not enough. Your service to your country or society will always be limited by your own weaknesses. I suppose, if I had my life to do over, I would have worked harder on self-improvement before I tried to take on the challenges of the world. But I found it easier to wrestle with the problems of the world than to try to overcome my own imperfections." Morya observes, "We all have learned that lesson, but let's not be too hard on ourselves. Did we not make the best decisions we could at the time? Mankind as a species has certain limitations, and one of those is that we do not have genetic memory to pass our lessons learned from one generation to the next. On the other hand, we have tremendous capability to learn one person at a time. We all must walk our own path in life. That is the price of free will.

"The most interesting thing about this theory is that it reflects God's intention for the soul from the very beginning. The human soul could never mature until it mastered the use of free will. When it finally does, the soul can then play its full role in the unfolding drama of life. From this theoretical perspective, life on earth is a schoolroom in which perfection is not expected but

lessons must be learned. If we look at things from this paradigm, we can see the role of ideals, the need for pragmatism in improving ourselves and conditions in the world, and the majesty and wonder of the will of God in action through the evolution of the human soul."

Morya continues, "I think the key is to remember that we are individual souls. That is what the human species is: a collection of individuals, each of which has a soul, free will, and a fairly developed mental capacity. On this planet we are unique. On other systems of worlds, maybe we are not so advanced, but that is beside the point. If we accept the premise that we evolve as individuals, that we are in a human body to develop and master our individuality, then the priority of our lives should be clear. We should, each and every one of us, play our unique role in life to the best of our ability. Some will be kings, some will be paupers, and roles change over time. It doesn't make that much difference in the larger scheme of things. What does make a difference is that we play our role well and not fail in our duty for this embodiment. The conditions of society are important to the development of the individual, but the individual himself is the one who must progress in life and develop good character by becoming the real or true self. We should not feel guilty about an imperfect society. We should not feel guilty if we ourselves are not perfect. The priority for mankind is to improve ourselves. If we can improve ourselves, then an improved society and system of government will soon follow.

"I do not mean to say that people should become perfect before they seek to improve society or government. These steps in improvement occur incrementally in a spiral rather than linearly in a straight line of progression. I mean that we should become – to the fullest extent possible for us – the very best of ourselves, which we call our inner quality. The true self is simply the individual expressing his or her inner quality. The true self is not an end-state that, once attained, remains forever static. The true self is a state of consciousness that strives continuously by free will to

express the inner quality in greater and greater measure. Becoming our true self should be our personal goal. If one's character is inclined toward politics, then the individual, in becoming his or her true self, will naturally work to improve systems and institutions of governance."

Morya sips his tea, and continues: "You see, the true self is not a portrait or a photographic image. The true self is dynamic and changing. But it is changing in a certain direction. The true self moves in accordance with the pattern of the inner quality of the individual. You, Martin, indicated that you believe honor and integrity are your inner qualities. Your true self is you expressing honor and integrity. The ideal true self is what you would be if you always tried to express your inner quality. It is what you are. But to become the true self requires a decision by free will on the part of the individual. We exercise our free will to choose what we will become. Choose to be your inner quality, and you choose to become your true self. And, over time and through effort, your true self is what you will become."

Martin and Mark ponder this, and then agree that it is an insight well worth remembering. After a few moments of staring at the fire, Martin says, "Well, my friends, our trip to Yellowstone is ending tomorrow. We have been here, during this fine vacation, for nearly three weeks. We have grown beards and become stronger through daily hikes. We have become better people because we have witnessed the beauty and vastness of the land around us. And, most importantly, we have learned from each other the importance of always trying to improve our character. If I were to take a single lesson from our discussions over the past few days, I would conclude that the key to improved government resides primarily in our own selves, not in any institution or in any other person. If we want a better government tomorrow, then we must work to improve ourselves today. We must recognize our inner quality; we must choose to express that inner quality as we go about our daily lives. As we do so, society and government will improve as well, because –

after all – society and government are comprised of ourselves, none other. That is what I have learned here, and I treasure the opportunity to have shared these experiences and lessons with you, my close and enduring friends."

Mark and Morya smile broadly and all toast with their cups the end of a great vacation and a promise of future trips together.

Chapter 2: Building and Sustaining Spiritual Communities

The following year, the three friends decided to invite their wives to a late fall, weekend retreat at the Muleshoe Ranch near Willcox, Arizona. The Nature Conservancy had established lodging for small groups – perfect for what the families had in mind. Each had rented a fully equipped casita in the headquarters of the 49,000-acre ranch in the Galiuro Mountains. Preserved as a Cooperative Management Area in a joint project between the Conservancy, the Bureau of Land Management, and the Coronado National Forest, the ranch featured natural hot springs, lots of wildlife, and miles of trails and unimproved roads through rugged desert terrain, deeply carved canyons, and rocky hills. Martin had recommended the area as one he was familiar with. He liked the ranch's remoteness, its wilderness setting, and the plentiful geodes and other interesting rock specimens found around the ancient volcanic outcroppings on the ranch and adjacent open ranges.

At Mark's suggestion, the three friends decided that the topic for discussion during the holiday would be community, specifically the characteristics of a spiritual community and what would be required to make such a community successful in modern times. Morya liked this idea because – from his perspective – an individual could progress spiritually only so far by himself. At some point, people would have to work within communities to advance their spiritual evolution. Martin was initially skeptical of such a discussion, but nonetheless agreed to participate because his friends had earlier indulged him for three weeks discussing politics and government – topics very close to his heart.

After a three-hour's drive from Tucson, they arrived at the isolated lodging area on late Friday afternoon. The rest of the day was spent unpacking and settling into their casitas. Each family ate

its own dinner, and around 8:00 pm everyone gathered in the living room of the King Casita that Mark and his wife Elizabeth had rented.

Morya's wife Durdhara, whom everyone called Helen, had prepared a delicious tray of Indian tea snacks. Sitting in front of the fire in the cozy chairs and coach, the group chatted for a while, with the ladies discussing the decor of the casitas and the men commenting favorably on the snacks and the weather. After a while, Martin spread a detailed map of Southwestern Arizona on part of the table and traced where he thought the group should go tomorrow. He said this would require a four-wheel drive vehicle, so he suggested they all pack into his rented Grand Cherokee. The ladies had other ideas, with Martin's wife Marcella proposing instead that everyone hike the nearby trails leading to one of the local hot springs. Realizing that their wives did not want to bounce around in a crowded Jeep for several hours just to collect a few rocks, the men relented and agreed to the more leisurely hike. The women promised that, for the following two days, the men could pretty much do as they wanted, as long as they returned home for dinner before dark.

Morya then suggested they walk outside to view the stars, since it was a new moon and the constellations would be clearly visible in the nearly cloudless sky. There was a chill in the air, so they all went to get a coat. A few moments later, they strolled several hundred yards away from the courtyard to an area where the stars seemed almost within reach. Mark tried to point out a few of the major constellations, but the brilliance of the stars and their vast numbers made it nearly impossible to see any familiar patterns.

Day One: Walk in the Desert

The next morning, everyone ate breakfast in their casitas and then, about 9 am, met in the courtyard to begin their hike. Martin had recommended that everyone wear sturdy boots and long

pants, and they all wore a sweatshirt or light jacket and carried a bottle or two of water. Mark brought a small backpack with extra water and some energy bars, and Martin handed walking sticks to the women to help them navigate the rocky and at times steep trails.

The hike was pleasant, although Helen slipped once on some loose rocks and slightly bruised her hand. Mark got pricked by a cactus and Martin almost turned his ankle stepping into a hole. But other than that, spirits were high and the group thoroughly enjoyed the bright sunshine and blue sky. They walked about five miles, all told, and felt they accomplished something for the effort. The hot springs reeked of sulfur, a testament of the volcanic origin of the area.

By mid-afternoon, they returned to the lodging area, tired and with sunburned faces. Martin suggested they fix their own lunches, rest a while before the pot luck dinner planned for around 6:30. After lunch, the ladies prepared their contributions to the dinner, and the men talked of politics while sitting in the shaded courtyard and drinking iced tea. Around 6:00, Helen and Marcella brought their dishes over to the King Casita and helped Elizabeth arrange the table. They called the men into dinner, and smiles quickly appeared on their faces as they eyed the waiting feast.

After dinner, topped with coffee and dessert, the men thanked the ladies and helped clear the table. They then politely excused themselves and walked out to the lawn chairs in the courtyard. Martin asked Morya and Mark whether they were up to an off-road trip tomorrow, and they all agreed on an early start right after breakfast. Mark got a fire started in the open pit as the women came out with cups of steaming yogi tea and sat down beside their husbands.

Perspectives on Communities

Martin says, "Ladies, that was such an enjoyable meal. And – if I may speak for us menfolk – we are so happy you were able to come out for this vacation." The women smile over their cups, and

Elizabeth replies, "Well, you never know what mischief you might be getting into, so we wanted to come to make sure everything would be all right. Besides, we need a vacation, too, and this is an ideal opportunity to have a little adventure without the kids."

Mark says half-jokingly, "You know, we go on these trips not for mischief but to talk about important issues that can help save the world." Helen laughs. "And what was the big, important issue for this trip, if I might ask?" Mark says, "We were going to discuss communities. Especially what a spiritual community means in today's world and how such a community might be successful." Marcella asks innocently, "And perhaps you thought that we would not be able to contribute to this discussion?" Mark quickly adds, "No, of course not – I mean, no, we did not think you had no ideas on the subject. It's just our habit to discuss these things on our own."

Elizabeth comments, "I assure you, gentlemen, that no successful community could exist for long without women. In fact, I would say that women are the foundation of a successful community, because they are the ones who hold families together and families are what comprise a thriving and successful community. Wouldn't you agree?" She raises her eyes to Martin.

Martin answers carefully, "Well, yes, that is true. A community to exist beyond a generation or two must have families to sustain it. But if we are going to discuss this, then let's be more analytical about what a community actually is." The ladies exchange amused glances as Martin continues: "First of all, there is the issue of the type of community we are discussing. Then, we must talk about what makes a successful community of that type. And, finally, we need to be aware of the points of failure that cause such a community to not succeed."

Marcella smiles and comments, "That is a very good analytical framework, Martin, but I think if you would ask a hundred women what makes a successful community, almost all would say that

a community must, first and foremost, provide protection and sustenance for the families of that community. Why live in a community if it does not offer a suitable environment in which to raise your children and a reasonable opportunity for you and your mate to provide for family needs? That to me – and probably to most women I know – are the essential purposes of a community, whether it is a spiritual community or any other kind of community."

Both Elizabeth and Helen nod, and Elizabeth adds: "As you know, my husband has been involved with spiritual communities for most of his adult life. Some of these have been successful; others have closed their doors for various reasons. But in every case that I can remember, there always was tension between the spiritual aspirations of some of the members of the community and the practical considerations of what it takes to raise children and support one's family. In my view, this tension should not exist. But it does. And that has always been one of my concerns as a mother and as a spiritual devotee."

Helen says, "I think that the focus of community, spiritual or otherwise, should be on supporting the family and the raising of children. If you cannot do that successfully, then the community will fail. Men and women will always be attracted to each other and want to form families. It is a natural instinct and one that cannot be ignored or hidden under a cloak of so-called spirituality."

Morya, who had been listening attentively to this discussion, comments, "I believe our ladies have pinpointed the exact issue we should be discussing: how can a community be both spiritual and family oriented? I can think of numerous spiritual communities that have failed because they could not accommodate families. God intends for children to be brought into this world, so it makes no sense for seekers of God to deny the importance of family."

Elizabeth says, "From my perspective, a family is a spiritual microcosm, and the lessons of spirituality played out in family drama are very critical to one's spiritual advancement. If someone can't learn the lessons of spiritual attunement and proper social behavior in a family setting, then it can be difficult for them to function well in a community of any sort."

Martin observes, "I do not disagree with what is being said here, but I would like to remind everyone that we are, first and foremost, individual souls in embodiment for the purposes of discovering our inner God-given qualities and then expressing those qualities to the best of our abilities in our daily lives. We are individual souls. Our communities do not have a soul. Communities are where we live. In discussing spiritual communities, we should concentrate on how those communities can support and sustain our souls, not on how to sustain our families. By definition, spiritual communities exist, or should exist, as places where we as individuals gather for our own spiritual evolution."

Marcella raises her eyebrows and asks, "Are you saying that your personal spiritual evolution is more important than your family? Do you really believe God thinks that way?"

Defensively, Martin tries to clarify his views. "Now don't misinterpret what I said. Even though a family does not have a soul, the family is like a nest for a group of linked souls. A family should be a place where every soul is loved, nourished, and given the strength and wisdom to develop to his or her fullest potential. But a spiritual community's main purpose, it seems to me, is to nourish the individual soul."

Morya thinks about this and says, "What you are saying, Martin, is insightful but it can lead to discrimination against families in communities that seek to serve spiritual ends. That is the historic experience, and we see its repercussions in the ill treatment of women around the world.

Men, whether they seek to be spiritual or not, find their attention drawn to women and their children. Some men who pursue greater spirituality for themselves view this attraction as a weakness they cannot overcome, and they subsequently look down upon women because of their "ungodly" power of attraction. But, in truth, God intends for men and women to work together to advance their individual souls and the souls they bring forth into the world as children."

Elizabeth offers, "Let's look at this from the perspective of a man and a woman. A man – generally speaking – is much more self-motivated than a woman. A woman – again, generally speaking – is much more attuned to the opinions of others and more considerate of others' needs." She looks around, and everyone nods. She continues, "So we have two slightly different points of view in terms of individuality. The man is more self-centered; the woman is more community-oriented. I would venture that God Himself – or Herself – is aware of the needs of both the individual and the community. In fact, every soul must learn – I would hazard to guess – the important lesson that life is both for the individual and for the community. No one can pass into heaven without first learning what it means to be 'self' and what it means to be 'selfless.' What it means to be an individual, and what it means to be a member of a community."

Morya smiles at this and says, "That is a wonderful explanation, Elizabeth, articulated as only a mother can do. In my view, God is both male and female; God is both individual and collective. In fact, I consider God not only a 'He,' but also a 'She,' and even an 'Us.' If God is the God of the universe, then God is within each one of us, and each one of us is within God. To understand our relationship with God, therefore, requires that we be aware of both self and selflessness."

Mark says, "I recall once hearing of a great master called the 'Spirit of Selflessness.' It is said that the master earned this title, first, by mastering himself completely, and then surrendering that self to the universality of God and life everywhere." Martin asks, "Are you saying, Mark, that one's orientation toward the self or toward the community depends on where one stands in his spiritual evolution?"

Mark thinks for a moment and replies, "It would seem to be the case, although I am not saying that the one perspective is spiritually superior to the other. Spiritual growth does not appear to be linear, but rather like a spiral. What do you ladies think?"

Marcella answers, "I think that may be true. I am fairly comfortable with Martin being selfcentered, while I focus on serving the needs of our family. And I never even consider whether one or the other of us is the more spiritually advanced. We are parts of a whole and we have different roles in life. Maybe in the future he will be born a woman and I will be born a man. Perhaps that is sometimes required for the soul as it learns to develop the self and then to surrender that self for the good of others."

Helen and Elizabeth agree while Martin shifts in his chair. Helen says, "Really, Martin, there is a natural cycle at work here. I remember being told that we must possess something in order to surrender something. That is why love in a family is so important to a mother. The more she is loved, the more love she has to give. It seems to be the nature of things."

Martin replies, "Let's not forget that women are not the only ones to sacrifice the self. Men have always sacrificed their lives for their loved ones and for their communities. And, to be honest, I have found many women – present company excluded, of course – to be as self-centered as men in many respects. How do you explain that?"

Elizabeth laughs and says, "Yes, I admit it is true. We do have a selfish side. We have learned that from men. We would only hope they would learn a little selflessness from us at the same time!" Everyone chuckles and Elizabeth continues, "Seriously speaking, we all know that many

male and female personality traits are selfish and many traits of both genders are not. We are not saying that men are selfish and women are unselfish. I think we are seeing the yin and yang of creation at work here. There is a time for the soul to focus on the development of the true self, and there is a time for the soul to understand that it is part of a much greater whole."

After a few moments, Martin stirs the fire with a stick and says, "Well, it has been a fun conversation and I know that we will revisit these ideas tomorrow night. I suggest we prepare for our adventure tomorrow. Are you ladies sure you don't want to go off-roading with us in the morning?" The ladies smile and shake their heads, saying they have other plans in mind. The couples get up, say goodnight, and return to their casitas.

Day Two: Galiuro Wilderness

In the morning, the men got up early, ate breakfast with their wives, packed a few snacks and bottles of water, and met in the commons about 7:30. Marcella brought out a small ice chest with hot dogs, buns, and the makings for a cook-out Martin had said they planned for lunch. Both Helen and Elizabeth walked out with their husbands to see them off. After putting everything into the Jeep, Martin sat down behind the wheel and Mark and Morya got in. They waved at their wives and drove out to the Muleshoe Ranch Road and headed up the creek bed to the sign-in sheet for the wilderness area. Getting back in, he shifted the vehicle into four-wheel drive and proceeded to drive up a steep bedrock incline to get on National Forest Road 691. After several jarring miles, they passed into the Coronado National Forest and finally parked just inside the Galiuro Wilderness area. There, they got out, put on their day packs, and started exploring.

Mark says, "This really is quite amazing, Martin. Much different than Yellowstone and the Beartooths, but magnificent in its own way. You can see forever in this desert air, yet I did not

see a single other vehicle the entire ride. When you listen ... you hear nothing but the wind and the occasional cry of a hawk. I don't think I have ever been in a place so remote and so ... I want to say desolate ... but life appears to be everywhere when you look carefully: tuffs of grass, weathered trees, shrubs in all directions, and all types of holes in the ground for different creatures. I can see why people who come here fall in love with the place. Your mind expands to the far reaches of the horizon, and you feel totally alone yet part of nature."

Morya, breathing deeply the cool, clear air, nods and points to a small group of mule deer meandering up a nearby hill. He adds, "I have heard that the desert does this to people, whether in the Sahara or here in southern Arizona. The desert seems to speak to the soul. Perhaps what really happens is that the silence of the desert allows one to hear his own soul."

Martin nods and indicates with his rock pick a volcanic outcropping near the top of an adjacent hill. "Let's head up that way first. These outcroppings often contain geodes. As we get close, look for oval shaped rocks and loose crystals on the ground. But be careful, everything here is sharp and will cut you." Martin heads off and the others follow, grateful they had worn heavy boots and thick pants to navigate through the sharp rocks and thorns.

After about 30 minutes of walking, they were at the base of a large volcanic outcropping. Martin pointed out the geodes embedded in the lava, noting some that had broken off revealing the beautiful crystals inside. Once they had identified what they were looking for, Morya and Mark started exploring around the base of the outcrop and soon discovered many fine specimens they put into their canvas map bags provided by Martin. Martin, meanwhile, walked further up the hill, where he found some larger crystals that seemed to have come from a nearby vein. Martin shouted to Morya and Mark to come up, and then carefully began to chisel out some large, clear

crystals. He also noticed a vein of green fluorite, which he pointed out to his friends as they came up. They immediately began to work on the vein with great enthusiasm.

A couple of hours later, the men were exhausted and loaded down with geodes, crystals, fluorite, and other minerals which had caught their eye. They sat for a few moments, drinking water and eating energy bars, looking down across the valley. In the distance, they could see Bassett Peak, nearly 8,000 feet high.

Martin says, "In all of our talk about community, I must say that I would rather sit here in the desert, watching wildlife and talking to a couple of close friends, than live in a large community and try to be social and nice all the time. I think our womenfolk consider me to be an odd ball, but many times I prefer to be alone rather than to be in a group. Also, amazing enough, I never feel closer to God than when I am alone in the wild beauty of nature. Looking at a vein of crystals in a bed of rock makes me feel humble and grateful to be part of the magnificence of God. On such occasions, I feel at one with the grass, the rocks, the sky, the mountains, and the creatures all around – like we are all brothers and sisters here on earth, living on the bounty the Creator has provided us. I must confess that I never feel as close to God in a community of people. I need space in my life to nourish my spirituality, not the confines of a community."

Mark, sipping his water, leans back against a large rock and says, "I can appreciate that, Martin. But for me, I feel closest to God when I mediate upon the vastness of His creation, roaming in my mind through the various dimensions of life – physical and spiritual – and sensing how the Brotherhood of Light is linked across the cosmos with a common purpose in mind: to express and expand the will of God as it is given them to understand. When my consciousness reaches that point of realization, I feel at peace and at one with God and His creation. This sense of

oneness makes me feel at ease in a spiritual community because I know we are all looking for the same experience."

Morya, meanwhile, is looking across the valley in silence. He then says, "I was thinking about what Durdhara said to me the other day. We were discussing the joys our family had brought to us, and she commented that she feels closest to God when she looks into the bright, innocent eyes of a baby. In those eyes, she said, are the hopes and expectations of the universe. Those eyes, she said, are the eyes of God."

Mark adds, "That is a beautiful statement. Elizabeth said something similar a few years ago. We were looking at Mount Shasta from one of the many pull-offs on Interstate 5 and I had mentioned how majestic the mountain was – a symbol of the power of God. She said she too feels that power, but she feels closest to God when she meditates upon the Mother of the Universe – that part of the Creator that nurtures all of life and without which nothing could be born or sustained."

Martin, thinking fondly of Marcella, says, "My wife says she feels closest to God when singing hymns in a choir, the many voices blending in intricate and never duplicated ways to express the myriad aspects of God, His children, and the prayers of the faithful here on earth."

The men were quiet for a while. Then Morya says, "I think this discussion teaches us something important about communities. We should remember that the earth is a schoolroom in which we, as souls, discover our potential and learn through years of experience to realize that potential in ever greater portions of our lives. Each of us experiences God differently, and each of us understands God differently. Yet we all worship the same God. A spiritual community exists to

enable each of us to share our blessings and insights with others. But we also need our times of separation so we can commune one-on-one with the Creator."

He drinks some water, and continues, "A spiritual community must accommodate the individual soul and its unique needs, as well as bring together souls sharing a common purpose. I think we are talking about, not just one community, but many, many communities, spanning continents and cultures and hundreds of years. Our dharma and our karma naturally place us in different communities at different times – one in India, one in the United States, one focused on farming, one centered on trade, one led by a single person, one led by consensus, and so on. The community with which one is affiliated changes over time, because souls evolve, with different lessons of life needed at different times."

Morya then announces he is hungry. His two companions smile in agreement, and all head back to the Jeep for their cook-out. The men were famished by the time they got to the Jeep. Martin took out the hot dogs and makings, while Mark and Morya gathered small mesquite branches from the surrounding area. Soon a hot fire was going, and the men sat in camp chairs propping their feet on the rocks surrounding the fire, warming their hands. Even though the sun was brilliant with hardly a cloud in the sky, the air was chilly with a breeze coming down from the mountains, where a patch or two of what could be snow could be seen in the distance. After eating, the men relaxed, enjoying the sun on their faces and looking out across the landscape which seemed to extend to the ends of the earth.

Spiritual and Secular Communities

Mark finally broke the silence and, gesturing to the horizon, says, "Out here, where there is such solitude and yet close companionship amongst us around this fire, I wonder if there really is a fundamental difference between a spiritual community and other forms of community. I mean,

think about it, the environment draws us closer together – sometimes spiritually, sometimes culturally. The environment has a great impact upon us. Maybe the environment in which a community is formed is a key determinant of whether it is successful, and maybe even the type of community it is."

Martin observes, "From what I can gather, the nature of a community is pretty much determined by the purpose of the people who put it together. Families are a basic community, and they are bonded by blood line and affection, as well as the natural instincts of men and women to raise children in a protected environment. Larger communities, such as tribes, form because survival is easier in a group and there are economic benefits in exchanging goods and services. Still larger communities are established through political processes or a unifying military leader. The very largest communities, such as nation-states, are complex entities comprised of multiple smaller communities, all held together by common institutions, contiguous land mass, and a sense of citizenship or belonging to a defined group."

He drinks some water and continues, "In my view, a spiritual community can be large or small. We have countries in the Middle East that could be described as large spiritual communities. We have communes right here in the Tucson area that have been formed by spiritual leaders or built around common beliefs. All of these are spiritual in the sense that there is a common faith, an adherence to a certain lifestyle believed to be appropriate, and a common purpose or goal. That common purpose can, of course, be different between various spiritual communities. Some spiritual communities have as their goal the ascension of their members into higher planes of existence; some have as their goal the following of a particular doctrine or lineage of teachers; some have as their goal service to mankind in general or some disadvantaged group. I suppose the most universal theme in spiritual communities is the belief in, and commitment to, a certain

lifestyle believed to further one's spirituality. What that lifestyle is varies, of course, but the attempt to live according to that lifestyle – usually felt to be divinely inspired – is one of the signatures of a spiritual community."

Morya replies, "Still, like Mark, I believe there is something in the environment that draws souls together into a spiritual community. Certainly, an environment such as this frees the mind to commune more easily with one's soul, one's purpose in life. In this sense, an environment can reinforce or even make possible the success of a spiritual community. This is why, throughout history, spiritual communities often have been located in out-of-the-way places – at least out of the cities."

He pauses, then continues, "We have had perhaps thousands of spiritual communities throughout history. Most have ended. A few have continued through the centuries. Mark, you have established and lived in various spiritual communities. What has your experience taught you in terms of what makes a spiritual community successful?"

Leadership in Spiritual Communities

Mark replies, "I would say that leadership is perhaps the most critical factor. The purpose of a spiritual community should be spiritual in nature, that is, refinement of individual character and the uplifting experience of fellowship with others who share the same beliefs and values. It requires someone with great charisma to initially articulate a set of beliefs and to identify an appropriate lifestyle on which a spiritual community can be established. And good leadership is also required at key junctures of the community's development if it is to continue to succeed in its purposes."

Thinking for a moment, he continues, "Good leadership – whether from an individual or small group – is necessary to continually focus the community on what is important about its purpose.

If you do not have this constant point of reference, then people – being who they are – will deviate from their higher motivations and get caught up in the day-to-day experiences and challenges of life."

He reflects, "Being a leader in a spiritual community is a heavy responsibility. A true spiritual leader must exercise self-discipline and not abuse his or her authority. They may be surrounded by all the ornate trappings of spiritual office, but these are but symbols of things far more important. The old adage that absolute power corrupts absolutely is especially true in spiritual communities, because often there are no checks and balances on the authority of the leader – at least not from within the community itself. Members of spiritual communities tend to be believers, and believers want to hear from their leaders what they should do and what they should believe. This can lead to all sorts of rules set out by spiritual leaders – what to wear, what to eat, how to manage your relationship with your spouse, how to interact with members of the opposite sex, what to watch on TV or which music to listen to, etc. Some have argued that, if you are on a spiritual path, then every part of your life should be aligned with the requirements of that path – which are, of course, defined by the spiritual leaders."

Taking a bite from an energy bar, Mark continues, "The rules of behavior in secular communities are generally different from those followed in spiritual communities. Yet the two kinds of communities often interact with each other on a daily basis. What frequently occurs is that spiritual communities try to insulate their lifestyle from the outside world, but this creates problems of its own. Local secular communities become suspicious of what goes on in the spiritual communities. Young people in the spiritual community become attracted to the more liberal lifestyles of their secular schoolmates. New people who join the spiritual community sometimes bring with them habits not always compatible with the more strict standards of the

original spiritual community. After the glow of becoming a new member fades into routines of more disciplined behavior, there often is a period of rebellion on the part of newcomers.

"All of these challenges must be managed by the spiritual leader. And – let's be honest – the quality of leadership in a spiritual community varies greatly. To have the combination of spiritual insight, the power of the Holy Spirit, administrative skill, and the compassion of a counselor is rare in a single individual. Usually, leaders in spiritual communities have mastery in one or two of these areas, but not mastery in all. In these cases, their leadership and decision-making can be flawed, because spiritual leaders can only do what they are capable of doing. Followers in spiritual communities tend to believe their leaders are far more perfect than they in fact are. This can lead to some unfortunate events and disillusionment."

He shakes his head, and remarks, "I could go on and on about the challenges a spiritual leader faces. Most of these are practical and common sense. At the same time, the leader has to be attuned to the higher purposes of the group and the mission it is intended to serve. The leader must commune both with God and with his followers, to be led by a higher calling and to lead others in both spiritual and mundane matters. It is quite a challenge to balance these needs, to switch from one level of consciousness to another, from moment to moment. Good leadership is essential for the success of a spiritual community, but it is rare to find such leadership on a consistent basis."

Martin observes, "It is even rarer to have the mantle of spiritual leadership in a community successfully passed from one person to another. Often, organizations fortunate enough to have one good leader find themselves bereft of good leadership at the time of transition. I wonder, Mark, from your experience, if the role of a strong spiritual leader can be replaced by group leadership after the passing of the initial founder?"

Mark says, "That is a good question, Martin, and it is a necessary one because no leader lives forever." He thinks for a moment and continues, "In my experience, the first transition in leadership in a spiritual community goes relatively smoothly. The initial leader generally appoints his or her successor, who usually is a very close disciple. This heir apparent is almost always universally accepted by the members of the community. It is important to remember that most spiritual communities are hierarchical in nature. Community members tend to accept the idea that certain individuals are more deserving of leadership than others. So, if the original leader makes clear who is to be the successor, the first leadership transition can go smoothly."

He sips some water, warms his hands by the fire, and says, "But no two leaders are ever the same. Almost inevitably, the new leader will say things or do things differently from the original leader. When this occurs, there will be some among the membership who take exception to what the new leader is trying to do. Gradually, this creates a schism in the community between those who accept the new leader unconditionally and those who question the new leader's spiritual authority. Eventually, one or more factions may leave the community and perhaps form another community that follows what that group believes is the 'correct' interpretation of what the original leader intended."

Mark stops to point out a hawk gliding silently down a hill. He continues, "Moreover, the new leader will have his or her own style and emphasis. If they are charismatic, they will go out to the public and bring in new members which expand the organization. These new members are often different from the old members: a newer generation with new experiences and different expectations. The character of the organization gradually changes. The net result is that within a few years of the passing of the original leader, the organization is quite different. The fundamental teachings may remain largely intact, but the packaging of the message is different.

Some old members leave, some new members join. In short, even though the first transition to a new leader goes smoothly, there is set into motion an almost inevitable chain of events that result in a change in the community itself."

Martin asks, "Is this necessarily a bad thing?"

Mark replies, "No, I don't think so. Times change, circumstances change, leaders change, generations change. Change is inevitable. But some people adjust to change easier than others, especially when it comes to spiritual teachings and the cultural standards of behavior for community members."

He pauses and then continues, "But what is really interesting – and getting back to your original question, Martin – is what happens at the time of the transition from the second leader to subsequent leadership in the spiritual community? It has been my experience that the second leader often is unable to appoint a widely accepted successor. This transition from the second to the third leader is crucial in determining the future of the community and the continuity of its original beliefs. If procedures have been set into place to appoint a new leader after the retirement of the second leader, then the community can generally continue – with the evolution noted earlier taking place naturally. If procedures have not be set into place, or if those procedures result in the appointment of leaders not widely accepted by community members, then the community and the spiritual organization it supports will often become led by a coalition of leading members of the community. This tends to further splinter the organization, because there will usually be more leaders than there are positions of leadership. Some of those potential leaders who are not selected for community leadership will move on and a few will even start their own organizations."

Morya repeats Martin's earlier question: "Is that necessarily a bad thing, Mark?"

Mark smiles and answers, "Well, it might be, or it might not be – depending on multiple factors. A spiritual community led by committee can work well if the community itself is strong and supported by its members. It might not work well if the community has severe economic or social constraints, making it difficult for members to support themselves and their families, or if the committee becomes too bureaucratic or doctrinaire, thereby losing the organization's dynamic appeal to new members. There is also the key factor of the Holy Spirit. Some people have it in greater measure than others. In some ways, committee leadership is not necessarily the best vehicle through which the Holy Spirit can work. The Holy Spirit, while it can descend upon a group of people, seems best communicated through one spiritual leader at a time. In short, each stage of a spiritual community has its own set of leadership challenges. Nothing predetermines the success or the failure of the community. However, the role of leadership is vital, whatever form that leadership might take. Does that answer your question, Martin?"

Martin nods, "Yes. That is quite a good explanation, Mark. But other than leadership, what else is important to the success of a spiritual community?"

Before Mark answers, Morya interjects. "That was a good discussion, and it rings true in my experience as well. But look at the sun. We have about an hour and a half drive back to the lodge. Since we have our crystals, thanks to Martin, I suggest we return before the ladies start to worry – and we miss our dinners. What do you say?"

Mark and Martin. While Martin puts out the fire, the other two men load up the Jeep and get in. After a moment of once again taking in the scenery and privately giving thanks to God for a

wonderful day, Martin climbs into the driver's seat and starts back down the rough road to the lodge.

Masculine and Feminine Leadership Styles

By the time the men arrived back at the lodge, it was dusk. The ladies, who had been relaxing in the commons, walked up to the Jeep, welcomed their spouses, and expressed amazement at the beautiful geodes and crystals. After graciously accepting Elizabeth's invitation to come over to the King Casita about 8:00 for a glass of wine and some cheese and fruit, the couples returned to their individual casitas for dinner.

It was windy and cold by the time the couples gathered in the King Casita and, true to her word, Elizabeth had set out on the dining room table several bottles of wine and a wide assortment of cheese, sliced fruit, and crackers. Everyone complimented Elizabeth on the arrangement, and Martin expressed special pleasure at seeing the cheesecake off to the side. Elizabeth smiled and said everyone knew of his sweet tooth and that she hoped he would enjoy the treat. Martin moved over to help himself to a slice of cheesecake, but Marcella gently guided him toward the wine and cheese, around which everyone else had gathered to pick up a plate.

Seated comfortably by the fire in the living room, the couples chatted about the day's events and relaxed. The men related their adventures on the Jeep trail and rock collecting, and the women recounted their walks around the lodging area and the sighting of several coyotes trotting along the dry creek bed in front of the main lodge. After a second glass of wine and another helping of cheese and crackers, Marcella served Martin his slice of cheesecake, while the others politely declined. As Martin ate the dessert with an appreciative glance at Elizabeth, Marcella says, "Mark, I understand you made some interesting comments in regards to the role of leaders in a spiritual community. Would you like to share your observations with us?"

Mark took another sip of wine, and then summarized his views, to which the ladies nodded their understanding. Helen then asked, "Did you by any chance consider the different styles of leadership that might be used by a man or a woman in a spiritual community?"

Mark replies, "I was speaking of leadership in general, not really distinguishing between the styles of a man or a woman. I am not 100 percent sure there is much of a difference. A leader has certain responsibilities, and fulfilling those responsibilities requires certain traits and actions. But I may have oversimplified things. I would very much like to hear how you see leadership. Would women lead in a way significantly different from the leadership shown by a man?"

Elizabeth leans back into the chair and then straightens her back as she cradles the glass of wine in both hands. "Let me try to explain how I look at leadership. Women differ as much as men in their character and approaches to problems. But, generally, I would say that women prefer to lead by consensus rather than by explicit directives. They tend to listen more and to take into consideration the personalities, feelings, and relationships that are involved in decisions. They like to be involved in details, but they also like to delegate responsibility. They take their roles and responsibilities – and their authorities – quite seriously; and usually they are very hard working. However – and this is a subtle point – they often want and need the loyal and (dare I say) loving support of others. Women at heart are care-givers. In the transition from a founding leader – often a dominant male figure – to a woman successor (who may have been a close disciple or wife – possibly both), the new female leader may gather around herself a small, trusted group of advisors and friends to help her administer the community. Remember that the first male leader of a spiritual organization is often a strong personality, one who does not easily delegate executive responsibilities. So the woman successor may be highly trained spiritually but not necessarily trained administratively. She has to learn on the job, when the responsibilities are hers alone."

She sips her wine thoughtfully for a moment, and then continues, "What occurs all too often is that those she initially trusts and delegates responsibilities to fall short of her expectations. This can lead to some unpleasantness, because emotions always play an important role in a woman's life. The experience of having others fail her – those in whom she placed great trust and into whose hands she gave great power – hardens her somewhat. She becomes more self-reliant and then confident in her ability to lead and direct the organization and the community. This is a period of change in the community, because many of those who were initially her advisors move away from the community because they no longer have as much power as they had originally. Perhaps they don't feel as needed as before. But those who leave are quickly replaced by others. Assuming she is charismatic, the organization can expand and the community become stronger. The community quickly changes its character to reflect the style of its new self-assured leader. A spiritual community can thrive under a woman's leadership, just as it can thrive under a man. But the style of leadership will likely be different, and the character of the community will be different as well."

Martin asks, "We were talking today about the difficult transition from the second to the third generation of leadership in a spiritual community. Elizabeth, do you think this would pose an exceptional challenge to a woman who may need to pass the torch to someone else?"

Elizabeth was quiet in reflection, so Helen answers, "The time of passing is especially difficult for a woman who leads a community, because she is – in many ways – a mother to everyone in that community. As her time of passing draws near, her heart goes out to those she leaves behind, and she wants more than anything to leave the community in good hands. But, if experience is a

guide, the third generation of leadership in a community often is not as charismatic, not as gifted, not as spiritual, as either the first or second leader. I don't know why this is, but it seems to occur in the cycles of spiritual communities. There are exceptions, I am sure, but the transition from the second to the third generation of leader – male or female – is often a problematic one." Martin says, "I personally think that spiritual communities during the second period of leadership need to put into place some consensual-based mechanism to select successive leaders. No dynasty can last forever. A spiritual community must prepare for the eventuality of an administrative-type leadership rather than a charismatic-type leadership."

After considering this, Morya comments, "I have observed that spiritual communities are very often karmic communities into which great souls draw those with whom they have karma and those who have loved them through the ages. Every leader has his or her own karmic community. When karmic ties change in a community through such things as leadership transition, the community itself changes to reflect the needs of a new karmic group."

Mark says, "But we still usually have in the community the bedrock of spiritual teachings upon which the original community was built. Surely, even if the karmic group comprising the community changes over time, the spiritual truths taught by the original leader and the leading disciple will continue to be valid. The third and successive generations of the community should continue to practice the original spiritual teachings."

Marcella explains her view on this. "In my experience, I have found that the teachings of the founder do remain the bedrock of the community for at least the second generation. However, those teachings almost always are expanded upon by the second leader – fleshed out, if you will, in some of the details, the gaps filled in here and there. By the time of the transition to the third

leader, there are several interpretations of what the original leader may have meant in certain instances. Like children who inherit a certain quality from their parents, members of the community tend to adhere to one facet of the teaching more than others. The facets of Truth are infinite, so every teaching will have multiple layers of understanding and ways of expression. The original leader has his or her understanding. The second leader has his or her understanding. Subsequent leaders will have their own understanding. And the further removed the members are from the original leader, the more the members tend to draw their own conclusions about what was originally meant.

"What I am trying to say is that different interpretations of the original teachings are unavoidable. Martin always speaks of the inner quality as a seed of God in every person's soul. The teachings are like that. They are seeds of God's wisdom that allow for infinite interpretation and expression. That is the nature of things and it should not be viewed as something to avoid. In fact, I believe that the attempt to enforce a certain interpretation of God's wisdom can do more harm than good. After all, the purpose of the teachings is to enable the son or daughter of God to discern the truth for themselves. Ultimately, this is the fruit of the teachings."

Morya says, "Marcella, that is a very astute observation, and I agree with you. On the other hand, in this variation of interpretations of the original teachings, some may be more accurate than others. Some interpretations can be completely wrong, in fact."

Martin comments, "We have a dilemma here. On the one hand, various interpretations of the true teachings are inevitable. On the other hand, the more removed the generations are from the original teacher, the more likely at least some of the interpretations will be wrong or even harmful. Even though, in theoretical terms, every man should be able to define his own

interpretation of truth, some interpretations will be more 'true' than others. Not everyone can be a Jesus or a Buddha. So where does that leave the rest of us?"

Morya answers, "Jesus and Buddha did not consider themselves the only teachers of truth. There have been many, many souls on this planet who have understood a certain facet of the consciousness of God. Some have kept this insight to themselves; some have shared it with others. God's truth is all around us, like the sunlight in the day and the darkness in the night. It is our own minds that interpret what it means. No single human vision of truth is the complete truth. We have talked about this before. When a word leaves the mouth of the teacher, it already is a vessel holding some, but not all, of the truth of the universe. Can the ocean be defined by a cup of its water? It is merely a sample of the whole, not the whole itself. So it is with the teachings of the Great Ones. Each teacher has glimpsed a vision of the ocean of God. The mind grasps what it can and shares it with word and pen and action. You ask, Martin, about the rest of us. Well, are we not all on the path leading from and to the Creator? If we can understand what is possible for us to know today, that is sufficient until tomorrow. At that time, our interpretations and perceptions will almost certainly have changed somewhat. The understanding of truth evolves in the planes of matter just as everything else evolves."

Everyone thinks about this and is silent for a few moments. Finally, Martin says, "Well, tomorrow is our final day here, so I propose we find a nice picnic spot and enjoy the desert in the wintertime. What do you say?" All smile and agree. The couples say goodnight and return to their casitas, promising to meet in the courtyard around 9:00 in the morning.

Day Three: Picnic

In the morning, the couples loaded several ice chests into Mark's SUV and Martin's Jeep, and drove out to the sign-in area of the four-wheel vehicle section of the road. There they parked and hiked along the dry stream bed about a half mile to a nice location sheltered by cottonwood trees. The couples left their ice chests on some rock ledges, with a heavy rock on top to ward off the javelina, whose presence Martin noted by pointing to the many small, pig-like hoof marks in the soft soil. As they walked around, the women admired the many small flowers that could be found on the sunny side of the hills, while the men scanned the horizon for deer or other animals. Occasionally, Martin would stop to pick up an interesting rock washed down from the hillside. After an hour or so, the couples returned to their ice chests, finding them secure with no sign of being disturbed.

Marcella spread out a brightly colored tablecloth over a fairly flat rock, and Elizabeth and Helen took out sandwiches, iced sodas, water, chips and dips, and a bean salad Elizabeth had prepared the night before. The men laid paper plates and plastic cups and silverware on top of napkins, and – after filling their plates – everyone found a comfortable rock on which to sit. The friends chatted while eating, enjoying the sunshine, cool breeze, and solitude of the desert oasis. When the sandwiches had been finished, Helen reached into one of the ice chests and took out a chocolate cake, much to the appreciation of the men who had been wondering how to top off the lunch. Helen cut generous pieces for everyone, and even Elizabeth, who normally did not eat much dessert, ate with relish. By then, all were full and looked as if they would enjoy a short nap. Martin got up and put away the remaining food, passed around bottled water to those who wanted it, and put the trash into a couple of plastic bags. They returned to the lodge about 3:30 and, after unloading, retired to their casitas, promising to meet again in the King Casita after dinner.

That evening, about 7:30, everyone gathered in the King Casita once again, standing around the warm fire in the living room. The evening was chiller than previous nights. Mark and Elizabeth brought out cups of hot, spiced, Willcox apple cider, and Marcella passed around a tray of sweets. They all toasted each other, sat down close to the fire, and chatted about their experiences during this brief, but very pleasant vacation.

Generational Survival of Spiritual Communities

A half hour or so passed, and then Martin again raised the question of how a spiritual community could sustain itself, given the natural transitions in leadership that are inherent in the lifecycle of all communities. He says, "We have talked a bit about leadership in a spiritual community, and have noted that the charisma and insight of the initial founder almost never is duplicated in successive leadership transitions. This is not an isolated phenomenon within spiritual communities, but rather a common occurrence in nearly every organization and social structure. Think about the kingdoms of Europe, or dynasties in China. But, regardless of the nature of the community, if it is to survive more than a couple of generations of leaders, it must find something to sustain it. So, I would like to ask you: in a spiritual community, what are the conditions under which it can survive and prosper, after the initial leader has passed from the scene?"

After thinking for a moment, Mark volunteers an answer. "This is an intriguing question. If we were fortunate enough to be a member of a spiritual community during its early stages, then we may have experienced a certain blessing that comes from knowing personally the leader and listening first-hand to the original wisdom he or she may have shared. If we were present at the first transition, then we learned something of the adjustments the community must make to new leadership styles. And, if we were there at the moment the organization moves into – what I

would call its corporate phase – then we can attest to the challenges that the leadership faces as it tries to be true to the teachings and intentions of the founder, yet ensure the organization's survival on a more permanent basis. To survive, the third-generation organization must not only preserve the original teachings but also adjust to new social and personal conditions."

Marcella comments, "Yes, that has been my observation as well. The birth of a spiritual community is a time of great enthusiasm and commitment, which can continue – albeit with a somewhat new cast of characters - into the second phase. But when the first two leaders are gone, the enthusiasm of the members seems to wane a bit and their commitment seems to falter. Many people commit to people rather than to ideas. From what I can gather, one of the main problems is that the third generation of leaders is not universally accepted as the true successor. We must remember that one of the major purposes of a spiritual community is the propagation of the beliefs of the founder. All spiritual teachings have both a doctrinaire aspect – which you can read or listen to in a recording or video – and a spiritual aspect – a transmission of the Holy Spirit conveyed by a great teacher to those around him or her. The doctrine can be passed from generation to generation in publications and media, but the personal blessing of the founder cannot so easily be passed. As the intensity of the Holy Spirit fades over time, the level of commitment of the followers may likewise diminish. I suppose this is natural and unavoidable." She sips her cider, then adds another point, "The teachings also tend to change in focus over time. And this has an impact on whom the teachings attract and on the nature of the community itself. The community at the time of the founder is quite different from the community several generations removed. In my heart, I would like to say this is unfortunate, but I am not sure it can be avoided."

Children in Spiritual Communities

Elizabeth says, "We have not yet spoken of children in a spiritual community. This is an essential consideration in the continuity of the community, because the loyalty of the children to the teachings is a strong indication of the community's success and longevity."

She thinks for a moment, looking into the distance, and then continues. "From a mother's perspective, her children are all important. If she believes in something that is beautiful and true, she wants to share it with her children and hopes that they will be able to draw from it the same inspiration and strength that she has gained. A mother knows in her heart that, at some point, she must let go – to allow her children the freedom to take wing and pursue their own calling. On the other hand, she has learned many lessons in life that she wants to share with her children to protect them from harm and ease their path in life. So she educates them – body, mind, and soul – to the best of her ability. She will not be completely successful, but nature drives her to use all of her strength and wisdom to help her children.

"In a spiritual community, a mother is both a devotee and a teacher. She would not live in such a community – and, believe me, there are many challenges to raising a family under such conditions – unless she was committed to the teachings of that community. She tries to teach her children, almost from infancy, the truth as she understands it. Children, being what they are, take some of this with a grain of salt, ignore much of it, but also absorb it into their psyche almost like mother's milk. Some children rebel against the teachings; others see merit in it; most pick and choose what appeals to them. But every child in a spiritual community has imprinted upon their consciousness some fundamental impressions that stay with them for their entire life."

Marcella, who had been listening closely, takes up the conversation. "I have had the opportunity to talk to many children raised in spiritual communities, and they do have their own unique set of

issues. One of these is the challenge of how to reconcile the community's beliefs with their own observations and experience. We all know that children go through stages of wanting to distance themselves from their parents. This is programmed into the human consciousness. It is how generations build upon the foundations laid by their forefathers. If every child accepted without question the beliefs of their parents, then human progress would be very slow indeed. But in a spiritual community, there is added to this natural parent-child tension the additional burden of how to deal with ideas and lifestyles supposedly coming from God."

Mark says, "This is true, and I have seen it myself in talking to young people in various churches."

Marcella continues, "Some spiritual communities handle this youthful need for personal experience very well. They engage them in fun activities, give them challenging things to do, involve them in group excursions, and so on. Other communities are not so attuned to the needs of young people. And in these circumstances, there often is a generational conflict within the community."

Elizabeth says, "I have a close friend who is a mother of four in a spiritual community. She is a wonderful, loving mother. But each of her children went their own separate ways. One remained faithful to the church. One pursued a professional career in a large city. One married early and became a stay-at-home mom. And one became totally rebellious, rejecting everything his mother stood for. Four children from a loving home. Four separate ways. Yet each of them was reacting to the strong beliefs of their mother."

Martin observes, "It seems to me, then, that a spiritual community cannot completely rely on its children continuing the traditions of the founder. Some children will remain in the community.

Most will move on with their lives. So the community must base its survival on the infusion of new adult members. The challenge faced by the community is that, as new members join and as new leadership emerges, the community itself must change. The direction of the change and the balance between the founder's teachings and intent and the new members' needs and expectations are critical to the sustainability of the community."

Helen quietly comments, "We must remember that every soul and every group of souls have their unique lessons to learn and their own contributions to make in life. We are talking about the evolution of souls here, not the beginning or ending of a certain community. Looking at a spiritual community from the eyes of a child is different from looking at the community from the eyes of an adult. The parent joins the community with a sense of commitment to something larger than themselves. But, to a child, the universe is mostly comprised of their parents and the family structure into which they are born. A parent in a spiritual community can easily assign their child to a babysitter or daycare center in the church, can easily spend night after night on crash projects, and eat communally with scores of other people in rushed meals before morning or evening worship services.

"These things are fairly easy to do for an adult parent. But what does the child perceive in all of this? Does a child understand the teachings, or the persuasive power of the spiritual leader? I don't think so. What they see are parents who put the community and the church first, their children second. What they see are parents handing them off to others while they rush off for hours on end. What they see is no family time at all, just a large group of people – all friendly and kind – but not their parents in one-on-one fun and loving moments. What children want most, especially in their formative years, are their parent's time, undivided attention, and all-encompassing love. Parents in a spiritual community do love their children, of that there can be

no doubt, but community demands on their time and attention sharply reduce what they give to their children. And children are left wondering if, somehow, they are not worthy of their parents' love."

She pauses, then says, "What we often have in a spiritual community are highly sensitive children who question their self-worth because their parents' attention is elsewhere. They carry with them a sense that they are less important to their parents than the community or the church. Is it any wonder, then, that so many children raised in spiritual communities are rebellious in their teenage years? They are filled with anxieties they do not understand, because the anxieties stem from their treatment as infants and toddlers. They were raised in an environment which seemed to view them as something of a distraction and inconvenience to 'getting the work done for the good of humanity.' Never mind that this may not be the intention of the parents or other adults in the community. It is a message received in the consciousness of the child."

Marcella, with moist eyes, adds, "I am afraid that all of us as mothers and fathers have fallen short in our responsibility as parents. As members of spiritual communities, we thought we were doing our best – and usually we were. But somehow we neglected our children more than we should have. Looking back, I can see that I understood this at some deep level of consciousness. But I set that concern aside for what I considered to be a greater good. I don't know if that was a mistake in the larger scheme of things, but I do know that spiritual communities must do far more to support their families than many have done in the past. We have no right to add to the burdens of our children as they mature and come to terms with their rightful place in the world." Helen says, "That being said, it is worth mentioning that children, like adults, are individuals.

And individuals react to circumstances differently. One child may find the spiritual community

very comforting and beneficial to their mental, physical, and emotional growth. Another child may have difficulty because they feel too separated from their parents."

Marcella comments, "I suppose, since we are on the subject of families, we should mention the relationship between husband and wife in a spiritual community. From my observation, there can be strong and permanent bonds formed between couples who share the same spiritual vision and who are equally dedicated to the purposes of the church and its community. But, where there are differences in spiritual perception, these can undermine a marriage and eventually result in divorce. Have any of you witnessed the same thing?"

Both Helen and Elizabeth nod, with Elizabeth saying, "I think that is true. However, I keep going back to the principle that married couples are adults. As such, they have their own responsibilities. It is difficult to say whether the success or failure of a marriage is a factor of spirituality or some other fundamental issue between the couples themselves."

Martin says, "Well, I'll tell you my view. My conclusion on raising a family in a spiritual community is that it is not necessarily a good thing. Communities based on spirituality are for adults, not for children who are developing their character and personality, along with their bodies and minds. I am thinking of the various spiritual communities in the Far East, compared to those in the Western tradition. In the West, we have had spiritual communities for eons, way before Christ. But in the East, as far as I can recall from my study of China and other parts of Asia, spiritual communities are more like retreats, where monks and their devotees reside. It is easy for me to see that Eastern-style spiritual communities are ideal environments for those who seek to increase their spirituality. It is more difficult for me to see the benefits of Western-style spiritual communities in which whole families are raised according to some belief system. We do have some examples of large-scale spiritual communities in the West – one might think of the

Mormons, Catholics, and Amish, for instance – where strong and resilient families are raised. Part of their success, I believe, is a firm, religious-based commitment between couples to make their marriage work. But smaller spiritual communities seem to have less success in being both spiritual and family-oriented. These are just my observations and they could be wrong."

In the silence that follows, Mark gets up, adds a log to the fireplace, and pokes the coals to generate a bit more heat. He sits down and after a while says, "This is a very hard lesson for adults to learn, because many of us are both devotees of God and parents of children. There surely must be some way for spiritual communities to serve both sides of their members, without having to sacrifice one for the other. As I think about it, I believe finding this balance must be the responsibility of the community's leaders. It is they who set the tone of the community's attitudes towards families, and it is they who assign priorities for time and resources. But, I confess, this is one area of community building that I have not given as much thought to as it deserves."

Mark continues, "Overall, I have concluded that there are many similarities between all communities, spiritual or otherwise. Let's ask ourselves, what does a community – in the generic sense of the word – need to survive and prosper? We have talked about the key role played by leadership and the community's special responsibility to its children. Martin, what else is required for a spiritual community – or any community – to survive and prosper in today's world?"

Key Factors in Community Success

Martin thinks for a moment and responds, "There are several factors that come to mind. In addition to good leadership and success in supporting a good family structure, there is the need for financial stability in a community. Communities are expensive to build and maintain, and members cannot all be on the community payroll. Families need to be supported by working adults; the spiritual organization needs contributions from its members to pay its bills. This means that employment opportunities must exist, either within the community itself, such as enterprises, or in local urban areas where many members can work. I suppose, if the sponsoring church was large and rich enough, a community could be supported by the church's headquarters. But in most cases, financial support has to come from local sources. The point is: if there is not sufficient financial support, then the community will not long survive."

After a brief pause, he continues, "Another factor certainly is a sense of identification with the community by its members and their loyalty to its principles. Communities are held together by common purpose. If that purpose is diluted too much, then members will drift away. Community leaders must work hard to ensure that members believe in the community's purpose. Loyalty is an interesting issue. Leaders tend to think that a member's loyalty is to them personally, when actually member loyalty – if the community is to be sustained – must be to the larger goals of the community or its parent organization. In both spiritual and secular communities, residents need to believe they are part of something larger and more important than personalities. Personalities, of course, are often very important at the community's founding, but personalities become less important over time."

Mark asks, "What about governance structure? Does that make a significant difference?"

Martin answers, "We have talked a bit about that, and it can make a difference. Certainly the style of leadership varies between a single dominant leader and a consensus-based committee. But more important than the style or type of leadership, in my opinion, is the effectiveness of the leadership structure. A dominant leader can be very effective in a community. And a committee can be very effective. What determines effectiveness? I would say three things: effectiveness in the governance of a community requires that the leadership be respected and followed by the members; the leadership must have the best interests of the community and its members in mind; and decisions reached by the leadership need to be based on wise deliberations of known facts and probable outcomes rather than biased opinion."

Marcella comments, "Sounds like politics to me." Martin laughs and nods. "Yes, it is politics. Politics is the art and science of governing, and the characteristics of a good leader and the attributes of good governance are pretty much universal."

Helen observes, "I think it worth noting that many great advances and accomplishments in civilization have occurred because the leader was willing to push his followers to the point of exhaustion. Think of the Great Wall of China and magnificent temples and palaces around the world. These never would have been built if the leader wasn't willing to sacrifice his people for a vision. This raises a question: At what point in a spiritual community is it justified for a leader to sacrifice the comfort of the people to achieve some great goal?"

Morya says, "Good point. Motivating people to achieve great things is not always a comfortable process. However, demanding too much of the people can destroy the community. Many great historical achievements have resulted in bankruptcy and collapse. I often wonder if those leaders concluded, in hindsight, that the accomplishment was worth the price." For a moment, his attention turns to distant memories, then he asks, "Are there other keys to the success of a spiritual community?"

Elizabeth replies, "I can think of one: resilience in the face of challenge. Every community, just like every individual, will face challenges both great and small. To prosper, a community must

be able to overcome these challenges, or at least be able to adjust to them in a way that moves the community forward rather than backward."

Martin nods his agreement. "I suppose there is one other factor that comes to mind, and that has to do with providing growth opportunities for members. If community members don't feel they have an opportunity to grow in character and responsibility – to become their true selves in the community setting – then their tenure in the community will either be limited or they will wilt on the vine. Communities having little opportunity for individual self-fulfillment can fall into a kind of rote routine that stifles initiative and dampens enthusiasm. To me, one of the most important purposes of a spiritual community is to help everyone find and express their inner quality – that part of themselves which gives true meaning to their lives. Whether an individual stays or leaves the community is less important than whether the community helps that individual discover his or her true self. If that goal is achieved, then the community will grow and prosper because new members will come to find themselves, and many old members will remain because they have found their place in the world."

Elizabeth comments, "But, Martin, let us remember that not everyone who joins a community is in search of their true self. Many, if not most, join the community because they already know who they are and wish to align their energies with others for the common good. The community is not just for individuals to find themselves. It is for a collective contribution to mankind. There is great joy in being part of such a community. I have found that even the children are aware of this joy and feel they are part of something big and important."

Morya leans forward and says, "Let's not forget that a spiritual community is formed for mainly spiritual purposes. Sure, it members have to eat and its families have to be supported – just like any other community. But, in essence, what holds a spiritual community together is a belief

structure, a faith in a set of principles that everyone believes to be true. Even the founding leader, as charismatic as he or she may be, is not the primary reason the community was formed. It was the leader's ability to communicate spiritual teachings, to convince others of their validity, to use the power of the Holy Spirit to bring people together in Holy Communion. It is commitment to the love, wisdom, and power found within the teachings that forms the basis of a spiritual community."

Looking at the fire, he continues, "We all know there is no such thing as a complete expression of the Truth of God. God is far larger than any of us can imagine. Man is simply unable to comprehend the totality of God's creation. As is often said, we don't understand ourselves, so how can we understand God. As individuals, we tend to understand God through the prism of our own consciousness. And there is nothing wrong with that. God is pleased when individuals understand His plan through the lens of their own minds and hearts. So, in reality, there are potentially as many spiritual communities as there are interpretations of God and His will. And believe me, those interpretations are as numerous as the stars in the heavens. But only a few individuals in each generation will have the spiritual strength, the communication and leadership skills, to convince a sizeable number of people that he or she has a correct interpretation of what God is or what God wants. These few – some more successful than others, some more insightful than others - are the founders of spiritual communities. And certainly the roles of fate and opportunity come into play, because there are times when the social, political, and religious environments smile upon the creation of new spiritual communities, and times when established institutions will do everything in their power to stamp out new interpretations of God."

He thanks Helen as she pours more cider into his cup. Then he says, "The principal challenge faced by spiritual communities is that people always interpret God's will differently. The founder

of a community has a powerful vision; his or her successor usually shares that vision, with some modifications. The third generation of leadership is raised with different experiences and expectations. Often, they are better educated and may have a broader perspective of world cultures. By the third and subsequent generations of leaders, the founder's vision of what God intends has been reinterpreted in fundamental ways. New leaders can always train community members in what the founder said, but newer generations will understand the teachings somewhat differently, because their experience and knowledge are different from those who first followed the original teacher. For example, the analogies and parables used by the founder will sometimes seem quaint and antiquated. Off-handed remarks by the original teacher will be misinterpreted because the newer generation does not know the context in which the remarks were made. All of this means that the loyalties of members in the third-generation community will be tested by competing interpretations of the so-called 'correct' path outlined by the founder.''

Morya thinks for a moment, and then continues, "Nothing in this universe is stationary, so it is natural that man's spiritual understanding evolves as well. It is this natural evolution in spiritual understanding that is the greatest challenge to successive generations of community leaders. How that change in understanding is managed determines whether the community will be successful over the long run. We spoke of the role of the Holy Spirit earlier. Each new generation of leaders in a spiritual community must be able to communicate their understanding of truth – not always in terms of what the founder might have said – but in terms of the convincing power of the Holy Spirit. We must always remember that God's truth is discovered anew each and every day."

Helen observes, "It is like our children. We give them birth and share with them all that we hold to be true. But, as they grow and experience more of the world, they come to understand things differently. This does not mean that we or they are wrong. It means that their experience and understanding are growing beyond our own, or perhaps separately from our own. We, as parents and spiritual teachers, must learn to let go in order for the next generation to discover truth for themselves."

Checks and Balances in Spiritual Communities

Martin then introduces a new concept. "In our discussions on government at Yellowstone last year, we identified the important role of checks and balances in most modern systems of government. What do all of you think about the merits of checks and balances in spiritual communities?"

Mark answers, "I think that checks and balances may be impossible in some spiritual communities. I, for one, cannot imagine that Jesus would accept a system of checks and balances administered by his own disciples. Instead, he relied on the checks and balances provided by his attunement and communication with God the Father and His Representatives."

Elizabeth comments, "That may be true for Jesus. But after he passed into heaven it became necessary for some system of checks and balances in order to prevent permanent schisms in the early church. There seems to be a difference between the legitimacy of someone like Jesus, who had no need for human checks and balances, and the disciples and followers of Jesus, who needed to manage divisions among themselves, such as the disagreements between Peter and Paul."

Helen observes, "But here we are discussing spiritual communities. The purposes of a spiritual community are to propagate a set of beliefs and also to provide communal support for the

followers of that belief system. There might be a need for a check-and-balance system in the routine administration of community services, but it is hard to conceive of a check-and-balance system to control or monitor the teachings being delivered by the spiritual head of the community. These are two different functions."

Martin says, "Those are interesting observations. Yet, as we have agreed upon previously, once the founder and perhaps his or her immediate successor have passed the torch of leadership to others in the spiritual community, then the teachings are changed somewhat. Does that not justify having a system in place to ensure the proper continuity of the original teachings?"

Morya comments, "It is indeed difficult, in any spiritual community, to have a functioning system of checks and balances in place. Remember, most people join such a community because they have faith in either the teacher or the teachings, usually both. It is easier for people to believe and trust in a single leader and interpretation of the truth than it is for them to believe in a committee and doctrinaire consensus. In this sense, there is a dual karmic responsibility at play here. First, the leader of the spiritual community must adhere to strict guidelines of honor and integrity in the message of the teachings and in the administration of the organization. Second, the members of the community must accept their own responsibilities for deciding to be there in the first place. If either of these parties – the spiritual leader or the member – fails in their responsibility, then some accounting must be made. In the case of the spiritual leader, this accountability would most often be with God or His Representatives. In the case of the member, this accountability would most often be with the administrators of the community – which may or may not be the spiritual leader of the community."

Martin objects, "But, Morya, while the administration of justice might be swift in the case of the member, who is to know if the administration of justice is even carried out in the case of the spiritual leader, who has no peers that normal men can see?"

Mark says, "This is a karmic issue and is best left to God and His Representatives. Men have never been able to effectively administer God's justice to spiritual leaders here on earth. It seems to me, therefore, that while a system of checks and balances may be successful and perhaps necessary for the administrative side of the community, the evaluation of the spiritual leader on the part of the followers has to be limited to one's own decision whether to remain in or withdraw from the community. That being said, most established religions and spiritual organizations have procedures in place to vet potential new leaders. One has in mind as an example the College of Cardinals in the Catholic Church and the High Lamas of Tibetan Buddhism. Once the Pope and Dali Lama are selected, however, they have broad powers to establish doctrine."

After a few moments, Marcella says, "I have learned a lot today. I have been troubled for many years by the breakup of certain spiritual communities with which I have been associated. On the one hand, I love those who remain in the old communities; on the other hand, I no longer feel that it is the same community to which I once belonged. Despite my best intentions and deep commitment to the teachings, at a certain point I felt I had to leave the community because I sensed it was moving in a direction I was uncomfortable with. I felt a certain amount of guilt and regret about leaving, but over time I came to understand that I needed to find the spiritual center within myself as opposed to finding it in a community."

Elizabeth comments, "I believe that, at judgment day, we will not be evaluated on the basis of which church or community we belonged to, but rather on what we did or did not do with the potential God placed within our souls."

Mark says, "All of this is true, but we should not understate the importance of a spiritual community in our lives. At a certain point, we need the protection and nourishment provided in a community of kindred souls. A community can help us find strength and wisdom to make our best contributions to life. And, as Morya has told us, spiritual communities are often karmic groups: people and places we must live amongst in order to balance karma and free our souls for their next adventure."

There was a warm and reflective silence as the old friends finished their cups of cider and thought about the past few days. Then, the friends smiled at one another, expressed appreciation for a wonderful weekend, and leisurely said goodnight. Early the next morning, everyone packed their vehicles and drove together out Muleshoe Ranch Road back to Willcox and the interstate west to Tucson.

Chapter 3: The True Self

A few months after their vacation at the Muleshoe Ranch in Arizona, Morya conference called Mark and Martin to see if they would be interested in a late summer outing to discuss the importance of individuals understanding their true self. Both Mark and Martin thought the idea was great, and Mark suggested somewhere in Colorado because of the ideal weather that time of year. After discussing options, Mark recommended they spend a few days in Ouray, known by many as the Switzerland of America. Martin liked the idea, because he would be able to explore the old mining districts in the San Juan Mountains to the east of Ouray and Silverton. Morya agreed that would be fine, but preferred to rent a house in the area for a few days rather than camp in the nearby national forests.

Mark knew a realtor in Ouray and said he would contact her to see about a short-term rental for early or mid-August. A week or so later, Mark called his two friends to say he had put a tentative hold on a three bedroom, single family rental a few blocks west of the Commercial Historic District in Ouray. They decided to lock it in and agreed to share all expenses. Mark suggested that everyone meet in Denver and take his SUV out to Ouray. He also said the realtor had recommended a Jeep rental company near the house, noting his large SUV probably would not be able to navigate the rough and narrow mining trails up in the mountains. Martin volunteered to drive the Jeep. Everything planned, the friends agreed to meet in the Denver airport in early August, spend the night and next day with Mark and Elizabeth in their home, and then drive to Ouray.

The friends left Denver early the appointed day, travelling via I-70 to Grand Junction and south on Highways 50 and 550. They made the trip in about six hours, because they wanted to meet up with the realtor before her office closed at 5:00 pm. As they entered the Uncompany River

Valley leading to the picturesque town, the men enjoyed the spectacular mountains on either side of the valley, many with peaks over 10,000 feet, far above the tree line.

The realtor took them over to the house a few blocks away and showed them around. Receiving three sets of keys, the men began to unpack and move into their bedrooms. After they settled into the small but comfortable two-story brick house, they sat on the porch for a while and looked at the towering bluffs to the west, now casting huge shadows towards town.

"Absolutely beautiful," Martin commented, and the others nodded in silent agreement. About 7 pm, at Mark's suggestion, they walked over to Main Street and ate a delicious trout dinner at a restaurant. Afterwards, they strolled about town, looking into store windows and noting where they might like to eat the following days. About 9 o'clock, the men returned home, finished arranging their rooms, and went to sleep, planning to rise early for breakfast and to make arrangements for renting a Jeep.

Day One: Black Canyon of the Gunnison

Finding the next morning that no Jeep Wranglers were available until the following day, Mark suggested they drive around a bit to explore the area. He especially wanted to see the Black Canyon of the Gunnison a few miles east of Montrose. They grabbed a hamburger and milk shake for the trip and headed north.

Awakening to the True Self

On the way to Montrose, Mark asked Morya why he wanted to talk about the true self during this trip. Morya say, "I am very interested in this subject because most people do not know their true self, and I believe it is this lack of understanding that leads to many of the world's problems." Martin looks over at Morya and replies, "Morya, what is so difficult about discovering the true

self? We are what we are, and that is real enough for the moment. We change every day, every moment in fact, so there is no such thing as a true self – if by true self you mean something permanent."

Morya laughs and says, "Well, Martin, you always do have a different perspective and here I believe you are once again playing the role of the devil's advocate. But that is one reason I enjoy discussing philosophical issues with you. In fact, I do not think the true self is a permanent, static state of human existence. There is no permanence for human beings. What I mean by the true self is that part of the human consciousness which expresses the fundamental qualities God has implanted in the individual soul. This character of the soul we have called the inner quality."

Mark, watching his rear view mirror at a fast approaching semi, says, "I guess the true self – or real self as some would call it – is something like an ideal person. Are you saying, Morya, that this ideal can actually be realized in the world as we know it?"

Morya answers, "Yes, indeed. The true self can exist in the world of form. Don't forget, the true self and human self-awareness are but different levels of consciousness within the same person. It is a matter of self-awareness, self-identification, and self-expression. An individual can be aware of himself as angry and cruel, or he can be aware of himself as loving and kind. The key here is how an individual perceives and expresses himself."

Martin watches the truck speed by, then says, "Let's take that truck driver for instance. He probably is focused on getting to his next destination. I doubt he is thinking about Plato's cave or the sacrifices of Jesus. How can a person be concerned with both immediate things like completing his truck run for the day, and ideal things like becoming his true self tomorrow?

There is a mismatch here somewhere. How can we focus on being both ideal and practical at the same time? Isn't that somewhat schizophrenic?"

Mark chuckles as Morya slowly shakes his head. Mark says, "Martin, of course we can have completely different personalities at different times. When you are at a football game with the Broncos at Mile High Stadium, you are acting and feeling differently than when you are at home relaxing with your family over dinner. We all have mood swings, we all have different thoughts and opinions. We all act differently depending on the circumstances. Our different moods and thoughts do not mean that we are different people. We are the same person, acting and thinking differently at different times."

Morya adds, "Yes, this is true, but I am trying to get at a more fundamental issue. Given that individuals can act differently at different times under different circumstances, is it possible for an individual to always act from the level of his true self?"

Martin thinks about this for a moment and then comments, "I can see where you are coming from, Morya, but if we look around to see people as they currently are, I do not see many folks acting as their real selves, if by true self you mean expressing their highest potential. Quite the opposite. I see people everywhere concerned about living under challenging circumstances, trying to prosper and survive in an often hostile world. Sure, we all turn to God at times, and most people really do appreciate all of God's blessings, but the focus – for most of us – is living in the here and now. I know this is not universally true, because thousands of people are very religious and try every day to do nothing but good. But it seems to me that to survive and prosper on this planet you have to be willing to defend your own interests and aggressively establish yourself as a person of consequence. If you don't, then others will walk all over you – and be glad they did!"

Mark says, as he turns into the entrance of the National Park, "Hey, let's talk about this later. I want to walk around a bit and see the Park." Morya and Martin agree, and, after glancing at the map handed out at the south entrance station, ask Mark to stop at Tomichi Point and then the South Rim Visiting Center. They also visited the Chasm View and the Painted Wall View, where they were fascinated by the 2,500-foot cliff, the tallest in Colorado. Time passed quickly, and after three hours of hiking and taking pictures, the friends drove back to Montrose and ate dinner at a small restaurant. Martin suggested they buy some groceries while in town, so they stopped at Safeway and purchased enough food for several days.

On the road back to Ouray, Martin takes up the earlier conversation. "You know, Morya, the problem with concentrating on the true self is that people are – generally speaking – either satisfied with their lives and therefore unwilling to change, or they need some basic necessity of life and don't have the time or inclination to search for life's higher meaning. You and Mark have spent your entire lives trying to understand the spiritual side of things, and I think that is a very good thing to do. However, most people are not on the same wavelength as you. And, to be honest, sometimes I wonder myself whether it is worth the trouble to always be trying to improve yourself in some idealistic way. Why not just live life to the fullest? Why not just accept where you are on the ladder of life and live normally? Sometimes I want to let it go and enjoy the moment! I guess that makes me a sinner, but there are lots of folks just like me."

Mark laughs and says, "I understand you very well, Martin. You always advocate for human nature, even if you do not always advocate for what is best. But I have a question for you. You have often spoken of your experience in finding your inner quality and your conclusion that this inner quality is your best character. You have said that your purpose in life is to express that inner quality and that, in doing so, you were becoming your true self. You do not know whether

the inner quality is a gift of God to your soul, or some latent potential residing in your DNA, or both. But you said you were convinced that the inner quality existed. Further, you were emphatic in stating that, if people knew and expressed their inner quality, they would either be fulfilling God's will or they would be participating in the evolution of mankind. Does that pretty much summarize your views?"

Martin thinks for a moment, then nods in agreement, looking out at the dark landscape. He then says, "I do feel that I should improve myself, and I try daily to do so, bit by bit. But it requires a level of effort and commitment that I am not sure others want to give. There are some awful things happening in the world and sometimes I get pessimistic that change for the good is possible, especially in the short-term."

Morya says, "Cantankerousness, lack of effort and commitment, pessimism ... These are but temporary clouds in one's consciousness. If you remain focused on the beauty of the will of God planted in your soul as your inner quality, then you will continue to move forward. All of us have doubts and weaknesses in our life, but we cannot long ignore the essential goodness at the core of our being. By its very nature, this internal goodness must find expression. The will of God is built into the higher consciousness of every individual. Unless one tries to express one's inner quality, one will always be prone to feelings of unworthiness and incompleteness. The urge for goodness can be ignored, but not forgotten. It can be rebelled against, but not forever. Thus, there is always hope for mankind individually and collectively. The question is: how best to awaken the individual to his own potential?"

About this time, Mark pulls into the driveway of the rental in Ouray. Everyone gets out, unloads the groceries, and then sits down to enjoy a cup of tea around the fireplace with relaxed

conversation. Martin promises his friends a good adventure the next day in the backcountry of the San Juans, and the men call it a night.

Day Two: Silverton

As luck would have it, the Jeep Martin had intended to rent the next morning was being serviced and would not be ready for pick up until late in the afternoon. No one thought this to be a problem, however, as Mark suggested they drive down the Million Dollar Highway to Silverton.

A two-lane twisting, but well-maintained scenic byway, Highway 550 between Ouray and Silverton through the San Juan Mountains along the Uncompany River Gorge and over the Red Mountain Pass is one of the nation's most beautiful highways. Numerous old mines are along the 25-mile route, and the road is replete with spectacular waterfalls, deep gorges, and towering mountains.

As Mark drove along, giving plenty of room to large RVs heading north around the sharp curves, Martin pointed out several Jeep trails leading off to the east through the mountain passes. He remarks, "This is where we will be going tomorrow. It should be a fantastic trip. I can hardly wait." Morya and Mark just nod, not quite as enthusiastic about venturing into this rugged territory in an open Jeep.

In Silverton, they stopped at a cafe for a cup of coffee and a pastry, and walked around Main Street to get a feel for the old mining town. With only about 500 full-time residents, Silverton is the only town in San Juan County, the other mining towns abandoned, leaving partially collapsed buildings filled with memories of gold and silver rushes during the late 1800s and early 1900s.

Martin asked an old-timer waiting to cross the street what people did in Silverton now that the mines were closed. He smiled in a rugged way and said, "Everyone that I know works in the

bars." As the three friends walk on, Morya observes, "This place certainly does have its share of bars."

At Martin's suggestion, they drove up County Road 2 along the Animas River. The sides of the mountains on both sides were filled with abandoned mines, and several old structures were alongside the road. The men stopped at a couple of the larger buildings, and Martin scrambled out to see if he could find any forgotten treasure among the tailings. There was nothing except heavily mineralized ore, but Martin did manage to pick up several specimens to add to his basement's growing collection. Morya and Mark also found a few rocks of interest, and packed those away, too.

At a certain point, when the road started to become a little rougher, Morya suggested they find a nice picnic spot to eat the sandwiches they had prepared. A little tired because of the altitude – Silverton being over 9,000 feet – the other men agreed and Mark soon spotted a good place to turn off.

While enjoying lunch and watching the slow progress of several Jeeps and other 4x4s high up on the mountains, Mark says to Martin, "I guess that is where you will take us tomorrow." Martin replies, "Yes, that is the sort of terrain we will be on, although we probably will take a trail up from Highway 550 rather than driving back down here. I wish they had the Jeep ready, but we still have a couple of days to explore around and none of us are hard core off-roaders." Mark nods in agreement, and Martin continues, "Anyway, it will be fun and – don't worry – I will be careful where we go. It's a good thing my boys aren't with us. They would want to drive and they would really test our courage." Everyone laughs at this, secretly aware that their current level of adventurism paled in comparison to their younger days. With the sun beginning to lower in the sky, Mark suggests they head back to Ouray to pick up the Jeep. Martin checks his watch and agrees. They all get in the SUV, make a quick stop on the outskirts of Silverton to gas up, and turn north up Highway 550 to return to Ouray. In Ouray, Mark dropped Martin off at the Jeep shop and drove with Morya back to the house. Martin got checked out on the Jeep, collected some trail maps, and asked for recommendations from a couple of Jeep tour guides on "a moderately challenging set of trails." Walking in the house a few minutes later, he found Morya and Mark already preparing dinner and, after saying hello, he grabbed a Fosters from the refrigerator and sat out on the porch to enjoy the sunset lighting up the clouds over the summits. About an hour later, Morya comes to the screen door and invites Martin to come in to dinner. The friends enjoy a meal of roasted chicken, broccoli, white rice, and rolls, with chocolate cake for dessert. After dinner, Mark made chamomile tea with honey, and they settled into their favorite chairs to watch the crackling fire.

The Natural Goodness of Mankind

Morya says, "If you don't mind, I would like to continue our discussion in regards to the natural goodness of people. As I understand it, the will of God is written in the atoms and molecules of all creation. The will of God also is reflected in the forces of evolution. We usually describe evolution in terms of survival of the fittest, but in reality evolution is a process of experimentation, transformation, and transcendence. Written inside our DNA is the requirement that we strive to improve ourselves, just as we are compelled by nature to propagate our species. "The inner quality that we and countless thousands of others have experienced is a glimpse into our evolutionary potential. Like our trip today, every vista in life shows new opportunities and new challenges. There is an infinite opportunity for mankind to improve individually and collectively. The true self is not a static level of self-awareness or some fixed state of being. The

true self is an acknowledgement of our infinite potential. The inner quality is our individual pathway towards realizing that potential."

Continuing, Morya says, "Not every person is an adventurer willing to leave the comforts of home to see the other side of the mountain. But there are enough adventurers among humanity at any given time to explore and map new horizons. Others will follow or be educated as to these new realities. This is the way mankind progresses. The urge to progress is built into the human species, and no one can turn off the spigot of evolution."

He pauses for a moment. "So, Martin, when you say you are sometimes pessimistic about positive change in human nature, I would suggest that a broader perspective might be needed. The impossible today is the routine tomorrow. It has always been the case. If you reflect upon the best side of yourself, you will inevitably realize that you can be a better person. The desire to be a better person is your soul aspiring to be the true self. As the ancients have always said, becoming one's true self is the key to personal happiness and society's transformation. This process of transformation is not so much a moral decision as a practical realization that we will be better off if we allow ourselves to become our true self. In other words, the true self is a pattern into which we grow, as we allow life's energies to flow naturally through our consciousness. Those life energies flow through all living things. Through mankind, those energies – like radiation from the sun – are channeled into human consciousness through the lens of the inner quality. That is why it is beneficial to a person to know their inner quality. It helps the individual to better use life's energies in ways most in harmony with one's true character."

Morya looks at the fire for a moment and says, "This is what God intends for His creation: to become the fullness of the potential placed within all spirit and substance, energy and matter, regardless of its form. The will of God is written into the fabric of the universe. Its evolutionary

flow is what the Chinese call the Tao. Follow the Tao, and you will be in harmony with the will of God. The will of God is simple and pure, but it is powerful and has infinite varieties of expression."

Mark and Martin think about this for a moment, and then Mark says, "Morya, that was truly a beautiful description of how the will of God is interwoven throughout every aspect of the cosmos. It puts discussion of God's will into an entirely different context." He continues, "You know, I have students in my retreat who believe they must ask God where to park their cars and what to wear in the morning before they go to work. They believe that to do God's will you must continuously ask God want He wants. Are these well-meaning souls wrong?"

Morya replies, "I would not say they are wrong, but I would ask them to consider two things: whether God has the time to prescribe all of these details, and why do they think God gave them free will?"

Mark says, "Those are good questions, and I will ask them whenever the opportunity arises. But there is a fundamental issue here. Does an individual have to surrender his free will in order to obey God? Is surrender of free will necessary to become one's true self?"

Man's Will and God's Will

As Martin contemplates these questions, Morya offers his understanding, "I believe that it is part of the soul's evolution to learn to master the use of free will, here in the planes of time and space and in other dimensions. Having free will is one of the defining characteristics of a son and daughter of God, which is the soul's birthright. Free will is what makes us co-creators with God, in the sense that we can take energy and matter and build things. Being a creator, rather than a robot, requires that we have free will. And having free will gives us considerable influence over our own destiny as individuals and as the human species." Martin asks, "But what is the proper use of free will? We see examples everyday of free will being used to do horrible things, and also free will being used to do much good. Surely there are some boundaries in a moral sense on how free will is to be used."

Mark says, "Let me address this one. You are right in saying that there are proper and improper uses of free will. Being a human implies that we have a choice in how we use our free will. In fact, when we observe people, we see that individuals rarely choose exactly the same thing: stand in Starbucks and listen to people order their drinks. Part of this is because the circumstances in which free will is used are not the same. Part of this is because no two people are identical, having different genetic codes and having been exposed to different experiences in their life. We have, then, almost an infinite possibility of free will choices. Morally speaking, some of these choices are better than others. I do not believe there is a divine playbook that God writes each morning for us to follow. Rather, life and nature place boundaries within which we can exercise our free will. We cannot, for example, jump to the top of this roof or walk through these walls or run faster than a cheetah. But we can do a lot of things."

He thoughtfully drinks some tea, and then continues, "It seems to me that the key to whether our decision is better or correct resides mostly inside of ourselves. What I mean by that is, really, who is our judge? Are we best judged by our fellowman, by history, by God, or by ourselves?"

Martin says, "OK. I think I follow your logic here. You are implying that the judgment of others is not necessarily more correct than our own judgment. But what about God? Isn't He the ultimate judge of our actions?"

Morya comments, "That is a good summary, Mark, and it contains an important truth. In terms of whether our choices are correct or not, we should first ask ourselves what is right or wrong. We

cannot always look to God, because His judgment is sometimes hidden from our view. But there is an important caveat here. Which part of ourselves should be our judge? Should it be the selfish part, the scholarly part, the saintly part? In truth, we are all of these things, even though one or another aspect of our character may predominate at any given time. So, if we are to correctly judge ourselves, we should make every effort to ensure that our judgment is based on our very best standard – what Martin has called the inner quality."

Mark picks up the conversation. "You see, the best judge of whether you are properly using your free will is your own understanding of your inner quality. The last few years, you have identified your inner quality as honor and integrity. Twenty years from now, your understanding of your inner quality may be somewhat refined. It matters not. What counts is whether you are – today and tomorrow – acting, thinking, and feeling as your true self – as you understand it to be. What did First Corinthians say: 'When I was a child, I thought and acted as a child. When I became a man, I thought and acted like a man.' We are all children at one stage of our spiritual evolution and we all become adults at a later stage. It is the nature of things. Our use of free will changes over time and our standard of appropriate behavior changes over time as well. That is true for us as individuals in this room, and that is true for the several billion other souls evolving on this planet at any given time."

Martin observes, "There still appears to be the issue of how do you determine the correctness of a given choice, when we often do not know the outcome of our decisions?"

Morya laughs and says, "That is a good question. But the hour is late, so why don't we take it up tomorrow and get a good night's sleep for what, I am sure, will be a harrowing ride up the mountains in the morning." Martin smiles and nods his agreement, while Mark gets up and takes the cups into the kitchen to wash them. The men then say goodnight and retire for the evening.

Day Three: Jeep Trails

After breakfast, the three friends piled into the rented Jeep with Martin behind the wheel and Mark as copilot. The sky was bright and clear, so Martin took off the top and encouraged everyone to put on jackets, hats, and sunscreen for a full day's sun at high altitude. When all was secured, they proceeded south down Highway 550 for the turnoff toward Engineer Pass. Unfortunately, there was a long line of Jeeps and other 4x4s waiting at the beginning of the trail - apparently, there was some problem up the hill - so Martin continued driving down to the Corkscrew Gulch trail. He told Mark and Morya that the guys in the Jeep shop had assured him the trail was both exciting and "doable." They plunged into the muddy, rocky, and rough road as it moved past a nice campground and then became a very steep, winding, and narrow incline far above the tree line. Near the top, there was junction with rough signs pointing to Silverton or toward the California Gulch. Close by were the towering peaks of Red Mountain, so named because of the volcanic minerals exposed near the top. It was a breathtaking sight, and the men got out numerous times to take pictures. Martin walked to a few abandoned mines along the road, and came back with several large specimens coated with what appeared to be silver and gold flakes. Martin said, "We're gonna be rich!" and Mark, laughing, said, "You will never get me up here again." Morya just chuckled and watched a couple of eagles riding high on the air currents overhead.

At the junction near Poughkeepsie Gulch, they stopped to eat lunch, grateful that the sun was fairly warm – when you could get out of the wind. Martin pointed to an overturned 4x4 at the bottom of a steep trail and decided not to take that route. He had been warned at the shop that this particular trail could be dangerous. Instead, after they ate the sandwiches, he drove down the

California Gulch Road towards Animas Forks. Along the way, they found some more old mines and explored around a bit, wondering why kind of life the old miners must have lived up there. By then, it was mid-afternoon and they had a choice: either go up another trail toward Engineer Pass, return the way they came, or drive out along the Animas toward Silverton. After some discussion, they elected to go back to Silverton. On the way down, they encountered a sudden and heavy thunderstorm, which confirmed they had made the right choice. They stopped in Silverton to warm up with a cup of coffee and piece of pie, and then returned to Ouray around 6:30 pm.

Everyone was tired and agreed to Mark's suggestion that they just eat a light meal that evening. He and Morya scrambled some eggs with onions and green peppers, while Martin got a fire going. Exhausted, but happy with their adventure, the three friends traded stories about their experiences and relaxed around the table. They all remarked how sore they were after a day of holding on for dear life as they bounced along precipices and navigated impossibly tight turns. Mark and Morya congratulated Martin on his driving, but Mark confessed that he had whispered more than one prayer to be delivered home safely. Martin confided with a serious expression that they were indeed lucky because he had driven most of the way with his eyes closed. After eating, the men settled into their favorite chairs, cup of hot Darjeeling tea in hand, and began their evening's conversation in the warmth of the fire.

The Validity of Moral Judgment

Morya says, "Martin, your questions from last night were thought provoking, but I am not entirely sure what point you were trying to make. Could you possibly restate your question and give us a bit more context?"

Martin replies, "Sure, I'd be happy to. Basically, I am still puzzled about whether free will is always accompanied by a judgment of its moral correctness. It seems from observation there is no absolute judgment of morality in the universe that we can comprehend. For example, is it moral for a lion to kill a zebra? Is it moral for a male great ape to have several females as mates? Is it moral to kill innocents in strikes against terrorists? If you look at the evolution of civilizations, you see a wide range of behavior that today would be judged as being moral or immoral. What does that tell us? It tells us that morality is not absolute and that it is largely culturally and circumstantially determined. That is not to say that morality is a wrong concept. It tells us that a certain set of moral rules are relevant to a given person, a given culture, a given time and space. And if we acknowledge that our moral codes are meaningful only in a certain context, then why do we try to judge the moral behavior of people living in different circumstances than our own?"

Mark nods and says, "What is moral to one person at one stage of his soul's evolution may be different from that soul's morality when it is embodied as another person in another place and time. If you were a pharaoh in ancient Egypt, the moral standard you would hold for yourself might be different from the moral standards you live by today. Isn't that correct?"

Martin smiles and replies, "That is probably true. But come to think of it, there might be some advantages in being a pharaoh."

Mark says, "I'm sure there would be. However, the point is that the soul evolves and the moral standards it is subject to change over time and place and circumstances. This relates to our discussion of the true self. The true self is not a static being. It is an evolution in the consciousness of the individual soul as it embodies time and time again. Our task, our lesson, in this lifetime is to try to become the true self as we now understand it to be. A thousand years ago,

our conception of our true self would have been somewhat different. A thousand years from now, if we are in embodiment, our conception of our true self will probably be different from what it is today."

Martin objects, "But if that is true, then how does the human soul graduate from this planetary home? It sounds as if the lessons we must learn as human beings keep retreating: the more we learn, the more we have to learn. Where, if ever, does it end?"

Morya comments, "The lessons we are intended to learn on this planet have nothing to do with technology or scientific discovery. It is all about mastering free will, so that one's choices are always striving to do the best we can. Let me repeat that. What is important from the soul's point of view is that we strive to become the true self, that is, strive to act in accordance with our inner quality. Perfection in the world of form means always acting as one's true self. Perfection does not mean never making a mistake in one's decision. When you achieve the level of self-control and self-mastery necessary such that your choices are always based on your inner quality as you understand it at the time, when your goal is always to be the very best you can be – then you have learned your lesson in this earthly environment. It doesn't matter whether you learn this lesson as a farmer, merchant, soldier, priest, scientist, or pharaoh."

Seeing Martin' puzzled look, he adds, "In other words, the soul's sojourn on earth is to learn to be an excellent decision maker and competent creator, based on God's quality given to the soul at the time of its creation. When the soul learns that lesson, the soul is ready to graduate from this schoolroom and prepare for the next. Of course, to graduate from this schoolroom one also has to balance a certain percentage of karma from mistakes made in the past. But the balancing of that karma can occur rather quickly once your will is set on becoming your true self."

Martin sighs, "Well, that is a lot to think about. It puts a different light on what we should be striving for here on earth. I had always thought God wants us to be perfect in choices, in the sense that they were always correct and valid in an abstract, universal sense. I never could see how that would be possible, given the constant change that occurs in life's circumstances. Now I understand that a morally correct choice is not necessarily a perfect choice in the sense of permanency. A morally correct choice is the best choice we can make that is consistent with our inner quality and our understanding of our true self. That makes me feel more at ease: we don't have to be perfect, we just have to make the best moral choices we can each day." He brightens and says, "Returning to the immediate future: tomorrow I thought we might go out to Telluride, a famous ski resort an hour or so from Ouray. How does that sound?"

Mark and Morya agree it would be fun and, after washing their cups, everyone retires for the night.

Day Four: Telluride

The next day arrived chilly and rainy, with what seemed to be snow falling in the higher elevations. The men ate a warm breakfast of oatmeal and toast and talked about what they should do. Martin said he had planned on driving the Jeep to Telluride out County Road 361, but he was not sure of the road conditions, so he suggested instead that everyone go in Mark's SUV on a more indirect but reliable route, up north on Highway 50 to Highway 62 out of Ridgway and then Highway 145 which would take them into Telluride. Mark and Morya thought the idea was fine and everyone got ready to go. They would eat lunch in Telluride and make further plans when they got there.

About an hour and a half later, they drove into Telluride and immediately got caught up in a traffic jam on Colorado Avenue. It seemed as if the entire State had descended into the valley town and were now walking down the main street with no traffic control whatsoever. Window shopping as they drove yard-by-yard down the street, the men commented on how commercialized the town was – a fact attributed by Mark to the fact that Telluride, along with a few other famous ski resorts such as Vail and Breckenridge, were visited year-round by hundreds of thousands of people. Martin observed that the mountain scenery was indeed beautiful but wished it were a bit more secluded.

Eventually, Mark found a parking spot and the men walked over to La Cocina de Luz for a light lunch. La Cocina had been recommended to Mark as a place that had pretty good and wholesome food with a Southwestern flavor. By then the rain had stopped, so they ate on the patio, eating their favorite Mexican foods and sharing chips, guacamole, and a quesadilla. Martin wanted to try one of their margaritas, but settled on some horchata in deference to his friends who were drinking freshly squeezed, organic fruit juice. Pleased with their choices, they walked back to the SUV and drove further out Main Street toward Spur 145.

Feeling full and adventurous, Mark contemplated proceeding up the Black Bear Pass Road, but some Jeep enthusiasts stopped to inform them that the road would be rather gnarly for a large SUV. Mark reluctantly turned around and drove back through town, eventually turning off on Last Dollar Road, which locals said would be a nice alternate route, eventually intersecting with Highway 62 back to Ridgway. The men thoroughly enjoyed this journey, stopping frequently to take pictures of the surrounding mountains and the beautiful valley vistas along the way and promising someday to return here for a camping trip.

Balancing Free Will and Spiritual Guidance

At a particularly scenic spot, Mark suggested they get out and walk around a bit. After about a half-hour, they got back in the SUV and continued toward the Highway 62 intersection. At some point, Morya asked Martin whether he would trust his own interpretation of what was morally correct or trust the guidance of a spiritual master.

Martin replies, "I actually have given this quite a bit of thought over the years, since my experience has been both good and bad with the two approaches. More often than not, decisions that I made which were different from suggestions offered by spiritual teachers have not always turned out so well. There have been occasions when my decisions were more correct, however."

Morya asks, "What do you think made the difference between a right choice and a lesser choice?"

Martin says, "Well, that is difficult to say. But if I think about it, it seems that decisions related to my professional career can be made by me with greater confidence than decisions that have long-term consequences which are not clear. Let me give an example. On one occasion, a spiritual teacher suggested that I move my family into a secure location because of the looming prospects for nuclear war. I did not take this advice and instead pointed out that retreat to a shelter was not a good idea at all. I made this decision with a high degree of confidence because, at the time, I was in a position affording some insight in the possibilities of war. In this case, I was correct. In another case, I was spiritually inspired to do something which I did not believe was proper. I decided not to do what was suggested. What occurred over time, however, was a sequence of events which I could not foresee. As these unfolded, I realized that I should have followed the spiritual guidance. In both cases, I did what I thought was correct at the time. In the first case I was right. In the second, I was wrong."

Mark asks, "Have you drawn any conclusions from this?"

Martin thinks for a moment and says, "I guess it has been twofold. First, I need to cultivate my attunement with my true self and pray daily to have my will better aligned with the will of God. I believe the will of my true self and the will of God are closely aligned. I have both free will and an inner quality. My higher mind can help guide my free will toward more correct decisions. Secondly, I have decided that, if I do receive clear spiritual guidance, I probably should follow that guidance in most circumstances. It's kind of like the common advice to always trust your instincts. I know in my heart that I need to listen to spiritual guidance when it is offered. In short, I believe the combination of working to become more of my true self, plus being willing to listen to higher guidance if and when it comes, are probably my best choices."

Morya nods and comments, "That sounds reasonable. And don't forget, even the greatest among humanity have often asked for guidance from those more spiritually advanced than themselves. None of us are completely self-sufficient; none are truly independent; we all need help climbing the ladder of life. On the other hand, we need to remember that here on earth we are the responsible actors. Here on earth, we can have a perspective and develop an expertise that our spiritual brethren may not have due to the fact that they are spiritual, while we are here in the planes of matter. Therefore, none of us should seek to forgo our responsibilities by passing all decisions on to God and the masters. That would defeat the purpose of the soul being embodied on earth in the first place – that purpose being to learn the proper use of free will in this dimension."

Mark adds, "Yes, that is true. I myself learned this lesson when my ego had been battered by repeated failures. It was only when I learned the limits of egotism and independence that the masters helped me to crawl out of the hole which I had dug for myself. Even today, I still

sometimes struggle with decisions that I want to make versus the guidance the masters give me. I believe I have learned to make better choices on my own, but I am mindful always to keep my ears open in case some master wants to correct my course. And I have to tell you in all honesty that those course-correcting instructions have not been few in number. We really do need a partnership with God in order to do the rights things consistently here on earth."

Morya says, "I remember, my friend, some of those episodes. As I recall, you were always someone who could rise and fall in consciousness like an elevator. Gradually, however, I can attest to you spending more time on the higher floors than you did in the past."

Mark says, "Thank you, Morya. You have my enduring gratitude for the patience and kindness you have shown me over the years. Now, we both have to work on our young colleague here, who seems to be making our mistakes – many times over – on his own path forward."

Morya adds, "And a frustrating job it has been at times, I must say."

Martin, acknowledging both the joke as well as the truth, replies, "Yes, I know I am a hard case sometimes. But that is because I am hungry for dinner. Can't you speed up a little, Mark?" Mark shortly thereafter turned right onto Highway 62 and soon they were on the outskirts of Ouray. Having decided to have steak that night, Mark parked near the Outlaw Restaurant and the three friends settled into seats at a wall-side table where they ordered a fine dinner in celebration of a good day's journey.

Later that evening, the men gathered around the fireplace in their rented house and traded stories in a relaxed atmosphere with a cup of warm, strongly spiced yogi tea in hand. After a bit, Morya says in a more serious tone, "Martin, I have been thinking about your comments today in regards to following one's own or a spiritual teacher's guidance. I think you are right in noting that

humanity in general face a two-pronged dilemma. First, they must master the proper use of free will. That is the challenge and opportunity afforded all of mankind as individual souls. Second, in order to transcend the baser human consciousness, almost all individuals require some spiritual assistance. Usually this comes in the form of a great teacher, such as Jesus or the Buddha or many others, who explain the relationship of things spiritual and material. The teacher chooses the method of his or her instruction, but the message is very similar because it is a simple truth: God and man have a special relationship; men and women need to rekindle the closeness of that relationship; every individual soul is precious to God; and every person has an inner quality, which – when discovered and expressed – brings them into harmony with God and nature. It is in expressing one's inner quality that one becomes the true self. And, of course, we should always keep in mind that the words we are using – inner quality, true self, the soul, and so on – are only expressions of the real thing. Countless other terms have been used through the ages to describe the same concepts.

"Becoming the true self requires an act of free will determination to do so. Theoretically, it is easy to become the true self because a person's real identity is written into his or her spiritual DNA. Yet, here on earth, it seems hard for individuals to choose to become their true self because of a lack of understanding and bad habits. Spiritual masters can help one gain greater understanding, but individuals themselves must work hard to overcome the bad habits. It takes time for the soul of man to evolve from a childlike consciousness of innocence to a mature consciousness of self-mastery over thoughts, feelings, and actions. But, all along, the soul is in the process of becoming the true self. Becoming one's true self is fulfilling God's will for the individual and for humanity as a whole."

Both Mark and Martin reflect on Morya's observation. After watching the flames flicker in the fireplace for a while, the three friends say goodnight retire to their rooms.

Day Five: Ouray and Yankee Boy Basin

Dimensions of Reality

Over breakfast the next day, Martin asked Morya, seeming out of the blue, "Do we know how many dimensions there actually are?" Morya replies, "I personally do not know. Maybe there is not a finite number. Normally, we consider this planet to be bounded by three dimensions, four if you count time. But, from what the ancients have told us, there are several other dimensions. The multidimensional character of the universe is something quantum physics is exploring."

Martin pours himself another cup of coffee, and refills the hot water in Mark and Morya's breakfast tea. Martin then says, "I ask this in the context of becoming the true self. It seems, from my limited experience, that as I gradually mold my outer habits and consciousness to align with my inner quality, that my perceptions of reality change a bit. For example, I can sense the inner quality of others. I can process information faster. I can work with a broader perspective of interdependent factors. I know that much of this has to do with gaining greater use of my higher mind, but it seems that as you become more of your true self, you in fact expand the dimensions in which you function – at least cognitively."

Mark nods and replies, "Yes, that is what happens. And it is not always your decision, nor pleasant. For example, I have been called a clairvoyant by some. But in truth, this is a gift that is sometimes a burden to me. On various planes of existence parallel to our own – the astral, for example – there are some pretty awful things I would prefer not to see. On the other hand, the ability to see beyond the physical affords me the opportunity to see magnificent beings of light. The beauty of an angel is unbelievable. Many of these experiences are truly humbling, because

you realize just how limited are your own capabilities. There are many dimensions that exist all around us. As we develop our true self, the borders between these dimensions are thinned somewhat. So I think that part of becoming one's true self is acquiring a greater appreciation and understanding of the multidimensional universe in which we live. Of course, as long as we are in our physical bodies, we have our own activities to attend to."

Morya comments, "Mastery of free will – that is the challenge and the opportunity of mankind. Unfortunately, the number of graduates from the schoolroom of earth is somewhat smaller than it could be. If people would follow the will of God and simply become their true self, it would be so much easier."

After a moment, Martin says, "Well, today is our last full day and we have to return the Jeep by 5:00 this afternoon. How about we scout around a bit and maybe take a short side trip or two before the day is over. Are you guys up for a picnic in the mountains? It's clearing and looks like a bright, sunny day."

Mark and Morya wholeheartedly agree. Everyone clears the dishes and prepares sandwiches and snacks for the picnic. As everyone loaded into the Jeep, Martin explained that he would first be driving over to see the Box Canyon Falls just south of town, and then go out the nearby Camp Bird Road to the Yankee Boy Basin at the foot of Mount Sneffels. He had heard it should be a beautiful trip this time of year and not too difficult a drive.

After parking near the Falls, the three friends walked a short distance to Canyon Creek and were amazed by the powerful rush of the river pouring down the extremely steep and narrow channel cut deep into the rocks. Everything was slippery because of the mist, and Martin caught Mark by the elbow as he nearly fell when stepping on a moss-covered rock. After about 30 minutes, they

went back to the Jeep and drove out County Road 361 to the large mine tailings near Camp Bird. There, they turned right up County Road 26 to the tailings at Sneffels. As they moved up the mountain, the road became progressively more rough and steep. Martin was inclined to continue as far as he could, but he could tell that Mark and Morya were ready for a break, so they pulled over to a nice area surrounded by wildflowers and found a flat place to set out their picnic. The sun was intense at this altitude, so everyone wore a hat and long sleeved shirt, despite the comfortable temperature at mid-day. The sky was incredibly blue and the clouds fantastically white, although they could hear rumbling of thunder somewhere up on the peaks. The surrounding mountains were enormous, and they half expected a bear to come join their picnic. They only saw some inquisitive ground squirrels, however, along with a few hawks riding the uplifts as they surveyed their kingdom.

After lunch, the men commented on how wonderful the trip had been and Mark and Morya expressed appreciation for Martin's driving them around in the Jeep, something they said they would never do on their own. Martin replied that he very much enjoyed these vacations and hoped they would continue in the future.

Karma and Reincarnation

Mark then says to Morya, "You said you wanted to talk about finding the true self on this trip. Do you think we have discussed the subject sufficiently for this go-around?"

Morya, watching a hawk dive down to more closely inspect some bushes several hundred yards away, replies, "Yes and no. I think we have talked about what the true self is, but I feel more could be said about how the existence of the true self can be communicated to others. Each of us discovered our true self in part because of painful experiences in our lives. I often wonder if that is the only way mankind can become aware of their more spiritual side." Mark comments, "I have often thought about that myself, and I am sure the great teachers of the past pondered that question, too. It seems peculiar in one way: the will of God, the existence of the inner quality, the incredible potential of each person when they become their true self – all of these things are both good and natural for men to realize. Yet, in so many cases, people discover their inner quality and true self only after experiencing some personal crisis. And only after, sadly enough, they have caused considerable harm to others, including those they love. These unfortunate events set into motion ripples of karma that can take a long, long time to heal. That is why I personally believe that it is only through the mercy of God that an individual is finally able to break the cycle of negative karma and have the freedom to discover and become the true self." Martin, who has been listening carefully, nods his agreement. "You know, all of my professional career has been devoted to trying to do good things in public service. I have at the same time, too often to count, failed to act appropriately in my private life. I thought that if I strived to do good things in my public life, my private life would be forgiven and overlooked. But it did not work out that way. Eventually, and in completely unexpected ways, my private misdeeds came back to me in circumstances that detrimentally affected my public career. When I was in the midst of these unsettling events, I would often think that I was being punished for things I did not do. However, after much reflection, I concluded that no good or bad deed goes without recompense. The return of karma is usually not immediate, however. What is that saying from the ancient Greeks: 'the mills of the Gods grind slowly but they grind exceedingly fine'? I believe that observation is true."

Mark says, "I find it important to look at karma in terms of the soul's evolution. A person can be an absolute tyrant in one lifetime and come back as a humble priest in another. We all learn from

our experiences, and it is the collective wisdom that we gain that enables us to finally understand that the purpose in life is to become our true self."

Morya says, "Martin makes a good point, I thought, in recounting how his good intentions on a social level were in some ways undermined by mistakes in his personal life. I have seen this countless times, and our news media thrives on stories of the rich and famous being humiliated by some hidden vice. In truth, this is one of the most difficult characteristics of mankind which the spiritual brotherhood has to deal with. Because individuals do not know their inner potential, they tend to misuse the opportunity and resources given them, even though they sense their internal goodness."

He drinks some water, looks up at the towering peaks, and continues, "Most, if not all of humanity, are good in their hearts. You see this repeatedly in life. At the same time, most of humanity are also so-called sinners in some way or another. This morally good and morally bad combination exists in most people's character. Their inner quality is good. Their true self is good. Their soul has good intentions. But their actual behavior is not always up to these higher standards. Why is this?"

Mark and Martin wait for Morya to continue. Morya then says, "I believe the answer lies in one's own consciousness. The individual must refine his or her own consciousness. No one can do this for them, at least not on a permanent basis. True, you can be inspired by the presence of some great spiritual master. But when you are alone, your consciousness can drift to where it was before. Something has to happen within the individual to make him or her conclude that they must change their way of looking at things and their ways of behavior. What this catalyst for personal change is varies from person to person. It often seems to come from a personal crisis, but it can also come through more gentle ways, as when students are guided by wise teachers. As

is often said, the law prefers the gentler way. However, the gentler way doesn't always work with people.

"I think there are two basic paths for the individual who wishes to become his true self. The first is to master one's desires, so that the desire for sexual gratification, the desire for power, the desire for wealth, the desire for recognition, and so forth, does not become so strong as to overwhelm one's sense of propriety. We are human beings, so having desires is natural. But to have desires control our lives and to lead us into situations that undermine our good side is not in one's long-term interests. We must, therefore, overcome insatiable and inappropriate desire in order to become our true self. That is one way.

"The other way is to love God so much that one allows the emanations of God's will, love, and wisdom to permeate every part of one's body and consciousness. Eventually, the flow of God's energy – which often is transmitted through a master or spiritual teacher – purifies the individual sufficiently to allow that individual to experience the true self and begin expressing their inner quality.

"Both of these approaches work, and entire religions have been based on these paths. There are other techniques as well. It matters not which path one takes, as long as one reaches the goal: becoming one's true self. One always hopes, however, that in choosing one's path, one does not inadvertently cause harm to others. Our personal path to becoming the true self should not place obstacles in the way of other souls moving through life."

Martin comments, "It sounds a lot like Buddhism."

Mark replies, "Actually, what Morya is saying is a familiar theme in spiritual teachings around the world. What people seem to forget is that the teacher and the teaching are but vehicles

intended to carry their followers to the realization of their own divine potential. Wisdom does not come through a single religious figure or spiritual text. Wisdom comes from self-realization and self-fulfillment. We are all sons and daughters of God, children of the Most High. How could it be otherwise, since God is the God of the Universe?"

The men were quiet for a while, enjoying the freshness of the air and the huge expanse of the basin and surrounding mountains. Martin wondered aloud how it was for the original explorers walking through this area, feeling like small pebbles at the base of these majestic peaks. The three friends packed up their picnic supplies, got into the Jeep, and headed back to Ouray.

Chapter 4: Integration of Body and Soul

The next year, Martin contacted Morya and Mark to invite them and their wives to his and Marcella's new home near Annapolis, Maryland. He suggested that, if convenient for them, they come out in early summer rather than the hot and humid months of late July and August. After consulting with Helen and Elizabeth, Morya and Mark agreed that the third week in June would be ideal. A date was set, and Martin promised to meet them at Baltimore International Airport at the United Airlines baggage claim area.

On the appointed day, Martin picked up his friends in Marcella's van and they drove out to their newly constructed home on Broad Creek, just off Riva Road before it crossed the South River. The home was beautifully situated, and Marcella proudly showed it off with a guided tour of the four-bedroom, two-story brick house set among trees on a bluff overlooking the creek. Martin was especially keen to point out the detached garage, separate work shop, and small dock down by the water. He didn't have a boat yet, he explained half apologetically, but would soon try to get one.

After the brief tour, Mark and Morya and their wives retired to their respective guest rooms to unpack and freshen up before dinner at 7:00. Sitting around a large English dining table, the friends toasted each other with chilled Chardonnay, and then toasted Marcella again for a delicious dinner of local rockfish, fresh corn on the cob, and Indian okra. Strawberry cheesecake and coffee topped everything off perfectly.

Morya asked how they came about selecting this house, and Marcella told them about the adventures (and misadventures) they had with the realtor and the protracted negotiations with the contractor to get everything just right. Everyone shared similar experiences, concluding that buying a house was one of life's greater challenges. By then, it was nearly 11:00 in the evening

and a few yawns were beginning to appear in between the laughter and smiles. Martin suggested they all turn in for a good night's sleep, and Marcella promised to have breakfast ready at 9:00 the next morning. Everyone said good night and retired for the evening.

Day One: Crabbing

In the morning, everyone headed to the kitchen to grab a cup of coffee or tea and to see if they could help Marcella with breakfast. Finding they were more in the way than helpful, the men went out to the front porch to sit in the sun and discuss their day's plans. Martin thought it would be interesting to go crabbing, something that Mark and Morya never had done. Martin said one of the best spots was less than a half-mile away, across the South River Bridge down Riva Road. It sounded good, so they sat back in their chairs and listened to the birds and watched the squirrels chase each other in the tall oak trees along the driveway.

After breakfast, Martin asked the ladies whether they would like to go crabbing that morning. Marcella thanked him for the invitation, but said they had planned to go downtown and shop around the historic district to see what they might find of interest. Everyone seemed to like these separate plans, and they agreed to meet back at the house in the late afternoon. Within the hour, the ladies left in the van to go shopping and the men got into Martin's pickup to go crabbing.

Martin stopped at a small grocery store to pick up a dozen chicken necks and a ball of string, and then at a nearby bait shop to get non-resident crabbing licenses for Mark and Morya, along with a few extra fishing weights. In the truck, he already had a long-handled fish net and a cooler filled with ice for the crabs, along with some bottled water and crackers for a snack. All prepared, he drove the few minutes to a parking lot near the bridge. They got out, carried their

supplies under the bridge, and set up on the concrete embankment on the other side where Martin said the crabs were best caught on the incoming tide.

The timing seemed excellent, so Martin hurried with cutting lengths of twin and tying on each a chicken neck and a small weight. He tossed the baited lines out about ten feet into the water and secured them to nails previously driven into the wooden decking. Morya and Mark watched, and Mark asked after the last line was attached, "Now what?" Martin just smiled, opened a bottle of water, and sat in one of the folding chairs he had brought from the house. "Now we just wait and watch the lines. If you see one of them start to straighten out, that means a crab has latched onto the bait and is pulling it into deeper water to eat. When that happens, I'll show you how to bring them in."

As Mark and Martin talked about the colonial history of the area, Morya walked along the embankment to peer into the water. He exclaimed at one point, "Hey, I just saw a large fish swim by!" Martin replies, "Yes, there are lots of fish out there. If you look across the water, you can see them jump once in a while to catch a smaller fish." There was no immediate activity, so Mark asked Martin what he had been up to recently in his job. Martin explained that recent federal budget cuts had made it difficult for contractors but that his work seemed secure, at least for the time being. Mark then talked about his new Center for the Study of Human Excellence and how, the older he got and the younger the students seemed to be, the more challenging it became to connect with them in terms they could understand.

Martin then pointed to two lines being pulled straight into the river. "Now watch this," he says as he stands. He carefully lifts the line and begins to slowly pull it in. He explains, "The crabs don't like to let go of their meal, but they will if they feel threatened. So the key is to pull slowly so they hang on. If you are careful, you can pull them up close to the surface where we are standing.

Then, we use that net over there to scoop them up. If they are larger than your hand span, that's a keeper and into the cooler it goes. If it is smaller, just toss it back in the river to grow up for next year."

Mark and Morya listened attentively and then smiled broadly when Martin scooped one up that seemed big enough for the cooler. Both men then reached for stretching lines themselves and began the slow, hand over hand process of gradually bringing in the line. They lost more than a few crabs before getting the feel of it, but then, before long, all three men were hauling crabs in, helping each other with the netting. Most were too small, but several large blue crabs were caught and put on ice. On one occasion, a feisty one got out of the cooler and scrambled across the embankment to get to the water. Mark managed to capture it with the net and Morya almost got pinched as he tried to free the crab from the webbing and drop it back into the cooler. Martin cautioned his friends to be careful because those pinchers hurt and could draw blood. After more than an hour on the embankment, they had 15 good-sized crabs and were getting a little tired running back and forth between the lines.

Trust and Integration

Sitting down to rest for a moment, Mark says, "I'm intrigued by the issue of trust in spiritual development. Many of my students confess they have a problem trusting other people, even their teachers who have nothing in mind but to help them understand themselves a little better." Martin adds, "Yes, trust is a big issue. In my work, complete trust is a rare commodity. In a spiritual sense, it would seem self-evident that one should trust God, but there remains a lingering conviction that no human being should ever be completely trusted." Mark comments, "From my experience, I have found there is a vicious cycle here: one does not trust others, because one does not trust oneself. One does not trust oneself, because one does not trust others."

Morya then says, "Trust is an interesting issue from the point of view of spiritual growth. In order for the soul to surrender its all to God, the soul has to trust God. The very act of surrendering to God requires the soul to take a giant leap of faith. The integration of man's free will with the will of God requires one to trust in God." He drinks some water and continues, "I suppose the final merging of the soul with the Creator is the greatest integration of all: the point at which the individualized soul once again becomes one with God. That point of integration, the moment of singularity, will inevitably occur. Should we fear that moment, or should we have trust in God's purposes? In more immediate terms, a human being cannot become his or her true self unless the person first trusts himself. Why is this? In a deeply psychological way, it is related to a sense of failure – almost like ancestral guilt brought about by a sense of original sin as taught in Christianity."

Mark adds, "Interestingly enough, original sin appears to be a western concept and one that is not embraced by other religious traditions beyond Christianity. However, the sense of guilt seems widely shared by almost all mankind."

Martin says, "Yet, I have known people who claim they have no sense of guilt; as the Chinese say, 'I have no ghosts.' On closer examination, however, even these people admit to feeling a sense of failure in doing something they ought to be doing. The sense of guilt and the sense of failure seem pretty close and, if combined, they would pretty much include all of humanity. On reflecting, it seems to me that the combined sense of guilt and failure have a great deal to do with the lack of trust in oneself that appears to stand in the way of an individual's spiritual merger with God, as both of you have described.

"But, my friends, there is nothing that would indicate that complete trust is a good thing. Even in the animal kingdom, there is no trust. If you observe animals, there is always a wariness of the

intentions of others. And, for people, who can you completely trust? We all want to trust someone, but how often has that trust been misplaced? Not because people are necessarily bad, but because people are imperfect by their nature. Imperfect people cannot be perfectly trusted. It is as simple as that." He pauses, then says, "Perhaps I have overstated this. Let me rephrase: Because every person is imperfect, there will be times when every person's actions will not be perfect. Therefore, no one can be trusted completely. However, all men merit some trust, depending on the circumstances. Hence, trust between people ought to be on a sliding scale, with trust being bestowed on each individual depending on the person's character as well as the situation is which trust is being considered. I think that would cover it."

Mark comments, "But the imperfection of man is something the individual is constantly striving to overcome. If he or she cannot be perfect, at least they should trust themselves to always do their best. If they cannot trust themselves, how can they become their true self, and how can they surrender their will to God? We need to overcome our inability to trust God if we are fully to receive God's blessings and assistance on our soul's passage through life."

Martin replies, "I understand what you are saying. But distrust is woven into our DNA as part of the instinct to survive. To survive, all lifeforms need to be distrustful to some extent. Experience teaches us that a perfectly trusting person is going to get hurt, just like a perfectly trusting animal is bound to be harmed by something in nature. When I worked on the Hill, I observed that the Congressmen who were the best people, the nicest people, the people we would immediately recognize as being truly good, almost never succeeded in office or won reelection."

Mark says, "What that says to me is that politics is not always the best profession for one who is seeking to advance himself spiritually. On the other hand, I can respect someone who, having won an office in government, refuses to compromise their higher nature simply to retain their

position of power. That person, in my view, is a true leader, even if his fellowmen are unable to recognize it."

Mark pauses and then observes, "Trust can never be perfectly expressed. It is one of those qualities, like love, that can never be fully realized by human beings but which all mankind by nature seek to find and express in their lives. It is in the striving to constantly improve ourselves that we gain in self-control, self-trust, and determination to do what is right. It is a constant process of growth for the human soul in embodiment. And integration between the spirit and man and the spirit of God is part of that process as well."

Morya says, "Let's look at this from a slightly different perspective. In the spiritual world of saints, angels, and representatives of God, there is no such thing as distrusting God. There is no such thing as distrusting other spiritual beings serving God's will. Why is there trust in these spiritual planes but distrust in man's world?" Hearing no response, he continues, "The difference between a spiritual being and a human being is that the former is completely integrated with the will of God, whereas the latter is still trying to balance God's will and human will in his own mind. You cannot be a spiritual being, completely trusting God, as long as you hold on to the lesser image of yourself. On the other hand, surrendering human will is almost impossible until you recognize your soul as a creation of God. There is a transformative process that occurs when an individual recognizes his true self and then strives with his free will to gradually become that true self in outer expression. In this effort to integrate oneself with one's Creator, the individual begins to understand that the will of his true self is nearly identical with the will of God. It is God's will that mankind come to understand and reflect their real selves. There is, however, a difference between wanting to be one's true self and actually becoming one's true self, just as there is a difference between a child wanting to grow up and a child who actually becomes a

mature adult. There are cycles of time and development of character that have to occur before an individual can become his or her real or true self.

"What is important is that we want to become our true self and try daily to move in that direction. Sometimes our steps will make us more kind to our spouses and children. Sometimes our steps will require that we be more diligent in our workplace. Sometimes our steps will take us to the feet of the master. Sometimes our steps will ask us to sacrifice something for others. These are all steps on the path."

He looks out across the river in reflection, then says, "In this process of becoming our true self, we will naturally face the dilemma of whom to trust. To say you trust somebody, even God, is not to truly trust them. To trust someone you must first be able to trust yourself. And to trust yourself, you have to know your inner quality and to be aware of your true self – as a goal toward which you are striving. None of us can completely trust our human self to always do the right thing. But all of us can completely trust our true self. As you recognize your inner quality and sense its potential, you begin to understand that as you move toward becoming your true self, then your trust in yourself will grow and your trust in God will grow as well.

"This alignment of man's will and God's will is the mechanism through which a human being can eventually become a spiritual being. This is how the evolution of souls takes place. And the role of trust is essential to that evolution. At our stage of human evolution, an individual does not need to be perfect. However, the individual needs to know the existence of his true self and to trust his desire to become his true self. When that desire is firmly anchored in the individual's consciousness, then the individual can trust himself and he can trust God. The link between heaven and earth is thereby established, and much can be done to integrate the two dimensions of life."

Mercy and Forgiveness

After a moment, Martin says, "I can see that having trust in God and in oneself are important keys to making the connection between man and God. However, before you can fully trust yourself, you must first be able to forgive yourself. It is often our lapses in life that stand in the way of our realizing our full potential as a son or daughter of God. How can be we friends with God or with the saints if we cannot look them in the eye and feel, not equal in terms of their achievements, but equal in terms of our worthiness?"

Mark answers, "That, my friend, is a key issue on the path of becoming one's true self. That is why one of the major steps on the path of spiritual initiation is the purification of the cause, effect, record, and memory of all of our misuse of free will. Our souls must be unburdened from the weight of our mistakes in the past, else our souls cannot – like Gautama – touch the earth and be found to have the right to ascend to higher levels of consciousness."

Martin replies, "Mark, I know intuitively that what you are saying is correct. But it is difficult for me to see how this transmutation occurs in reality."

Morya contributes, "This is where the great mercy and forgiveness of God come into play. The Catholic Church has a ritual of confessing sins and thereby seeking forgiveness. This reflects a larger spiritual process whereby God and God's Representatives – the hierarchy of heaven, if you will – use their spiritual powers to purify the energy mankind has misused in various misdeeds. It is possible for a person to balance all of his or her karma through service, sacrifice, or spiritual rituals. But most people have a lot of accumulated negative karma built up from many lifetimes on this planet. Most of us need God's help to transmute enough of this negative karma so as to be able to move on in our spiritual development. This help can be gained if the person desires to be purified of this negative energy, if the person asks for heaven's intervention

in their life, and if the great laws of karmic justice allow for such intervention at that stage of the soul's development. All of these factors need to align for mercy and forgiveness to be given to the individual. However, sometimes God or the heavenly hosts make an exception and reach out to render aid even when the person may not fully have warranted it. God is mysterious in His ways."

Martin observes, "For me, it seems appropriate that a person balance his own karma, since he or she made the mistakes in the first place." Morya smiles and says, "You can say that and it may be true. But the lessons of life can indeed be devastating and it is best for mankind not to close the door to heaven's aid if it is offered." Mark adds, "And we can also note that, sometimes, people will refuse the aid offered by heaven because of their lesser ego. The sense of self-love and self-reliance on the part of the lesser ego can cause it to prefer suffering rather than surrendering to the will of God. Accepting the gift of mercy and forgiveness from God can be a humbling experience to the human ego, even while it can also be amazingly uplifting to one's spirit."

The men sit for a while, enjoying the hot sun and cool breeze off the water. The gulls were gliding close overhead to see if any scraps could be found. For fun, Martin tosses a cracker up into the air, and a gull sweeps down to catch it before it hits the ground. Mark laughs. "Everything's got to eat. Where should we go for lunch?" Martin motions toward the road alongside them. "There is a pretty good restaurant just across the road, near where we parked. Let's pack up and check out their menu."

Martin untied the lines and tossed the remaining chicken necks into the water, while his two companions collected the ice chest and chairs and walked under the bridge to the parking lot. After putting things away in the truck and securing the cooler to prevent any crabs from

escaping, the three friends went over to Mike's Crab House and enjoyed a sandwich and a cup of clam chowder at a table looking out at the river. About a half-hour later, they went back to the house, unpacked, made sure the crabs were cool and secure, and settled on the back porch to sit in the shade. Their wives returned a short time later, each with one or two shopping bags, which they opened for their husbands with excited stories of how the purchases were an exceptional value and unique besides.

Marcella planned on having a cook-out for dinner that evening, so Martin went to the kitchen around 5:30 to prepare the crabs. When they were finished, he laid them out on newspapers on the back yard picnic table and invited his guests to come out and enjoy. He spent a few minutes showing them how to use the crab utensils, but everyone got the hang of it pretty quickly.

While their friends were enjoying the appetizer, Martin helped his wife prepare some rib eye steaks for grilling. Soon, the guests had finished with the crabs and Mark and Morya had removed the newspapers and replaced them with a tablecloth. Marcella brought out the food, while Helen and Elizabeth set the table. Everyone took their places with a glass of ice tea as Martin put down a tray of steaks and invited his guests to choose their own.

The friends ate leisurely, with much conversation on the day's activities while admiring the beautiful view of Broad Creek through the trees in late June. For dessert, Marcella brought out some fresh brownies and coffee. Afterwards, the men helped clear the table and Martin put the dishes into the dishwasher before joining the others in the living room.

Separating and Integrating Levels of Consciousness

When Martin sat down, Elizabeth said to him, "Thank you and your dear wife for a delightful meal. I have never eaten so much – or so well – in my life." Everyone nods at this and the men were especially appreciative of Marcella in their compliments. Elizabeth then says, "My husband

told me that you were interested in Morya's approach to the true self." Looking at Morya, she asks, "Can you tell us what your experience has been when you try to teach these concepts?"

Morya answers, "There are always a few souls who seem to understand exactly what I am saying. Most people, however, seem to be listening to further their understanding of themselves. I almost never hear protests of my message. Perhaps it has to do with my black beard." Everyone laughs, and Elizabeth continues. "The reason I am interested in their reaction is because Mark and I sometimes lecture on similar subjects. We find it fairly easy to explain the different levels of human consciousness, but more difficult to explain their interaction in the same human being. How do you present the integration of consciousness?"

Morya replies, "That can be a subtle point to convey. How it is that a human being, with our many flaws, can in fact be a son or daughter of God is inconceivable to many. It takes a paradigm shift in one's perception, seeing the present as but one moment in an infinitely long cycle of the soul's evolution and self-realization." Martin adds, "I think you are saying, Morya, that our present existence as a human being is but a temporary phase of our existence as a soul. The soul, in reality, is a seed of God's own consciousness. Our goal in life, therefore, should be to identify with and to express as much as possible the fruition of that seed. In other words, to maximize our God-given potential. Is that pretty much correct?"

Morya responds, "Yes, that is fairly close to what I am saying. Our true self is an individualization of an aspect of God. You identify this with the inner quality of honor and integrity. Others identify this with God's will, wisdom, love, mercy, healing, opportunity, perfection, and so on. God is all of these things and much more. God is the core of all existence. God expands the universe not only by the expansion of matter and energy, time and space, but also by the material and spiritual evolution of life. The scale of God is quite beyond human

comprehension. But what is perhaps most important from a human perspective is that happiness and self-fulfillment can only occur when the individual aligns his will with the will of God."

Mark comments, "It appears to me that the issue is this: How does mankind integrate all aspects of his consciousness? Martin, here, expressed on our trip out to Ouray last year a desire to become integrated while in human embodiment. To bring heaven to earth, so to speak. Morya and I expressed the view that, while this may be theoretically possible, it is easier and more practical to elevate the human to the divine: to bring earth to heaven. Those are two different approaches, but I am not sure, in the end, whether there is much of a difference."

Helen asks, "And what exactly is that end, in your view?"

Mark answers, "As I understand it – and I would ask Morya to correct me if I am wrong – the end result is the transmutation of the mistakes and baser consciousness of a human being so that he or she may become, permanently, a spiritual being."

Mark looks over to Morya for assistance, and Morya takes up the explanation, "Think of it this way: the complete mastery of some quality of God – take honor and integrity, for example – is a pathway for the individual to become increasingly integrated with the Godhead. You need to think multi-dimensionally here. Suppose we have an enormous multi-layered sphere. The outer layers are where we are at present. As we become more of our true self, we move closer to the center where the elements of God are more concentrated. At the outer layer, we are highly individualized. At the innermost layer, our consciousness merges within the unity of God. We progressively move, in a spiritual sense, from being completely independent and separate in consciousness, to a point of complete oneness with all of life. On earth, we may have glimpses of oneness with God and all of life in our deepest meditation, but the permanence of oneness can

only occur after we transition from this plane of existence into higher levels of spiritual existence. Life on earth is not the end point of the human soul; nor is it the beginning. It is somewhere in the middle, at a point of transition from one plane of existence to another."

Helen then says, "We have forgotten one essential point. Becoming one's true self involves not only the integration of one's consciousness with one's inner quality, but also the separation in consciousness between that which hinders our integration and that which furthers our integration. Jesus, for example, did not simply integrate his consciousness with that of the Father; he also was found to be innocent of all wrongdoing by Satan. What this tell us is that we must separate the wheat from the chaff in our outer consciousness and rid ourselves of that chaff, before our outer consciousness can merge with higher levels of self-awareness."

Spiritual Integration and Worldly Responsibilities

Martin ponders this a while, then says, "I think what you saying makes sense. Becoming my true self is my goal. However, I am a human being. I have desires, and I like living on earth. What I want is not to escape from the planet in order to live on some spiritual plane of existence, but rather to integrate spirit and matter here on earth to become my true self in the here and now. Do you think that is possible?"

Morya answers, "Yes, that is a goal toward which people can strive. However, one must be practical. Let me ask you, Martin: you work in a consulting company serving the Federal Government. How successful have you been in changing the government, or even your company, into something more noble, honest, and beneficial to mankind?"

Martin smiles and says, "Not very."

Morya continues, "There is a lesson here. We can and should improve ourselves, become our true self. However, none of us have the right – or the power for that matter – to change others or large social institutions. That is what free will is all about: individuals determining what they wish to become. Every world teacher, every master, even God Himself, would like the earth and its populations to become integrated in spirit and matter. But it has rarely occurred in the history of this planet, although many souls have tried and millions of good people have done their best to leave the world a better place than they found it. So, Martin, while your desire for spiritual and material integration may be good, you need also to be somewhat practical in your aspirations."

Morya then says, "We occupy a certain place in the spectrum of life. We are not angels. We are human beings. And the tests we face as human beings are unique to ourselves. All we can do is master our own consciousness in the environment in which we live. Our job is not to determine the best government for creatures that may be living on Jupiter or Mars. Our job is not to preach to lifeforms that may exist on the other side of the galaxy. We have our own job to do right here and now, where we are at present. If we can take what we have been given – our inner qualities and the assistance given us by Jesus and other great teachers – and work to become our true self, in the situation and circumstances we find ourselves in, then that is sufficient. Nothing more is expected of us."

Martin comments, "I understand what you are saying, but I am still puzzled over whether – and to what degree – it is possible to integrate one's higher consciousness with one's outer consciousness here on earth. It seems to me that this integration should be – or could be – one of the purposes of our life as a human being. The earth is our sphere of responsibility and its fate rests largely in our hands. I want to see my fellowman realize their full potential, even as I am becoming more of my true self."

Marcella adds, "This is a conversation Martin and I have had many times over the years. I keep telling him to concentrate on doing what is practical in the here and now, and not to think too much about things he can do nothing about." Helen says, "I think all husbands and wives have similar discussions. There is always a trade-off between doing what is practical and trying to do what is ideal. I guess all of us have to balance the need for pragmatism with the need for pursuing dreams."

Elizabeth comments, "Martin, you may indeed be on the ray of integration where that desire for merging the human and the divine is natural. None of us would turn you from that path, but only urge you to be careful. From my experience, a soul such as yours must be extra cautious, because there is a fine line between wanting to be on the earth but not of it and craving earthly desires so much that one loses sight and opportunity to advance spiritually. It is easy to fall into the comfortable pattern of being a full-time student on earth, forgetting that the objective is to graduate and move on, not to take all the courses the university offers."

Martin thinks about this for a moment, then says, "I can sense the dangers of which you speak, and indeed I have been distracted far more often than I care to remember. Still, I believe I have a duty from God and the masters to do what I can to fight for the wellbeing of the children of light on this planet and not to let them fall prey to the dark ones who would corrupt their souls."

Morya observes, "Yes, indeed, it does make sense. But remember that no single general can fight every battle in the universe. There are legions of lightbearers in cosmos who stand ready to do precisely what you say you want to do. Far better to become part of this great army of justice than to always go into battle alone and with holes in your armor. As you have mentioned to us before, being too involved in the planes of matter can detract one's attention from what is most important, from the soul's point of view. These are all cautionary notes from your friends and in no way intended to cause you to deviate from your sense of duty."

Mark comments, "Once again, I am reminded of the great discussion between Arjuna and Krishna in the *Bhagavad-Gita*. Krishna tells Arjuna that he should just act as his duty requires, with no thought of the fruit of the action. This non-attachment, Krishna said, leads to enlightenment." Elizabeth reflects, "I think non-attachment has its place on the spiritual path. But I also believe that the Divine Feminine in us all is concerned about pain and suffering brought about by thoughtlessness or inappropriate action. That kind of concern must come from a sense of deep attachment to the preciousness of life."

Morya says, "This leads to a great truth. Being practical, being filled with idealism, being nonattached, being concerned about all living things – all of these can be spiritually correct...at their appropriate time. Different circumstances require different types of action by the individual soul." Marcella asks, "Are you implying that a mother's love is not always appropriate?" Morya smiles and says, "No, I am saying that an individual is not always a mother."

He then explains, "Look at it this way. In a given situation, there are a number of options. Some options are better than others. Everyone should help save a drowning man. However, a person who can't swim may choose a different action than a lifeguard. The one screams for help; the other rushes into the water. The same circumstances. Two different people. Two different choices that are both correct."

After a moment of reflection, Marcella asks everyone if they would like more dessert or tea. But the consensus is that the hour is late and it is time for bed. Saying goodnight, all retire for the evening, with Martin helping Marcella wash the remaining dishes before retiring themselves.

Day Two: National Zoo

The next morning, the friends talked about what they would like to do. Martin offered to drive everyone out to Washington to show them the museums and federal buildings, but everyone had done that before. Finally, after some thought, Marcella suggested they all go to the National Zoo and see Mei Xiang and Tian Tian, the Zoo's famous giant pandas. Helen and Elizabeth quickly agreed and so it was settled.

Within about two hours, they arrived at the Rock Creek entrance to the Zoo. The ladies wanted to pet the animals in the Kids' Farm. The group then walked to the Great Cat area and thence to the Asia Trail on the way to the Great Panda Habitat. Fortunately, both Mei Xiang and Tian Tian were in their enclosures, eating huge fruitsicles. It was quite a sight, seeing the giant pandas lick and bite away at their treats, oblivious of the photographers and wide-eyed children, and thoroughly enjoying a cold, sweet snack on a warm summer day. Tian Tian finished his quickly and, after determining that only scraps remained, walked off down a path to a pile of freshly cut bamboo. Ever the lady, Mei Xiang carefully consumed every bit of the treat, including licking her ample tummy and each of her paws. Mei Xiang then paraded in front of everyone, often making eye contact with her enraptured audience. Even the teenagers were heard to say, "I can't believe it! I want to hug her!"

After an hour of watching the adult pandas and sleeping cubs, the friends walked around to see the elephants, bears, and sea lions, and eventually returned to their parked van. Martin suggested a late lunch – it was shortly after 2 pm – at the popular Peking Gourmet Inn in nearby Falls Church. None of their guests had eaten there, so Martin and Marcella said they would be in for a real treat.

Once seated at one of the large round tables in the restaurant, Martin ordered three Peking Ducks and several side dishes. When the ducks arrived and the carving began, Martin showed his friends how to place the sliced duck on pancakes, topped with sauce and leeks. At their first bite into the folded pancakes, his friends all had a look of serious deliciousness on their faces. Once they got the knack of how to make their own, nothing could hold them back, and soon Martin was ordering more pancakes and toppings. After countless cups of tea and seemingly endless rounds of pancakes, everyone turned down the waiter's offer of dessert, although Martin did ask him to bring out some sliced oranges. These topped off the meal perfectly.

After everyone washed their hands, they all got back into the van and returned to Annapolis, very happy with the day. When they got into the house, everyone politely excused themselves and went to their rooms for a little rest.

About 7:30, the friends sat down at the dining room table and enjoyed a light meal of salad and fruit. Marcella said she was thinking about a trip to China sometime in early May of next year to visit Chengdu and its nearby Bifengxia Panda Reserve. She also hoped to travel to some newly opened but remote reserves deeper in the mountains. Helen and Elizabeth immediately expressed interest in travelling with her, and their husbands encouraged their wives to start planning early. None of the men seemed keen on making the trip, however, so the ladies decided to huddle together sometime the next day to discuss details.

After dinner, everyone walked into the living room and Marcella served hot mint tea with local honey. Some light snacks were also offered on a tray in the middle of a wooden coffee table Martin made from an old apple tree he had cut down.

Is Earthly Perfection Possible?

Settling into his chair, Martin says, "I wanted to clarify my comments from last night's conversation. I may have left the impression that I want the earth and human beings to be perfect. But that is not the case. I do not believe that perfection is possible in time and space. I do think, however, that improvement is possible and that personal and social improvement can best be made through attempts at integrating spirit and matter on earth."

Martin continues, "The integration of spirit and matter that I am referring to is the responsibility of each person to use his inner quality as a standard for his or her best behavior. If everyone did their best to express their inner quality – because that is what they wanted to do – I am convinced the world would be a better place. When I say a better place, I am talking about a gradual evolution in the affairs of men, whereby increasing numbers of people become aware of their inner quality and seek to externalize it. This should led naturally to an improvement in both the quality of individual lives as well as social improvement as well, including political institutions."

Everyone was quiet for a moment, then Elizabeth offers her opinion. "I don't think any of us would disagree with what you are saying, Martin. In fact, I think we all are doing exactly that. We all do our best. I am thinking, 'who doesn't do their best?' But you seem to be reaching toward something deeper. Why, for example, do you describe this as an integration of spirit and matter, when it really is a description of what people commonly do all the time?"

Mark smiles and says, "OK. We have a disagreement on what one's best actually is, and we have a disagreement on whether people usually do their best. From my own experience, it is the motivation for doing good things that determines the effort an individual puts into doing his or her best. Motivation – the desire to do something, or not to do something – is to me the key to this discussion. A person's deep psychological motivation heavily influences one's incentives."

Martin says, "I think motivation is a critical factor, but what is the cause of the motivation? That is the real issue. What is it that determines whether an individual has motivation to do something good or bad? There is a difference between someone being motivated to be the best safe cracker in the world and someone being motivated to heal all children of cancer."

Helen says, "Yes, that is true. Marcella, in your experience as a therapist, what have you learned in terms of the causes of one's motivations?"

Marcella, after thinking a moment, replies, "I have not found there to be a single cause of a person's motivation. There can be multiple causes and multiple motivations. Let's take an example of someone who wants to do good things in the world. That person may not understand why they have that impulse to do good things. Therapy can help identify the source, or at least some of the sources. Therapy usually reveals a great complexity in people's motivations and behaviors. In our theoretical case, for example, the person might come through therapy to understand that they want to do good things because bad things were done to them as a child, or they witnessed bad things being done to those they cared about. Alternatively, the person might discover that his motivation for good comes from the tender care they received as a child from their mother or another loved one. Again, the person might discover that they want to do good because they feel guilt over having harmed someone earlier in their life. Or, they might have the motivation to do good because the painful lessons in life have taught them that they will feel better if they try to do good things. The point is that the source of one's motivation is not always clear to us, nor always the same. And, as we all know, our motivations can contradict or even work against each other."

Helen offers her opinion: "I think we are getting to the core of the human condition here. I have known a few people who seem to be good from the time of early childhood. Their family

background, their experiences, do not seem to have caused their natural goodness. Perhaps they are advanced souls or there is some other explanation. On the other hand, I have known a few people who truly seem to be motivated to do harmful things. Again, sometimes there is nothing in their background that I know of that could explain this. Most of us are somewhere in the middle: sometimes motivated to do good, sometimes motivated to do things that are not so good."

Marcella says, "Yes, I agree with that assessment. I have also found it quite remarkable that the truly good at heart and the truly evil at heart seem to understand themselves quite well and see no need for therapy. We rarely see them in the clinic. The people we mostly see are those who can't decide whether they are essentially good or bad. These people believe they need help in determining who they are."

Martin comments, "They need to discover their true self." Marcella replies, "You can say that." She pauses, then continues. "I went into practice with the assumption that all people were innately good. That may still be the case. But at the levels of consciousness I deal with – outer awareness and subconscious – there are people out there who do not fully identify with a core of goodness. These may be in the small minority, but there is more than a few."

Mark observes, "I think the people we talk to have a lot to do with the community in which we work. Marcella here, being a therapist, interacts with people in need of help, many of whom are driven by unwholesome motivations. I counsel people who are seeking to discover their own spirituality. By and large, their motivations are driven by a sense of good will. I guess what this implies is that humanity has a wide range of individuals, some of whom are good by nature, some bad by nature, some mostly good, some mostly bad, and many not sure whether they are

good or bad. All in all, I would tend to agree with Martin's observation that perfect is impossible on earth for human beings. Morya, do you have any thoughts on this?"

The Goal to Become One's True Self

Morya replies, "I believe all of you are correct in your observations. Humanity is a very complex social organism, and there simply is no single answer as to why people have their motivations and behave the way they do. Remember that the purpose of mankind's sojourn on this planet is to learn to master free will. Every decision has its karmic consequences. Some people make mostly good choices, and their karma is generally good. Good karma usually results in good circumstances in one's life, so their progression through the earth's schoolroom can be relatively smooth. Others make mostly bad choices, and their progression can be quite rough at times. I would say that most people are in the middle, having made both good and bad choices, and therefore they function in a world of mixed circumstances – sometimes rewarding, sometimes challenging, sometimes opaque. Because their experiences are mixed, so is their interpretation of reality and, hence, their moral and spiritual beliefs.

"What the brotherhood is trying to do is to help individuals see themselves as a soul in spiritual evolution. Usually – not always, but usually – when people understand their spiritual nature, they begin to act in a morally better way because their motivation is to be the true self they perceive themselves to be. When you discover your inner quality and sense the true self as your potential, then most people find within themselves sufficient discipline to improve their behavior. Their motivation is self-generated and they become much more focused on self-discovery and self-expression. Your character improves because you want to do what is right for yourself. It is similar to a student who studies hard because she or he truly wants to learn. The objective in life is not to do good because it is required of you, but to become your true self which is naturally

good. This is one of the meanings of the biblical teaching: 'Physician, heal thyself'. Unless you know your true self, it is almost impossible to act properly in life for any extended period of time. Acting properly in life requires a foundation of ethical and moral standards found within oneself, not taught by others and adopted intellectually or through rote memorization."

Everyone thinks about this for a while. Then, after a moment of light conversation, Marcella takes the tray and cups to the kitchen and everyone begins to stand, say goodnight, and retire for the evening.

Day Three: Ocean City

The next day over breakfast, Marcella suggested a trip out to Ocean City for lunch, and then a visit to Assateague Island National Seashore for a stroll along the beach. This sounded great, and about an hour later the couples carried small travelling bags out to the van. Martin had already loaded up camping chairs and an ice chest with snacks. He had intended to bring some of his surf fishing gear, but Marcella dissuaded him by noting that not everyone would want to fish. Instead, she suggested that he enjoy a day of socializing with his friends. Martin agreed and put away his fishing tackle for another day.

When everyone got into the van, Martin headed out Highway 50 and over the magnificent Chesapeake Bay Bridge, where they were fortunate enough to see a huge car carrier pass under the highest span. The ship seemed close enough to touch the captain's bridge. Sailboats and power boats, along with a few yachts and several small fishing boats anchored near the pilings, made the 4-mile crossing highly enjoyable. Marcella and Martin pointed out various sights afforded by the view atop the bridge, and then the van passed through Kent Island on the way out to Ocean City, some two and a half hours away on the Atlantic Coast. As they drove along,

Marcella insisted they stop at a couple of her favorite Eastern Shore fruit and vegetable stands, and the ladies had to be encouraged to get back into the van so they would be in time for lunch at their destination.

Around 1:30 they pulled into the parking lot for Embers and enjoyed a wide variety of seafood and other choices from the well-stocked buffet. Afterwards, they strolled along the Boardwalk and window shopped, breathing deeply the cool breeze coming in off the ocean. About an hour later, they headed down Highway 611 to Assateague Island, less than 30 minutes away. Assateague this time of year, especially on Sunday afternoon, is usually crowded. That day, however, was a little quieter because it was late and most visitors were either heading home or taking part in evening activities in nearby Ocean City.

Martin parked near the ranger headquarters and, after collecting some bottled water and insect repellent, the friends walked down to the beach. The on-shore breeze was fairly strong, so the mosquitoes were not bad at all. As they walked on the hard sand close to where the waves broke upon the shore, the ladies trailed behind to look at the shells, while the men watched the waves and the handful of fishermen casting their bait into the surf. Martin explained that many different kinds of fish could be caught here and that he had brought in sea trout, rockfish, sharks, bluefish, and flounder on various occasions. The most frequently caught fish, however, was skate, which most fishermen just tossed back into the surf, although some folks seemed to like them.

Their wives finally caught up, showing the men the shells they had collected, and together they walked for a mile further before beginning to tire. They sat on the beach for a while, enjoying the sunset at their backs and the gradually calming seas. They pointed to a large school of dolphins passing a couple of hundred yards offshore. Mark said he saw a large shark fin out in the water,

but no one else saw it. As it began to get darker, they could see the lights of Ocean City to the north, and a few bright stars and planets becoming visible in the eastern sky.

Around 8:00, Martin suggested they head back, since it would be a 3-hour return trip to Annapolis. They returned to the parking area, washed the sand off their feet and drove away. Soon after they left the entrance to the Park, they saw a small herd of horses cross the road in front of them. Martin explained their Spanish ancestry and the special place the horses on this island held in the culture of the Eastern Shore. After the horses passed by, they traveled a short distance and then Martin stopped, pointing to an extremely small buck on the side of the road. These were Asian Sika deer, Martin said, although he did not know how they arrived on the island.

When they arrived in Annapolis around 11:45 pm, Marcella prepared a quick meal of scrambled eggs and toast and, after eating, everyone called it a night and went to bed.

Identifying the True Self

Martin, however, could not sleep right away – probably from the coffee he had consumed on way back. After a while, he got up and quietly went into the living room, turning on an electric heater to keep warm. Sitting in the darkness, he saw Morya emerge from the hallway and walk over to the chair next to him.

Martin says, "I thought you were asleep. I'm sorry if I awoke you."

Morya replied, "No. I was just relaxing a bit and thought I might come out here to get a glass of water and enjoy the peace and quiet of the neighborhood. Aren't you able to sleep?"

Martin answers, "In a few minutes. I was just thinking about why it is that I keep talking about discovering the true self, when I see that you and Helen, Mark and Elizabeth, and Marcella have

no difficulty in knowing who you really are. I seemed to be challenged in identifying with my true self, when you and others have no difficulty at all. I was wondering about that."

Morya nods and says, "Let me tell you a story I once heard. I don't know if it is true or not. But it is an interesting story nonetheless." He gathers his thoughts and continues, "Long ago there was a man who became a great warrior-king in his society. He was a kind man, an honorable man, and an able general and leader for his people. His kingdom came under attack by a neighboring tribe, and a long, fierce war broke out between the two sides. The man played a key role in leading his forces into battle. But, no matter how hard he fought, he could not win against the considerably larger forces of the enemy. At one point, he prayed to his gods to help his people, because they were a worthy people who worshipped their gods and obeyed the laws given unto them by their forefathers. The enemy was a barbaric and cruel race, which had contributed little to the betterment of mankind. The battles were fought, and despite the best efforts and prayers of the king, his side lost with terrible slaughter. Afterwards, the enemy swept into the towns and villages and farms of the kingdom, killing everything and enslaving those who remained in unspeakable conditions.

"The king escaped to the forests and witnessed all of these things. As he watched the terrible events unfold, he blamed himself for the defeat. But most of all, he blamed the gods for not supporting him in his time of need. The anguish of watching those he loved be killed or enslaved tore at the king's soul and he determined, in a deep way, never to trust the gods again. He went into forced exile and survived as best he could. And one thing he learned was that, in war and politics, all means to victory should be considered legitimate. To survive, and most importantly to protect your people, a leader has to be completely amoral in his methods. For on this earth, he

things. This was especially true for leaders and for generals, in whose hands thousands of lives depend. Deep inside of his consciousness, the achievement of victory became paramount, regardless of whether his actions were moral or not."

Morya pauses, takes a drink of water and says, "The impact of this conviction carried over into countless other lifetimes for this soul. He became, many times, a great general and a great king, and he fined tuned his philosophy into a high art. Historically, he became a famous figure. But at a spiritual level, there emerged a certain disconnect between the aspirations of his soul to embody the qualities of God, and his human consciousness which acted on the premise that anything was justified in order to avoid defeat. He refused over many lifetimes to adjust this philosophy, because he believed it was necessary to act this way in order to protect those for whom he was responsible. He did not fear death, but he could not accept the premise that moral behavior was more important than the lives of his people."

He thinks for a moment and continues, "What we have, then, is a classic case in which a wellmeaning person disconnects by his free will his outer consciousness from the subtle moral guidance of his soul. His rational mind became dominant, and the soul was in essence exiled from all critical decision making. Gradually, as the amoral actions of the rational mind created more and more karma for the individual, his soul became 'scattered' because his outer consciousness was insulated from his higher consciousness. In lifetime after lifetime, the individual inherited a powerful rational mind and a pattern of ignoring his soul's guidance. As the individual and his soul become disconnected, the relationship between the individual in embodiment and his true self, his inner quality, became tenuous and weak. It was not lost entirely – the connection was always there – but the outer consciousness lost awareness of the

connection and the individual walked the earth and played his roles with little or no integration with his true self.

"Interestingly enough, in the case of our hero here, he remained connected to the spiritual world because of his strong and unshakeable love of God. However, his connection to his soul became weak because of the accumulated weight of karma and the soul's inability to communicate with the individual while he was in embodiment. Over time, the individual gradually lost awareness of his soul, his true self, and inner quality; yet, his love of God was an anchor that tied him at very deep levels to his true reality. The man always felt he was missing something, but he could not find or identify it. He did not know who or what he really was. So, he went through lifetime after lifetime, being at heart a good person with mostly good intentions, always striving to do his duty as he saw it, but often acting in questionable ways because it seemed expedient for him to do so."

Martin comments, "Well, that is some story. What happened to this individual?"

Morya replies, "I do not know the conclusion of the story. I suppose it could go one of two ways. The individual could, at some point, forego entirely his love of God, rebel, and turn toward the left-handed path of rejecting all goodness whatsoever. Or, the individual could somehow reconnect with his true self, gradually draw together the elements of his soul, and begin the process of paying his karma and regaining his equilibrium as a son of God. The choice would be his, although there might be spiritual forces at work trying to influence him one way or the other."

Martin slowly shakes his head. "Are you saying, Morya, that such a thing has happened to me? Would that explain why finding my true self is so important to me yet not such a big deal to you and the others?"

Morya smiles and holds up his hands. "No, it is just a story. And like all stories, there is some truth and some fiction. It is up to us to discern the difference. Well, Martin, I have enjoyed all of these conversations with you over the years. I have learned much and gained in friendship more than you will ever know. Now, I am afraid I'm getting tired and need to go to bed. Sleep well, my friend."

Morya walks back to his bedroom. Martin sits for a while, pondering the meaning of this strange story. Eventually, he yawns and goes to bed himself.

Day Four: National Aquarium

The next day was cloudy with light rain, so Martin suggested over breakfast that they visit the National Aquarium in Baltimore and eat lunch at McCormick & Schmick's, a well-known Inner Harbor restaurant specializing in local sea food. Everyone agreed, so about 45 minutes later they got into the van and drove up to the city, arriving at the Aquarium around 11:00. The various exhibits were fascinating, with over 17,000 animals and fish from around the world. Later, they walked over to the restaurant on Pier 5 where everyone ordered their favorite seafood. The food was delicious and the view beautiful. Since this was the last day of their visit, they talked about going out to Fort McHenry, but thunderstorms were building up the area, so they decided to return to Annapolis and relax for the rest of the day.

Spiritual Potential of Mankind

Back home, Martin lit a fire in the fireplace and Helen made everyone her famous yogi tea. As they settled into their favorite chairs and couches, feeling warm and comfortable, Morya asks Martin whether he had a chance to think over their conversation from last night. Martin nods and says, "Yes, I did, Morya. I think I concluded that finding one's true self is really just the beginning of the soul's venture on this planet. Some people – maybe most – have an innate sense of who they are – from a psychological point of view. They generally feel themselves to be complete and whole as a person. On the other hand, knowledge of the inner quality may not be present. A person can be psychologically anchored, but may not know their spirituality. For the individual, it is important not only to be psychologically balanced but also to understand their potential as a human being."

He adds, "It seems to me that mankind as a whole is not fully aware of their spirituality or inner potential. Just look around. We see so many people suffering needlessly. Our experience proves that things are not going as well as they could be on this planet. The question is why. And the answer, at least in part, seems to be a lack of understanding of the potential goodness residing within each person and – most importantly – that this potential is within reach of us all. Surely, if people were aware of their higher nature, their behavior would improve."

Mark asks, "Where is the source of the problem? Is it the individual who is not exerting enough effort to discover his true self, or is the problem with society's leaders, who seek primarily to further their own interests and thus set a bad example? Or some other cause?"

Marcella comments, "I see both of your explanations occurring. Most people do not push the envelope of their understanding, nor try to improve their behavior on a daily basis. Some do, but a great many do not. I also agree that leaders are often more concerned about their own position and power than they are in people's wellbeing. Individual complacency and manipulation of the masses seem to be common social phenomena. Why this is, I am not entirely sure. On the other hand, we all know people who are constantly trying to improve themselves, and they often work hard to improve the lives of others as well. So there is a mixed bag here. I guess the bottom line

is that individuals have to determine for themselves what they are going to do with their lives. That, to me, is the most basic freedom which all mankind have, regardless of where they live or their social status."

Mark says, "It seems clear that the key to unlocking the potential of man is for the individual to determine to do so. There is nothing secret or mystical about truth. The truth is written in each of us and is reflected in nature all around. We have the reasoning power, the creative ability, the tools and resources to do magnificent things within the scope of our opportunities. It is a matter of people determining what they want to do."

Helen comments, "I keep remembering the advice of so many great teachers that seems to boil down to a single point: know yourself, be yourself, do your duty, and always do your best."

Morya expands upon this theme. "That is why it is so important for individuals to come into contact with the reality of their inner quality. If you can sense the divine seed of God within yourself, then you have a perspective which enables you to better understand your place in the great drama of life. This enables you to see what is most important and what is frivolous. The earth is our schoolroom, and one of our educational objectives is to learn to express our personal inner quality. When we express our inner quality, we are beginning to act as our true self."

After a moment, Marcella offers her guests more tea and sweets, and the conversation turns to the more practical issue of the ladies planning next year's trip to China.

Chapter 5: The Brotherhood and Sisterhood of Light

The summer following their reunion in Annapolis, Morya and Martin decided to meet Mark in Denver for a few days while their wives were visiting panda reserves in China. The ladies would leave for Chengdu from the Denver International Airport and would return to the States in about ten days. The plan was for the men to stay at Mark and Elizabeth's home in Lakewood before returning to work the next week. The women would fly to their respective homes directly from Beijing. Martin rented a Jeep Cherokee at the airport upon his arrival, and Mark had his familiar SUV, so the men had plenty of transportation for whatever adventures they might want to undertake.

Later that evening, after seeing their wives off at the airport for their flight to San Francisco, the men ate Chinese food at Pei Wei and discussed their plans for the next few days. It was early June and some of the high mountains were still blanketed by snow, but the temperature was warm in the plains and comfortably cool below the tree line. It seemed a perfect time for visiting the Rockies. Mark suggested they first go to the Rocky Mountain National Park north of Denver and hike up Specimen Mountain. It was an ancient volcano, Mark explained, and the area was well known for its interesting rock formations and plentiful wildlife. Morya asked if the trail was strenuous, and Mark said he did not think so but would inquire at the ranger station in the morning. The men paid their bills and drove back to Mark's home for the evening. By then, it was fairly late, so everyone said goodnight and retired, agreeing to get an early start the next day.

Day One: Rocky Mountain National Park

After hotcakes and eggs, the three friends got into Mark's SUV for the two-hour drive up I-25 into Estes Park, which serves as the eastern gateway into the National Park. Once in the Park, they drove to the Old Fall River Road, a winding, one-way mountain road ending at the Alpine

Visitor Center. As they drove slowly up the road, the men saw a herd of elk and a family of white mountain goats. They stopped at some of the pullouts to take pictures of the mountain peaks and to acclimate themselves to the 11,000-foot altitude. They briefly went inside the Visitor Center to see the exhibits and grab a cup of coffee, and then continued to the base of Specimen Mountain, which, at nearly 12,500 feet, sits astride the Continental Divide.

The men got out, put on their day packs, and started walking on the Poudre River Trail. After a mile or so, Martin spotted a faint path leading up to the saddle between two peaks on Specimen Mountain. They walked steadily upward for about an hour, breathing ever more deeply and listening to the sounds of a nearby creek cascading down to the river far below. The wind picked up as they broke out of the trees into the tundra landscape just above the tree line. After taking a moment to catch their breath and put on light jackets, Martin led the way to the edge of a blownout crater. A few hundred yards below, they saw a small herd of elk heading up a trail passing near their location. Moving out of the way so as not to disturb the elk, Mark pointed to several bighorn sheep on a huge boulder higher up the slope. The men then walked around the saddle picking through rocks for about an hour and gazing at the view on all sides. They didn't take anything out of respect for Park policy, but they thoroughly enjoyed the purity of the environment at that high, remote location.

Tired and hungry, they hiked back down the stream to the Poudre River Trail. An hour later, they were in the SUV, drinking water and eating energy bars, feeling spent but invigorated. Mark returned to Denver through Estes Park, stopping at Boulder for an early dinner at one of his favorite Mexican restaurants. By the time they got home, it was about 8:30 in the evening. After washing off a bit, the men poured themselves some ice tea and relaxed on the deck, enjoying the lights of Denver spread out before them.

Cycles of History

As they sat on the deck, Martin asks his friends, "So, what should we talk about on this trip? Any ideas?"

Morya deferred to Mark, who, after thinking for a moment, says, "I don't know about you, but I have growing concern about the violence and chaos that seem to be increasing in the world. It would appear that the peace we were accustomed to since the end of the Cold War has given way to another era of instability."

Martin observes, "This is a cycle that has repeated itself throughout history. There is a period in which a predominant power enforces a system of law and order on much of the world, and then the great power begins to weaken. Multiple centers of influence emerge. This leads to new and old conflicts of interest, which lead to greater instability since no one looks to others for leadership. The world enters a long period of competition and struggle, and peace becomes a scarce commodity. Eventually, some single power or small bloc of states gains sufficient strength to impose its standards on a significant portion of the world. Peace and stability return for a while, and then the cycle begins all over again. As the Chinese observed hundreds of years ago, 'empires wax and wane'."

Mark comments, "Still, it is disturbing to see violence increasing all around us. I do not see an early solution to the religious, cultural, political, economic, military, social, and other conflicts now surrounding us. Radicalized militants, the drug lords, heavily armed criminal gangs, corruption, abuse of power – society's ailments are overwhelming government's ability to cope with them. I do not see any government that is handling these problems well at this point – democratic or otherwise. That's a pretty pessimistic assessment, but I believe we are in a cycle of disintegration at this point in our social evolution. Morya, do you see any solution to this?"

Morya, who had been standing at the deck railing looking at the lights below, turns and says, "Change is inevitable. So, to some extent, cycles of instability are natural. Nothing is static in the universe." He walks to his chair and continues, "There is no escaping the cycles of life and the changes they bring. The only thing we can control is our own consciousness: how we react to change and challenge. Our focus should not be on establishing stability forever in human affairs. Our focus should be on ourselves, strengthening our ability to control our consciousness, control our actions and reactions in the face of change and challenge. That is what self-mastery is all about. However, self-mastery requires an extremely high level of commitment and discipline to achieve. Gaining that self-mastery is one of the main purposes of the soul's embodiment on the planet."

Martin responds, "What I hear you saying, Morya, is that individuals should focus more on their reaction to events rather than challenge the events themselves. Is this what you mean? And, if you do mean that, doesn't that negate in some way the efforts of people who try to improve the world?"

Mark joins in, "I don't think Morya is implying we should ignore what is going on in the world. Rather, we should seek self-mastery in order to better respond to challenges. The problem is this: none of us are perfect, and almost none have self-mastery. So we either try to accomplish something good and noble from our imperfect state, or we ignore the pain and suffering all around us and retreat to the mountaintop for meditation. To me, the latter is, while appealing, not really an option."

Martin says, "Like Mark, the problem I see with this prescription is that very few of us are ascetics. We are not like Bodhidharma, content to stare at the wall of a cave. We like our pleasures and enjoy our leisure, because they bring spice and comfort to our lives. This makes

life in this world – if not perfect – at least tolerable and even enjoyable at times. And why not? This is our world and we can interact with it as we choose. We have free will, and most people use much of their free will in pursuit of pleasure and happiness."

Mark scoffs, "I always knew you were a hedonist. Surely, life is more than a search for maximum pleasure."

Martin says, "Well, Epicurean might be a better classification. But, seriously, I can think of several things worse than searching for pleasure, such as searching for pain or, more troubling, searching for ways to inflict pain on others. Still, I think Morya's observation about life on this planet being characterized by natural cycles of stability and instability is true. We cannot control the cycles; we can only control our reaction to the changes brought by the cycles."

The Greatest Value

Morya comments, "What we are talking about here is the fundamental orientation of the free will of the individual. Each of us faces the question: 'What is most valuable and important to me?' Do we seek pleasure, riches, power, acclaim from others, a happy family, a healthy life, great wisdom, great strength, high spiritual attainment? People have an enormous range of free will and, as a result, there are almost endless choices for our goals in life."

Mark says, "I think you have touched upon a very good point, Morya. What is it that adds to our sense of self-worth in life? To my way of thinking, self-worth can be measured by degree of commitment to and realization of our inner quality. What we should be looking for is not a fatter wallet but a firmer sense of our true self. The inner quality is the essence of our individuality. No two individuals have identical inner qualities. Yet, the inner quality of each person is precious, because it is a seed of infinite potential that can benefit all of life. I remember hearing long ago a story about a master who would point to the stars in the heavens and tell his disciples that these

points of light represent the perfected qualities of God, each one embodied by great souls throughout cosmos and all of history."

Martin responds, "That is a comforting thought, although I believe science tells us these points of light are in fact nuclear furnaces, burning intensely and completely uninhabitable."

Morya smiles and says, "But there is some truth behind Mark's analogy. Let me ask you, Martin. Is the inner quality with which you identify – honor and integrity – something that exists whether you recognize it or not?" Martin replies, "Sure, honor and integrity exist whether I know about them or not."

Morya then asks, "Then why do you say that honor and integrity are your inner qualities?" Martin explains, "I say this because of an experience I had, which I discussed before. I discovered in meditation an inner light within my consciousness that radiated the qualities of honor and integrity. Because it deep within my consciousness and because it seemed so pervasive and powerful and filled with infinite potential, and because it seemed so natural to me, I called it my 'inner quality.' I am sure there are other names for it."

Morya continues, "What do you think happens to honor and integrity when you pass from the screen of life?" Martin replies, "When I pass from this embodiment the qualities of honor and integrity will continue to exist, just as they existed before my discovery of them and even before my birth. Honor and integrity are like love and wisdom, beauty and health – they are good things that exist independently of any person or any given period of time. I would say, however, that my life can expand honor and integrity in ways that might not be expressed had I not acted with honor and integrity. That is an act of my free will, my contribution to goodness on earth."

Morya then asks, "Do you think honor and integrity existed before men walked the face of the earth?" Martin thinks about this and says, "Well, I am not sure. Honor and integrity are pretty well defined by the human mind. Perhaps they existed as a potential or in some pseudo-form in the animal world such as empathy or maternal love. That is how I would describe it. Not a very good answer, I'm afraid."

Morya goes on, "So honor and integrity are not solely creations of the minds of men?" Martin answers, "I believe that certain qualities exist independently of the mind of men. I am not sure that honor and integrity exist among earthworms or fungus, or on some asteroid hurtling through outer space. But somehow, mankind is able to perceive, define, and deliberately express what already exists as honor and integrity in potential – almost like an embryonic seed. To me, and perhaps me alone, honor and integrity are the highest values in my life."

Does the Inner Quality Prove the Existence of God?

Morya persists, "Is there any common element between inner qualities that perhaps links them to each other?" Martin replies, "All inner qualities seem to be good qualities, not harmful. And, as far as I can see, expressing them improves one's own life as well as the lives of others. So they are beneficial to life rather than cruel or destructive. I suppose that is one common thread among these qualities."

Morya smiles and says, "And that is precisely the point. All of these qualities are by their nature good and beneficial, rather than evil and destructive. If, as you say, Martin, there is an infinite number of these inner qualities, and if they are by their nature good, and if they exist independently of the human mind, what does that tell you about their origin?"

Martin shrugs his shoulders and responds, "To me, it implies the existence of a force of good in life, a force that exists everywhere as a potential that men and women can tap into…if they wish, or if they are fortunate enough to discover it."

Mark, who has been listening carefully, says, "To me, it proves the existence of God."

Martin comments, "I think this can be taken as evidence of the existence of God, but it does not prove the existence of God. Some could argue that this force of good is a genetic trait found only on Earth, a place where human beings have evolved. Just because a force of good exists among human beings does not prove that a force of good exists on other systems of worlds. At least, I don't think it does. Maybe concepts of good and evil are just characteristics of humans. It could be a fluke of nature explained by our DNA."

Morya says, "This is where we get into the nexus between spiritual existence and material existence. If God exists, as I believe He does, then the spiritual qualities of God exist whether or not the material universe exists. In other words, the Creator contains within Himself (or Herself) the seeds of the Creation. A tree does not bear fruit the moment its seed is planted in the ground. So, too, the seeds of the Creator take time to grow and mature. Before the fruit can be produced, the plant must reach maturity. In other words, it is natural that God's qualities take time to reach fruition in the consciousness of mankind as their self-identified inner qualities or best character of goodness."

Mark comments, "I like that explanation, Morya, but it still begs the question of whether the force of good can exist if no life exists through which the goodness can be expressed." Martin replies, "Just because human beings did not walk the face of the earth 5 billion years ago, does not mean that cities cannot be built or books written. The inner quality is something like that. It

requires a human being with some degree of higher self-awareness to perceive the inner quality and to act upon its potential. We cannot ask a slug to go forth and do good things."

Morya laughs and says, "Still, even the slug does its part to sustain and nourish life on the planet. In fact, usually it is not the slug that is the problem with peace and harmony on earth. It is man with his advanced capabilities and free will. What is indeed interesting is that, while the slug never questions the existence of God, rather just accepts the life it is given, it is man who insists that God's existence must be proven before he plays his proper role in life. I have often marveled at the mercy of God who has given man both reason and an inner quality and true self as means by which to prove His own existence. God's love for the soul of man is almost beyond comprehension."

Martin acknowledges that observation and says, "I guess the inner quality does prove the existence of God to the person receptive to that truth. For a person doubting the existence of God, their discovery of the inner quality would no doubt increase their sense of personal spirituality and probably cause them to respect life even further. I personally believe that even the skeptic cannot forever be blind to the existence of God, especially when they see the magnificence of their own inner quality. Somehow, when one compares one's accomplishments with the potential of the inner quality, there is a certain humbling of the human ego and a certain awakening of awareness of one's higher self. These experiences and observations usually lead a person to reconsider his place in the world and – if they are honest with themselves – to the conclusion that they are, in fact, a son or daughter of the cosmos. From this conclusion, it is but a short step to the realization that God may be the initiator of that cosmos. Having opened one's mind to greater possibilities, the spirit itself becomes the teacher."

Martin pauses, then adds with a voice of practicality, "All of this is interesting, guys, but we need to decide what to do tomorrow." Mark and Morya agree with a smile, and the talk turns to planning the next day's activities.

Day Two: Kremmling

The following morning, the three friends got into Martin's rented Jeep for a trip near Kremmling, where Martin said there were some interesting fossilized trees back in the hills. Knowing Martin's hobby of rock collecting, Mark and Morya had packed a lunch of sandwiches and assorted drinks for the day. They drove from I-70 up Highway 40, over the pass and down into Winter Park. There they stopped for some coffee and then proceeded through Granby and west along the Colorado River to just past Troublesome, where they turned onto a forest road heading up the Troublesome Creek valley.

After a few miles, they stopped, climbed over an old barbed wire fence, and walked several hundred yards into some ancient pyroclastic flows. Sure enough, as Martin had promised, they soon came across first small pieces and then progressively larger chunks of black petrified wood. Much to everyone's surprise, they eventually discovered what appeared to be a small canyon into which the pyroclastic flow had pushed several huge trees. Over the course of an hour, the men picked up a few large and well defined specimens, and then walked slowly back to the Jeep with their load. They put the specimens into a couple of plastic bins, and spent the next 15 minutes carefully examining their clothes for ticks. Several were found, and Mark and Morya thanked Martin for warning them to de-tick before getting back into the vehicle. Martin nodded as he himself liberally applied Outdoors spray to his boots, socks, and cuffs.

Getting underway again, Martin drove a few miles before coming to the Black Mountain forest road, where he turned off and began driving higher up the side of an ancient volcano. Eventually, they came to the crater, half of which had collapsed into the valley below. After taking a few pictures and driving a bit further into the forest, they stopped at a clearing and ate a pleasant lunch. Martin then turned the Jeep around and headed back home.

When they arrived in Denver around 7:30 pm, Mark suggested they go to a Chinese carry-out that he frequented. There they ordered several helpings of fried dumplings and side dishes, amused by the owner of the establishment yelling out instructions in Cantonese to two older male cooks, who seemed reluctant to move as fast as she demanded. As they left, Martin received a broad smile from the owner as she picked up his generous tip on the table.

Returning to Mark's home a little after 9 pm, they retired to their rooms to wash before relaxing in the living room with a glass of iced tea. Everyone said they enjoyed the trip and promised to display their pieces of petrified wood in their homes. After passing around a bowl of chips, Mark began a new topic of conversation, asking about the possible existence of a spiritual community of likeminded souls.

A Spiritual Community of Goodwill

Morya replies, "If the inner quality resides within all of mankind and if the inner quality is a source of almost infinite goodness, then does not that imply that a certain community of goodwill exists among human beings – at least on a spiritual level? It seems to me that goodness is a force in the universe. I sense goodness as a presence in life all around us. We see demonstrations of goodness in the lives of others all the time. If goodness is so widespread, does that not imply a community of goodness at some level of consciousness?"

Mark answers, "I would say so. I have often felt part of some kind of spiritual community of goodwill, and I frequently meet people who share that feeling. I attribute this to the fact that we are all sons and daughters of God, in the sense that God is the Creator of us all. And if our common origin is with God, then doesn't that make us brothers and sisters in a spiritual sense?" Martin observes, "Well, theoretically speaking, communities are generally formed because of some commonality. Can a community be formed because of a common sense of goodwill? I suppose it could. However, I am not sure that all of those who have goodwill actually identify themselves as being part of a single spiritual community. Still, it seems that throughout history there has been a common belief that a spiritual brotherhood or sisterhood of goodness exists – although the term 'light' is usually used instead of 'goodness,' so that we are referring to a brotherhood or sisterhood of light."

Morya says, "The main point here is that most people have an innate sense of goodness that flows to the outer mind from the level of their soul consciousness. The origin of that goodness is not something taught to them by their parents or in school. The origin is within themselves. Goodness is part of their character. Their actions, feelings, thoughts, and memories may not always be good, but their higher-level motivations and intentions are good. It is this sense of inner goodness – shared by millions of souls on this planet – that binds them into a spiritual community of goodwill."

Martin says, "I think there is an important lesson here. People do vary in their perception and expression of goodness. I have seen how some people just act naturally with a good heart. I have asked a few of them why they act with goodwill toward others, and they almost always say it is just the right thing to do. There are others, like me I confess, who sometimes struggle to be good. I often wonder why that is."

Morya replies, "That is indeed the case. There are some people – we sometimes call them saints – who are almost perfectly good. Somehow, their varied paths led them to the point where the goodness within became the goodness without. They are fully integrated with their soul."

Martin asks, "But are the saints real, or just the honored memories of great men and women of the past?" Mark says, "Oh, they are real all right. They are the ones we pray to for all kinds of spiritual assistance. Morya adds, "The brotherhood and sisterhood of light is composed of saints. Yet, the saints are individuals like ourselves – just a bit more spiritually advanced. In reality, therefore, we are all members of the spiritual brotherhood and sisterhood of light because we share a common sense of goodwill toward all men."

Martin says, "That may be true, Morya, but if one thinks the inner quality is only an evolutionary phenomenon, then one is not likely to believe in the saints or in a spiritual world."

Morya replies, "Human belief is not too important in this case, because it is temporary. Our beliefs change almost overnight as we experience more of life. What is important is for the individual to live a life with goodness in his heart. God does not require that we worship Him. God only requires that we seek to live in harmony and peace with our fellowman and properly respect our earthly home. If mankind can live in this simple way, eventually we all will find ourselves in a proper relationship with our Creator. Being a member of the brotherhood and sisterhood of light is an inheritance given to every soul as a birthright. But it is a birthright that can only be claimed at an appropriate time. That time is when the outer consciousness of man becomes aligned with the inner quality of the soul, and the individual begins deliberately to do his duty. That duty is to create in ways congruent with the inner quality, which is in reality a unique and special characteristic of God."

Martin can't resist a final question for the evening: "Guys, I am confused about one thing. Why is there a separate brotherhood and sisterhood of light? Isn't that kind of sexist?"

Morya and Mark laugh, and Mark explains: "The term 'brotherhood and sisterhood of light' is an old term used in spiritual teachings for centuries. Actually, there is only a single 'community of light.' God is not a 'He' or a 'She' or even an 'It'. These are just human terms that reflect our habits of language. There is no sexism in heaven, only good souls working together to improve the quality of life for all of God's creation."

Day Three: Denver and Breckenridge

The next morning over breakfast, Martin asks, "One thing that has always concerned me, Morya, is the difficulty of confirming the existence of a spiritual world. You would think, if there were both a spiritual world and a material world, that such a dual world would be widely perceived and even scientifically verified. If it cannot be proved, then dimensions beyond the here and now may be pure speculation. Why should people try to improve themselves, if there is no proof of a spiritual realm in which the unfairness of our world is somehow balanced and justice served?"

Morya replies, "There is not a dual universe of spirit and matter. There are an infinite number of universes that various species perceive they live in. The universe you think of as reality, Martin, is different from the universe I perceive as reality. And the same is true with Mark and every other human being on this planet, and in fact with every other form of life everywhere in existence. Is there a single reality which encompasses it all? I presume so at the very highest level of awareness, but here on earth we lack the instruments to perceive and measure singularity. There are also stages of pre-existence and post-existence which reside outside the boundaries of what we normally would consider the universe."

Martin asks, "But if reality is unknowable, then why not just live in the here and now as comfortably as we can and forget about hypotheticals such as a spiritual dimension of the universe?" Mark chuckles and says, "We are concerned with things outside of our normal sphere of perception because all dimensions are interconnected. We cannot live in isolation from the rest of life or the rest of the universe. So, to the extent that we can, we must seek to understand what lies beyond our immediate senses. Human beings are by their nature explorers and adventurers. This quest for pushing back the boundaries of human understanding is written in our DNA. We cannot ignore it. It is this internal impulse to understand why we exist that ultimately leads all souls back to God – the origin and ending of everything."

Morya comments, "Let's back up a moment and consider how we know truth. Can we know the totality of truth? Absolutely not. Can we know the truth as it applies to us? Yes, in part. Knowing the reality of ourselves and the truth as we can comprehend it are the very first steps we take before we begin to understand the wider realities of life.

"Self-knowledge is the essential foundation for understanding the multiple dimensions of life. Each of us live within a vast network of dimensions; we are like hubs, linked to other hubs through myriad channels of energy. Our conscious mind and outer awareness are not the sum total of who we are. Our understanding of ourselves is the doorway through which we can learn more about life. This is why the brotherhood and sisterhood of light emphasize that we improve our self-understanding, and not be content to merely sit at the foot of the master. We need to actively engage in self-discovery."

At this point Mark nods toward the clock on the wall and says, "As enlightening as this conversation is, I suggest we head out to the mountains before lunch so we can clear our minds and whet our appetites. I want to drive out to Breckenridge and take a gondola ride." When they

returned late that evening, they freshened up and prepared a light dinner of pasta, French bread, and salad, which they leisurely ate while discussing the day's trip. They then cleared the dishes and sat down in the living room to enjoy the evening's cool air and friendly conversation before retiring.

Day Four: Moab

Early the next morning, the three friends got into Mark's SUV and headed out I-70 toward Moab, Utah. The 10-11 hour round trip would be exhausting, but the reputation of Canyonlands and Arches National Parks was too tempting to ignore. None of them had seen the parks and they looked forward to the hikes and pictures they would take.

The trip across the border into Utah down Highway 191 was smooth. Their first stop, other than for gas, was into Arches Park. There, they drove to various scenic sights along the paved roads. The parking lots were mostly full, so they had to pass by slowly and stop on the road to take a few pictures. By late afternoon they were ready to leave the Park, so they discussed whether to spend the night in Moab, or drive quickly through the Canyonlands. Deciding on the latter, they drove into the Park and toured the Island in the Sky.

The Island in the Sky is a vast mesa resting atop sheer sandstone cliffs more than a thousand feet high. As they drove along the paved road, they came across many pullouts with spectacular views of deep canyons. As tempted as they were to try out some of the 4-wheel drive trails, their time was limited so they were content to get out often, peer over the cliffs, and take numerous pictures of the gorges carved out of the sandstone by the Colorado River and its tributaries. The setting sun added depth and shadow to the scenery, making it all the more picturesque. Around 7:30, they drove out of the Park and went into Moab for a quick dinner before heading back to Denver.

Returning to I-70, they drove to Grand Junction where they stopped for gas. Mark accepted Martin's offer to drive, and Martin picked up a tall latte at a nearby Starbucks. Mark sat in the back seat and stretched out to nap for a few minutes, while Morya checked his cell phone messages. A few miles down the interstate, Morya turns his head and asks Martin: "So, do you have any further questions about the brotherhood and sisterhood of light?"

Martin passes a slow moving truck up one of the many inclines and responds, "I guess my main question has to do with how individuals in embodiment can be members of the brotherhood?" Morya nods and answers, "There are a couple of ways to look at this. In most conversations, it is assumed that the brotherhood and sisterhood of light are ascended beings – advanced souls, masters, saints, if you will – who have learned the lessons of life in the physical planes and who have moved on to spiritual dimensions. In other conversations, it is assumed that the brotherhood advanced souls here on earth who are aware of their connection to God and His spiritual hierarchy. These souls are at the doorstep of their ascension to spiritual planes, where they will continue their evolution. In other conversations, the community of light includes souls of goodwill still evolving on this planet who may or may not know of this community, but who feel close to God and try to improve their character in daily life. So, really, the brotherhood and sisterhood of light has many different meanings, depending upon which group of souls you are referring to."

Martin thinks about this and observes, "If we assume the largest definition, then does that not mean that every man, woman, and child is a member of the brotherhood or sisterhood of light?"

Morya replies, "In one sense that is true. All souls created by God have been given a gift of one or more of His attributes – what you call the inner quality. This is the birthright of all humanity. But it is a bit more complicated than that. Whereas all souls may be members of the brotherhood and sisterhood of light broadly speaking, men and women have free will. So it is possible for an individual to give up his birthright from God, and decide to pursue a path of complete rebellion against the Creator. Fortunately, these rebellious souls are relatively few in number, but they do exist and they can cause problems in certain planes of existence. The circumstances of a soul's complete rebellion against God vary with the individual, but often occur because of too great of an ego, too much love of power, or some resentment for a wrong that the soul blames God for. Theoretically, it is possible for even a highly advanced soul to rebel against God. Almost all religions have myths about the origin of evil. But, essentially, evil is deliberate rebellion against God and a free will determination to degrade what is good wherever it might be found. There is not a natural force of anti-God in the universe, but there is a force of evil created by souls who have rebelled against God and rejected His goodness."

Martin reflects for a while and then offers, "I think I can understand a bit of the motivation of some of these fallen ones. What is difficult for me to imagine, however, is how such rebellion could blind the individual to the magnificence of God and His goodwill toward His creation. It is hard for me to understand how any part of life would want to harm others, simply to demonstrate their hatred of God and all things good."

Morya says, "You are right. There is a difference and there is a moral line that is crossed. God knows where that line is, and usually the soul crossing that line is aware of it as well. Once that line is crossed, it often is difficult for the soul to embrace God's will. Think of the story of Jesus preaching to the fallen ones, many of whom asked, 'what have we to do with thee?' God always

has room in His heart for the prodigal son, as long as the son still loves the Father and asks to be forgiven and cleansed of his sins. There is a vast difference between the soul who truly loves God but who has strayed in life, and the soul who hates God and wants to destroy all of His creation."

Martin asks, "What happens to those souls who hate God so much that they seek to destroy all that is good?" Morya responds, "Most religions have their heavens and hells, but I learned long ago that God's justice is something hard for humans to understand. So I can't really answer your question."

Martin then asks, "Morya, forgive me for asking this, but it does seem germane: Why do we have to have God in the first place? Why can't nature and life's evolution be a sufficient explanation for the existence of the inner quality and the goodwill present in most – if not all – of humanity? Is God a reality, or is God a creation of the mind of man?"

Morya says, "Well, that is a question that has been discussed for thousands of years. The answer, I suppose, is that every individual has to answer the question for themselves. If I tell you 'God exists,' then how do I prove it? If I tell you 'God does not exist,' then how do I prove it? Some things are best left to self-discovery. Do you think God exists, Martin?"

Martin replies, "Yes, I do. And that belief, while subjective, is based on some spiritual experiences and some logical thought. Essentially, I feel that the inner quality present in all mankind proves the existence of both God and the brotherhood and sisterhood of light. The inner quality is not some genetic trait; it is the spiritual quality of man's soul. I don't see how you can explain the inner quality in any other way. At the same time, however, in all honesty, sometimes

I can see where life's evolution could explain many of the things normally attributed to God and the spiritual world. So, I try to be objective in my mind, although my heart is true to God." Morya responds, "That is as good an explanation as any I have heard, Martin. Now, if you excuse me, I am going to close my eyes for a moment and let you drive in peace."

Martin smiles at his older friend and continues to drive towards Denver, arriving around 2 am. Along the way, in the quiet and comfort of the SUV, Martin thought about many things: the people he had known, the things he did that he shouldn't have and the things he didn't do that he should have. He thought about the karmic debt he owed to so many people; the cross-roads he had faced and the choices he had made, never knowing what might have happened had he gone the other way. But most of all, he thought about his children and how much he loved and missed them.

Day Five: Denver and Florissant Fossil Beds

The following morning was rainy and surprisingly cool for early summer in Denver, so the friends ate a leisurely breakfast and relaxed for the morning in Mark's comfortable home. Taking their coffee to the living room, they watched Mark light a small stack of logs in the fireplace.

Responsibilities of Spiritual Masters

As the fire slowly caught on, Mark says, "One thing we haven't yet discussed in regards to the brotherhood and sisterhood of light is the role of God's will. I have been wondering for some time, Morya, whether members of the brotherhood and sisterhood are assigned responsibilities through some kind of governance process, or whether the members – being aligned with God's will – automatically know what to do?"

Morya thinks for a moment and then answers, "Let's start with a human being and his or her inner quality. Let's say that inner quality is an ability to compose beautiful music that brings into harmony the emotions of those who listen to it. A great gift, a great talent, something that is good for mankind, something that is pleasing to God. This person has free will and has a soul which is learning to use that free will. Lifetime after lifetime that soul embodies. The soul in embodiment gradually comes to understand its gift and seeks to master its expression. At a certain point, in the natural evolution of things, the soul in embodiment begins to understand that its free will in wanting to compose beautiful music and God's will for the music to be composed are really the same thing. The key is whether the soul is expressing its inner quality. There is, in other words, an evolutionary dimension of God's will. As the soul masters and expresses its inner quality, the soul is contributing to God's creation by realizing a certain potential of goodness. In this way, God's creation is highly dynamic, always evolving, and filled with infinite potential."

He pauses and continues, "To bring it to the discussion of the brotherhood and sisterhood of light. The members of this community are souls who have different levels of self-mastery and self-awareness. Some are more spiritually advanced than others. Some are more accomplished than others. Some have greater mastery in a particular area than others. But all are part of the brotherhood and sisterhood of light because all are dedicated to the expression of the inner quality given to them by God. But the degree of perfection of these individual souls is different. There is recognition of this difference in spiritual planes, so those who have less mastery look to those with greater mastery for guidance and assistance on certain matters. All the brothers and sisters of light have free will. But within the spiritual brotherhood, there is a hierarchy of greater and lesser mastery in given areas. One master, for example, may have greater understanding of the will of God; another, greater understanding of the love or wisdom of God. This hierarchy of

degrees of mastery is reflected in areas of responsibility and authority, so that a master of the will of God would have greater responsibility and authority in that area, for example. Hierarchy in heaven is a natural ordering of levels of self-mastery and degrees of integration with God. Those having less mastery tend to listen to those with greater mastery, and those with greater mastery share their wisdom with others."

Basing Decisions on One's Best Character

Martin comments, "But we have said, in one definition at least, that the brotherhood and sisterhood of light extends to all human beings in embodiment. For this category of members, the ones in embodiment, what is the correct balance between following one's own interpretation of one's inner quality and following the guidance of the brotherhood and sisterhood who dwell in higher spiritual dimensions?"

Mark chuckles and Morya says, "Correct balance? That probably is not the right way to approach this question. The best solution in one circumstance might not be the best approach in another circumstance. The earth is a schoolroom, a training camp for human souls. There is a sequence of training most souls go through. There is a time of the soul's infancy; there is a time of the soul's maturity; there is a time of the soul's graduation to higher dimensions of life. The lessons are different at the various stages of training. Remember the flow of God's will we spoke of earlier. God does not expect the infant soul to behave as the adult soul. God does not expect the soul living in the planes of matter to behave like the soul living in the planes of spirit. On earth, as a person discovers and explores his or her inner quality, there is a great deal of freedom for the individual. No one expects mastery from a young person first learning how to play soccer. No one expects mastery from a soul in embodiment first learning to be his or her true self." He continues, "What I am saying is that, here on earth, it is appropriate to follow one's own direction in expressing the inner quality. And it is also appropriate to ask for guidance and assistance from the brotherhood and sisterhood of light. Eventually, however, one will probably recognize that in order to maximize one's contribution to life, one must work in harmony with the elder brothers and sisters on the path, while at the same time striving to improve oneself. And this is easier than it might sound, because as the person learns more about the inner quality, the more apparent it is that the will of man and the will of God are virtually identical in desiring to perfectly express the inner quality. Does that answer your question?"

Martin nods and thanks Morya, while Mark turns on the television to check the afternoon's weather. "Hey," he says, "the rain should be ending soon. Let's pack up a lunch and head down to see the Florissant Fossil Beds National Monument – one of the nation's best preserved ancient forests." Martin and Morya liked the idea and everyone began to prepare for the outing.

About 45 minutes later, the men got into Mark's SUV and headed south on I-25 to Colorado Springs, where they took Highway 24 west to the small village of Florissant and then turned south a short distance to the National Monument. It was early afternoon by the time they arrived, so they had a pleasant picnic on a table near the Visitors Center. They then walked the selfguided Petrified Forest Loop to see the massive, petrified Sequoia trees – some of the largest diameter petrified trees in the world.

They spent about two hours at the Monument, and then returned to Colorado Springs. At Mark's suggestion, they turned into Rudy's Country Store for some barbeque. Taking three dinners to go, the men continued on to Denver. Upon arriving at Mark's home, they immediately sat out the carry-out and Martin offered each of his friends one of his prized Tommyknocker brews. Morya

politely declined, accepting iced tea instead. When they had finished, Mark took out a pint of Haagen Dazs pineapple-coconut ice cream to balance the spicy sandwiches.

Balancing Service to Humanity and Personal Spiritual Growth

A half-hour later, the men were seated in the living room watching an episode of the Bering Sea gold miners on the Weather Channel. Martin asks his two friends, "I have a question for you: is it better for an individual to accomplish great things in life or to express his inner quality?" Mark uses the remote to turn off the TV and says, "Why can't a person do both?" Morya offers, "It is possible to do both, but it is not always easy under all circumstances." Martin asks, "Can you elaborate a bit on that?"

Morya then explains, "No one is capable of being aware of all things at once; the mind finds it easier to concentrate, to focus on one aspect of life at a time. Over its period of maturation, the soul needs to learn and experience many things. On one occasion, it may need to learn the art of parenting; on another occasion, the soul may need to learn social responsibility; on another, how to protect the innocent; on another, how to meditate and contemplate on spiritual matters; on another, the need for sacrifice for the good of others; and so on. Each of these lessons learned by the soul may require a different embodiment: sometimes in this civilization, sometimes in that; sometimes with this talent being expressed, sometimes with another set of skills.

"To all extent and purposes, then, our evolution is endless from the human perspective. So, what is 'better' is relative to the evolution of the soul at a given point in time and space, matter and spirit. A person can accomplish great things, become more spiritual, or both, depending upon the lessons of life the soul needs to learn or even what the soul wants to do in a particular lifetime. That is the beauty of free will and the greatness of God. Opportunity for each of us is almost

infinite in terms of developing our talents, advancing our spiritual understanding, and making our contributions to life."

Mark raises a new point. "Along these lines, I have a question about consciousness. Does the spiritual brotherhood and sisterhood of light have a single consciousness – as implied by the term 'spirit' – or do each of its members have a separate consciousness? And if separate, how do they coordinate, since different perspectives can lead to different conclusions as to proper actions and plans?"

Morya replies, "Let's discuss first the issue of whether there is a single 'spirit' of the brotherhood and sisterhood of light. What does that actually mean? It does not mean that there is only a single consciousness among its members. In large part, the term 'spirit' here is meant a shared dedication to the fulfillment of the will of God on earth and in all other dimensions. The spirit is a shared dedication to goodwill towards all of life. The masters know and trust one another because of their common spirit or commitment to the glory of God. The masters work together for the common good of fulfilling God's will. There are discussions, even debate, between members who might have a different approach to some issue. But these differences are resolved and a cooperative path forward is decided upon. And don't forget, that at higher levels of consciousness, communication of intentions and plans is much easier than here among men."

Mark thanks Morya and begins to clear the cups off the table. He says, "My friends, tomorrow is our last day, so let's grab some sleep and meet over breakfast to discuss our plans for the morning before your afternoon flights." With that, everyone retires for the evening.

Day Five: Denver Tornado

Martin awoke the next morning from the sound of thunder close by. He looked out the window to see a darkened sky with rapidly moving clouds, which looked rather menacing. He walked to the living room and turned on the television, surprised to learn that Denver was under a tornado warning until 11 am. Strange, he thought, tornadoes don't usually form in the morning. The tornado warning on the Weather Channel woke Mark and Morya, who came in to watch the latest forecast. Sipping his coffee, Mark said that tornadoes do occur in Denver but they were fairly rare. He couldn't recall one developing so early in the season.

Mark went into the kitchen to fix breakfast, while Martin and Morya went to the deck to watch the gathering storm. There was considerable dust blowing east of Denver and several intense, localized thunderstorms were dropping rain in various locations. Where they were in Lakewood, only a few drops of rain were felt, but the winds were getting gusty. After a while, they went into the dining room to eat the eggs and toast prepared by Mark and listen to reports from local television.

Since both Morya and Martin's flights were scheduled to depart in mid-afternoon, they were especially keen on airport closures or postponed flights. These began to come in about 9:00, but a check on the United website confirmed their respective flights were still on schedule. Drinking their coffee and juice around the table, the friends decided to stay at the house before leaving for the airport around 12:30 pm. After helping to clear the dishes, Martin and Morya packed their bags, and put their towels and linen into the laundry room. The men then went outside to the deck to check on the storm.

Around 10:30 Mark pointed to the southeast, where a funnel cloud could be seen developing on the outskirts of the city, seemingly towards Aurora and Centennial. Sure enough, within a few minutes, the funnel touched down, with clouds of dusk being sucked high into the sky. Heavy

lightning punctuated the dark clouds. A few drops of rain were felt, and then a brief hailstorm passed through, leaving a bucket full of quarter-sized hailstones in the yard. The friends retreated from the hailstorm, but went back out after it had passed. By that time, the tornado had dissipated and only a few rumbles of thunder could be heard. They went inside to listen to local damage reports from the storm chasers, but other than a couple of semis being toppled on I-25 and a few sheds blown down, no injuries or damage to structures were reported.

As things settled down, Martin says, "Well, that was an interesting conclusion to the trip." He adds jokingly, "I wonder if the brotherhood had anything to do with that storm?"

Mark answers, "I doubt it. From my understanding, the brotherhood does not normally seek to control the weather, or any other major environmental or geological process. These things are not spiritual manifestations but rather the laws of nature and physics being worked out on earth. The brotherhood and sisterhood of light are concerned with spiritual evolution of lifestreams, not weather patterns. Although, if God wanted something major to happen on earth, it could happen. But I doubt these things occur very often."

Martin then asks, "Forgive me for pressing this point, but if we cannot be sure of moral justice in the universe, such as what would theoretically occur to a wicked society in a natural cataclysm, then how can we be sure that the brotherhood and sisterhood of light actually exist?"

Mark says, "There are some things we have to take on faith, Martin. We observe the workings of karma in our lives. We know that we have a spiritual side to ourselves, that we possess an inner quality. We know and have experience with spiritual things. Shouldn't that personal experience be sufficient to infer that cosmic justice exists as well? Why should we dismiss the existence of

God or the spiritual brotherhood, when we all have experienced His graciousness at one time or another?"

Martin replies, "I accept your argument, Mark. I would say, however, that we either know, or we don't know. We should be honest about our limitations."

Morya says, "That, my friend, is a true statement. Each of us must determine for ourselves whether the brotherhood and sisterhood of light actually exists. But let's think about this." He pauses for a moment, then continues, "Do you agree that certain beautiful and magnificent qualities exist?" Martin says, "Of course. That is self-evident to everyone."

Morya asks, "Do you think that everyone shares or expresses these qualities equally?" Martin replies, "No, people experience and share these qualities quite differently. Some people are good artists, some are good car mechanics."

Morya nods, then asks, "Would you say that the mastery of art or the ability to repair cars has a limit, so that humanity can only attain such-and-such a level of mastery in these areas and go no further?" Martin answers, "No, there is no limit to the mastery of these abilities. Their expression is virtually unlimited."

Morya says, "All right. We agree then that humanity has good qualities and that the expression of these qualities vary among individuals but there is no limit to the mastery of these qualities. Is that true?" Martin says, "Yes. That is what we have said. In fact, two of the characteristics of inner qualities are that they are infinitely good and have infinite potential for expression."

Morya replies, "What about the level of spirituality in people? Is everyone's awareness of the soul, or God, or the masters the same?" Martin says, "No. There is great variety in the level of people's spirituality. We can all see that."

Morya pursues the point: "Do you believe there is an upper limit on what is possible for humanity to know or experience spiritually?" Martin replies carefully, "No. I think there is no limit to the spirituality of mankind."

Morya then says, "OK. We agree further that there is no limit on the expression of good qualities in people and there is no limit to the level of their spirituality. Is that true?" Martin says, "Yes, I would agree to that."

Morya smiles and asks, "Would you not say that at the upper end of self-mastery in expressing one's inner quality and in being spiritual, that one could be called a saint?" Martin replies, "I suppose I would have to agree with that."

Morya concludes, "The question then is whether, at the end of the life of a saint, there is only death, or continuation of multiple lifetimes, or ascension to a higher plan of consciousness. What do you think makes the most sense?"

Martin takes his time in responding. "Well, if we assume that the purpose of life on earth is for the soul to master free will, then we also have to assume that, having gained that mastery, the soul is ready to move on to other dimensions. If we assume the existence of the soul and we assume the existence of saints, then we have to hold out the possibility of there being a spiritual brotherhood and sisterhood comprised of these saints. Of course, if we don't believe in things spiritual, then our conclusion would be that after death there is nothing. It all depends on one's fundamental belief in the soul and things spiritual."

Morya then asks, "And how does one make that determination?" Martin says, "That seems to be a highly personal conclusion based on many factors. I am convinced the soul exists and that there is a spiritual dimension to life, but I have known people just as convinced the opposite is true. I

believe that only time will tell which view is correct. I don't know how else to think about this issue."

Morya replies, "And that is the case with all of us. Whether God exists, whether the brotherhood and sisterhood of light exist, whether the soul exists, whether a spiritual side of life exists – belief in these things has to be decided by the individual. Of course, reality is independent of human belief. But still, for our sojourn on earth, it is our opportunity to answer these questions for ourselves. In fact, when you think about it, if God and the brotherhood do exist, if mankind's spirituality is real, and if the soul is indeed evolving through various embodiments on earth – then it would make sense that part of the soul's maturing would be the realization that God and all that follows exists. Wouldn't you agree?"

Martin says, "Yes, I would have to agree to that. Personally, I can attest to the fact that my conviction in the existence of things spiritual became rock-solid after my discovery of the inner quality. Since that discovery helped me to broaden my understanding, I would conclude that personal proof of the existence of God is part of the soul's evolution."

Mark nods at this and reminds his two friends that it is time to go. They prepare a quick snack for the return flights and go out to Mark's SUV and Martin's rented Jeep to drive to the airport. After the Jeep was returned, Mark drove his friends to the terminal, where they shook hands, expressed appreciation for a great vacation, and promised to meet again soon.

Chapter 6: Sons and Daughters of God

A few years later, the three families decided to spend Christmas vacation at Martin and Marcella's second home in Woodstock, Illinois – about 50 miles northwest of Chicago. Earlier in their careers, they had purchased the home for retirement, although subsequent jobs in the Washington, D.C. area had limited their time in Woodstock. Martin told his friends to bring lots of warm clothing, because winters in northern Illinois were predictably cold, windy, and snowy.

Day One: Arrival

When Martin picked up Morya and Helen, Mark and Elizabeth at O'Hare Airport, each of the couples had two large suitcases and were bundled up with coats, hats, gloves, and scarfs as if on a journey to Antarctica. Laughing, Marcella welcomed her guests as Martin maneuvered their luggage into the van. Mark commented, "You were right in telling us to dress warmly," as he rubbed his hands together and tightened the scarf around his neck. On the drive to Woodstock, Elizabeth commented on how flat and wind-blown the area looked, and Martin replied that, up here, one had to brace for the cold and learn to appreciate the fresh air. As everyone got out of the van and went into the house, the ladies gathered by the large sliding glass door near the kitchen and admired the wild beauty outside. Helen especially noted how peaceful and quiet it was, with only occasional gusts of wind howling above the silence. After coats were put away and luggage moved into the guestrooms, the friends sat around the dining room table to enjoy hot, locally made apple cider and generous slices of a mochi and red-bean cake that Marcella had prepared. Martin started a fire in the fireplace.

Later, over a warm dinner of homemade beef stew and cornbread, the men ask their wives to recount their best memories of their trip to China. The ladies responded with enthusiastic stories of taxi drivers, tour guides, amazing historical sites, incredible museums, and several delightful days of interaction with the panda bears at the National Bifengxia Panda Reserve near Chengdu. They volunteered to clean up the panda enclosures and, in return, the keepers gave them daily access to several pandas for hand feeding and photo opportunities. The ladies said they would return to China as soon as possible, and Helen mentioned that she especially wanted to spend more time in Xi'an to visit the terracotta warrior site, depicting the armies of Qin Shi Huang, the first Emperor of China. Their husbands again deferred on making a commitment to accompany them, so the women turned to planning between themselves.

After the dishes were cleared and washed, the women joined the men in the living room to sit in front of the fire. Marcella served everyone chamomile tea with a touch of honey from a local farm. After Helen and Elizabeth had complimented Marcella on her choice of furniture and decorations, Mark asked Martin if he had any particular subjects he wanted to discuss during their visit.

Martin replies, "One thing that caught my attention recently was a comment I heard on television from a young lady about not feeling worthy. When asked why she felt that way, she replied that she grew up in an environment in which others seemed to consider her unaccomplished and inferior to her peers. I have thought about this and have concluded that she and others like her must not be in contact with their true self, which is truly unique and magnificent – else why would they feel inferior? I was wondering how you all might respond to this young woman's feeling about herself."

Marcella says, "Actually, this is a very common feeling, not only among young people but also older people as well. I see it often in counselling."

Elizabeth comments, "I think this feeling is a reflection of the person's self-identification. If you identify yourself as a human ego, then you tend to gravitate to either of two extremes: you feel you are superior to other people, or you feel you are inferior to others. Both attitudes are ego-centered. They are not based on reality. The reality is that we are all sons and daughters of God, and the portion of God within ourselves is the true value of our selfhood. When we view ourselves as a son or daughter of God, then we concentrate on becoming more our true self rather than allowing our mind and feelings to dwell on any temporary imperfections we might have – or believe we have."

What Does the Term "Sons and Daughters of God" Mean?

Martin responds, "Well, this is interesting as a point of discussion. What does it actually mean to be a son or daughter of God? We assume we are all sons and daughters of God, because God is the Creator of the universe. However, even if God's role as Creator is taken as a given, then we are still left with a dilemma of why mankind lives the way it does in such a state of imperfection. Shouldn't we be living differently than we do? If not more rich and comfortable, then at least living in peace with good moral behavior? To be honest, it is sometimes hard for me to reconcile the evil deeds recorded in history with the notion that we are sons and daughters of God. Something does not add up logically in this description of reality."

Mark says, "I think this is a great subject. What exactly is a son or daughter of God? And why, if human beings are the offspring of the Creator, are people so intent to harm each other and other parts of life? Why do people identify so much with their lesser self? It's a mystery to me as well." He glances at Morya, who continues to leaf through a book he had picked up off the coffee table. Mark continues with his train of thought. "Let me see if I can reason this through. It's obvious that all living things go through cycles: birth, infancy, adolescence, adulthood, seniority, and death. Even planets, solar systems, and galaxies go through cycles of creation and destruction. I suppose we could conclude that all things – living and material – do not exist forever. They are created and over time disintegrate, according to the rules of their own domain. Life has its cycles and the purely material world has its cycles as well. If that is the case, then why wouldn't there be a similar pattern for souls? True, souls are of a spiritual nature, but they are also connected to life and matter. If that is true, then younger souls could be referred to as children of God, and adult souls could be referred to as sons and daughters of God. This assumes, of course, that there is such a thing as a spiritual dimension, that there is a Creator we call God, and that there are souls. It also assumes that souls are basically masculine or feminine. Otherwise, they would not be called 'sons and daughters' of God."

Helen observes, "We all have had experience with our souls and the souls of others. No mother can look into the eyes of her infant and not see the soul within. You can even perceive some kind of spirit residing within animals when you closely observe them. How often do we remark about the spirit inside of our favorite pets? So the existence of a spiritual world is not altogether unreasonable, even if – from a rational perspective – we do not fully understand its laws and functionality."

Elizabeth adds, "It seems to me that if there are souls, then there must be God. Although who among us really knows what God is? Not that this matters so much, I suppose, because none of us fully know our children or our spouses, yet they certainly exist. I believe that souls are predominantly either masculine or feminine. However, in the teachings we have heard that sometimes masculine souls are incarnated as females, or vice versa, depending on the lessons the

soul may need to learn. Interestingly, I have known many mothers-to-be who swear they are about to bring into this world a masculine or feminine soul, only to be surprised to find their baby is actually of the other sex." Marcella and Helen agree that has been their experience as well.

Helen asks her husband, "What do you think?"

Morya looks up from the book and replies, "Logically speaking, if there is a universal Creator, then the creation must contain within itself portions of the Creator. These seeds can be atoms and energy, life and spirit, or other dimensional things beyond our knowledge or experience. Even if this assumption is true, however, it does not mean that God predetermines every step of the evolutionary processes God may have set into motion. For example, every day we witness a certain randomness in nature and in the affairs of men. God may be the source of all, but the laws of physics and nature take it from there. Gravity and magnetism are such laws, as are evolution and life cycles. We use the terms of 'children of God' and 'sons and daughters of God' to describe our conceptualization of our relationship to the Creator. Is our conceptualization correct? Let's just say it is probably close enough for our purposes."

Helen laughs and addresses her husband, "Your ability to bring abstraction into every discussion constantly amazes me." Martin asks, "But, seriously, if we are sons and daughters of God, then why is Jesus referred to as the 'Son of God'?"

Morya says, "God has many children, since He is the Creator of all of our souls. However, the title 'Son of God' has been given especially to Jesus because of his many lifetimes of service to God and to humanity. He is our example, our mentor, our savior in many ways, and he shows us one path to self-mastery on this planetary home. But each soul learns the lessons of life in its

own way, and there are perhaps thousands of paths one can take to become one's true self and unite with God. Neither Jesus, nor the Buddha, nor any teacher, prophet, saint, or master can make every decision for us. Nor would they say that theirs is the only correct path. We have to make our own choices in order to learn self-mastery. That is why earth is referred to as a schoolroom: it is here that we learn to use our free will correctly. It is here that we learn to be a co-creator with God. It is here that we learn what it means to be a son or daughter of the Most High."

Marcella asks, "What do you mean when you say 'co-creator' with God?"

Morya replies, "God does not create the universe fully formed. He imbues all of creation with aspects of Himself, as seeds of potential. Mankind has an exceptional ability to identify the qualities God has placed within the individual soul. We have referred to this seed of potential within ourselves as the inner quality. With knowledge of this inner quality and properly using free will, we can create almost without limit the patterns found in God's consciousness – just like an architect or engineer can use geometric designs in an infinite variety of structures. This means, for example, that God's character of love or wisdom can be replicated over and over again in infinite ways to the benefit of all of life. In this way, mankind is a co-creator with God. With the inner quality and creative free will, mankind can take the seeds or patterns of God's consciousness and bring forth fruit or creations for the blessings of all. That is a special opportunity given to human souls that has been refined through the evolutionary development of the mind. However, it is up to each individual to accept, reject, or ignore the opportunity – and responsibility – of being a co-creator with God."

Spiritual Evolution

Mark raises a point. "We all see that there is evolution within life. But is there a spiritual evolution as well?"

Morya says, "Of course there is. Nothing that is created can remain permanently the same. All dimensions evolve, including the spiritual dimension – of which there are many sub-divisions, by the way, just like the physical universe and life's variations. The spirit in an animal, for instance, is different from the spirit or soul of man. The spirit of a giant oak tree is different as well. Different kinds of spirits have different evolutionary paths, if you will, kind of like the various branches of the tree of life, only in a spiritual dimension."

Mark persists, "But does the material universe – a nugget of gold or a drop of water – have a spirit as well?"

Morya says, "That's an interesting question. Spirits, like human souls, use the material world as the medium or vehicle through which they function physically. The human body, for example, has physical attributes that have evolved for millions of years. The human soul uses those physical attributes while it is embodied on earth. Trees and elephants, whales and grasshoppers – the same thing. Different forms evolve because life adapts in different ways to the environment at hand. The life force is everywhere present, but not necessarily present in every form. There may be spirits residing within a mountain but the existence of a physical mountain does not necessarily mean a spirit resides there. But, certainly, if you are sensitive to these kinds of things, you can perceive the life force inhabiting a forest of bamboo or giant sequoias. You can sense the spirit of an elephant or tiger. Where there is life, there is spirit; but where there is material structure, there is not necessarily life or spirit – although it could be. The laws governing when and how spirit and life inhabit physical structures is something I am unable to explain."

Martin then asks, "I have a question. In the realm of spiritual evolution, do the spirits move from one lifeform to another? In other words, can the spirits of dogs become the spirits of dolphins?" Everyone smiles at this, while Morya replies patiently, "Evolution does occur in spiritual dimensions. When the soul of a saint enters heaven, so to speak, that soul does not remain forever the same. It evolves. So, yes, it is possible for one type of spirit to evolve into a more advanced spiritual state. In the evolution of spirits, a more advanced spirit may require a different physical body than it may have inhabited earlier in its evolution. But, again, what governs the specifics of this process, I cannot explain."

Martin persists, "If there is spiritual evolution, where do human souls stand on the evolutionary ladder?"

Marcella starts to object to Martin's endless questions to their guests, but Morya answers, "I have always heard it said that we are somewhere in the middle." Martin jokes, "Ah, that explains it. That is why we have both an animal side and a divine side – all inside of ourselves." Marcella comments, "Speak for yourself, husband dear." All laugh as Martin replies, "I was. I was."

Marcella then asks, "Morya, what is the relationship between one's true self, and being a son or daughter of God?"

Morya says, "In the broadest sense of the word, since God is the Creator, we are all sons or daughters of God. Not all sons and daughters of God, however, become their true selves on earth or understand their birthright. Becoming one's true self requires that the individual know their inner character and – more importantly – use that best character to guide their behavior, deliberately being the best person they can be. As you go through this process of becoming a better person, day by day, you gradually become your true self. For the son or daughter of God to

advance spiritually beyond a certain point requires that they become their true self. But it is important to realize that the true self is not the apex of some mountain of attainment. The true self is an unfoldment of the full potential of God within. There is almost no limit as to what the true self can be in a positive sense.

"The key for human beings is to begin the process of becoming their true self. That requires individual self-determination. What occurs is that the free will of the individual begins to align more and more closely with the inner quality, the expression of which is the will of God. Greater alignment with the will of God enables the soul to transition to higher and higher levels of consciousness. Souls who have gone sufficiently through this process graduate from earth's schoolroom, perhaps becoming saints or ascended masters. But the soul's evolution does not end there, because God's kingdom is indeed vast beyond our comprehension." He pauses, then continues, "It is important to focus on engaging in the process rather than measuring one's attainment as rungs on a ladder. It's the orientation of the consciousness of the soul in embodiment that counts in the planes of human existence, not perfection which is almost unattainable in these dimensions. Remember, life as we know it is never static and unchanging." Marcella thanks Morya for his explanation and then suggests that, as the hour is late, perhaps everyone would like to rest for the activities planned for tomorrow. All agree and retire for the evening.

Day Two: A Tour of Woodstock

After breakfast the next morning, the friends drove in Marcella's van to downtown Woodstock, a small rural community that was a picturesque Mid-Western town and the site of the filming of "Groundhog Day." They stopped at Starbucks and enjoyed watching people scurrying along the

sidewalk, bundled up against the cold but with smiles and friendly glances to everyone they encountered. Marcella explained that the town was rapidly becoming a suburb of Chicago, as the metropolitan giant expanded inexorably to the west. Martin said they were able to purchase their house before the prices skyrocketed and were happy to have the second home as a retreat from the pressure of federal contracting work in the Nation's capital. They returned home around 12:30 and Marcella began to prepare lunch for her guests, while Martin served everyone their choice of hot tea. Following lunch, they went into the living room to warm up by the fire. Marcella gave everyone a cup of hot chocolate and offered some homemade cookies, and they talked leisurely about their favorite moments from previous vacations.

Late that afternoon a fast moving clipper brought a brief but heavy blizzard to the area. Dinner that night was doubly appreciated by everyone as they watched the dark clouds and outbursts of flurries stream across the back yard. When the cake and coffee were served, all toasted each other and wished their friends a happy holiday season. The men cleared the table and placed the dishes into the washer, then filled their coffee cups and sat down next to their wives, who were having a deep discussion by the fire.

Marriage and Remaining Single

Mark asks, "What are you ladies discussing so seriously here?" Elizabeth smiles and replies, "We will discussing an interesting point: whether it is better for a woman to be single or to be married." The men raised their eyebrows and cautiously asked their wives to continue the conversation.

Marcella says, "I was just making the point that, to be married, distracts considerably from a woman's choices in life, because she must take care of so many household responsibilities and support her husband. You men have no idea how much of our time is taken up in caring for you,"

she adds mischievously. Martin responds, "That may be true, dear, but the benefits of marriage clearly outweigh the disadvantages. You don't have to work hard to support yourself. You can raise a family and enjoy all the comforts of home."

The women glance at Martin and Elizabeth comments, "We are serious about this. Yes, there are advantages to being married and there are also some disadvantages. The more time we give to our children and to our spouses, the less time we have to ourselves to grow materially and spiritually. Women, in general, naturally want to support those whom they love and tend to be self-sacrificing. When we are married, we give most of our attention to our family and set aside or postpone things that would advance ourselves."

Mark says, "I personally believe that women have a certain spiritual awareness that men do not have because most men concentrate on work outside the home." Martin adds, "I think so, too. A man has to face many challenges in the workplace, and some of these work against his efforts to improve spiritually. Try to harbor good thoughts toward all, when your boss is breathing down your neck about some absurd deadline that is impossible to meet for some ill-conceived objective."

Marcella says, "Maybe the tests and lessons of life are different for a man and a woman. Maintaining a house in harmony and raising children keep a wife and a mother very busy, and I know of no woman who can truthfully claim to be able to balance a professional life with household responsibilities. Let me ask you, Morya, is it better – spiritually speaking – for a son or daughter of God to be married or not?"

Morya looks at the fire for a moment and then replies, "There is no single answer to that question. Consider the saints and masters. Some were married and some were not. To advance

spiritually does not require that one be either single or married, or male or female for that matter. The union between men and women is a natural bonding. Being single throughout one's life is usually a matter of choice. Men and women hold up equal parts of heaven, as the Chinese would say. Yin and Yang depend on each other; the whole is not complete without its parts. So the issue has less to do with the appropriateness of matrimony than with what is appropriate for the individual at that particular stage of life. To progress spiritually might require some people to be married. To progress spiritually may require others to be unmarried. From the soul's perspective, being married in one lifetime and not in another does not distract from the soul's progression." Elizabeth comments, "What you are saying is that marriage may or may not be good for an individual – spiritually or otherwise. This certainly would align with my experience." She turns to her husband and says with a wink, "Mark, you are the lucky one." Everyone laughs and Martin adds, "I think that is true for all of us. You ladies may question whether marriage is good for you, but we can tell you in all honesty that it is good for us. We only hope that we can return to you a small portion of all that you have given us. And that includes spiritual understanding as

well."

The ladies look truly moved, then Marcella says, "Well, there you have it. Somehow, all men have to do is to express their love for us and we are ready to go another thousand miles. It must be written into our DNA." The talk then turns to the morrow and the ladies' plan to go shopping at Schaumburg, weather permitting. Around 10:30, Martin turns on a local television station to find tomorrow's forecast – which seemed to be OK. About a half-hour later, everyone exchanges goodnight and retires for the evening.

Day Three: A Day of Shopping

After a light breakfast, the women got into Marcella's van and went shopping for the day, promising to return before night and asking the men to take care of themselves for lunch. When the dishes had been cleared, Martin, Mark, and Morya sat around the table and talked about politics, the weather, and their jobs.

Martin then asks, "I have been wondering about the challenges faced by a son or daughter of God as they attempt to fulfill their potential in this world. We have called this the process of becoming the true self. Here is my question: does a son or daughter of God best become their true self by overcoming their limitations, or by creatively using their inner quality? In other words, is the process of becoming one's true self best accelerated by overcoming the negatives in one's life or by acting in a positive, creative way?"

Mark answers, "Obviously, an individual must do both. For there are positive goods to be done in life and there are weaknesses in one's character that must be overcome." Morya adds, "It's actually a four-dimensional process: overcoming human weakness, building positive traits in one's character, balancing negative karma from past misuse of free will, and creating good karma by improving conditions in one's sphere of influence. All four must be accomplished before our full potential can be realized."

Martin asks, "What about idealism? What roles do ideals play in human spiritual development?" Morya says, "From as far back as our earliest ancestors, there is evidence of conceptualization of ideals. The cave paintings, for example, are depictions of ideal animals, ideal hunts, ideal ceremonies, ideal people, ideal gods and goddesses. Our sophistication has grown over hundreds of generations, but the ideal as an attribute of our consciousness has remained the same: it is a vision toward which we strive in our daily lives. Ideals exists as goals which motivate us to seek to achieve personal and social greatness – or at least a better life. It is a distinguishing

characteristic of humankind. One could argue that God has planted the need for ideals in our consciousness. One could likewise argue that, somehow, evolution developed the ideal as a way to improve our chances of survival as a species. Either way, the ideal exists in the human mind. And either way, the ideal is a powerful motivator to improve ourselves individually and collectively."

He continues, "In some ways, the existence of the inner quality can be seen as an ideal before its reality is discovered and then expressed by the individual. Whether the ideal of the inner quality has its origin in God or evolution is probably not so important. What is important is that the ideal of the inner quality exists and that it becomes a goal recognized and pursued. The interesting point is that the inner quality may seem at first like an ideal, but when pursued over time it becomes a pragmatic reality. There is no endpoint in the practical expression of one's inner quality.

"Collectively, the existence of these infinitely good potentials in the hearts and minds of mankind give us great hope and optimism that the future can be better than the present or the past. The ideal of the inner quality thus is a powerful force in the evolution of mankind. For those who are spiritually inclined, such an ideal liberates the mind to explore one's spirituality. For those who are not spiritually inclined, the inner quality is an ideal that expands one's sense of personal freedom, value, and potential. No matter how it is viewed, the ideal of the inner quality benefits the individual, society, and the human race as a whole."

Mark and Martin thought about what Morya had said, and nodded their agreement. After a moment, Martin suggested they drive out to Farm and Fleet and then Walmart to pick up a few items. His friends agreed, and they got into Martin's Tundra for the short ride to the local Woodstock stores off Highway 14. The men made some purchases at each store and then went

downtown to get a cup of coffee at Starbucks. On the way back home, they stopped by a small pizza shop to order some subs, then drove to the house about 1:30. Their wives hadn't returned yet, so they ate their sandwiches while watching television before relaxing in the living room with a cup of hot Darjeeling tea in hand.

The Soul's Great Mission in Life

Martin says, "When we think about the nature of man, there appears to be a fundamental difference between the Eastern and Western traditions in that, in the West, we tend to think of the individual – as a person and as a soul – as being an entity separate from nature, as a unique being unto itself. There is a distinction between you and me, us and them. And that perception has many social and political implications. In the East, on the other hand – at least as I understand it – there is a tradition of looking at people as being part of nature, not entities separate from nature. From the Eastern point of view, separateness is an illusion which can be overcome through wisdom and understanding. Thus, from the East comes the view that people should play their appointed role in life; and from the West comes the idea that individuals need personal freedom to move beyond their limitations and realize their full potential. Do either of you have an opinion about those different perceptions?"

Mark replies, "I think there is truth on both sides here. It is true that the individual soul is part of Creation, or nature if you prefer. It is also true that the individual has a unique inner quality which he can, through free will, seek to maximize. To me, the question of whether man is an individual or part of nature is not too important. Why can't we be both? The key question for the individual is how he or she can live a life that is personally fulfilling. If they feel comfortable playing a culturally prescribed role, so be it. If they want to move beyond social boundaries and maximize their unique potential, so be it. Morya, what are your thoughts on this?"

Morya says, "The soul has two great missions in life. One is to become a co-creator with God in the sense that the soul should do all it can with its gift of free will to create and build and to improve life. To make its greatest contributions, the soul needs to know and express its inner quality. That is the soul's special gift, an exceptional talent yet to be mastered. The second thing the soul has to do is play its part in the great drama of life. But aren't these two things the same, or at least complementary? God does not intend the soul to go off into a cave, never more to reemerge. God intends for the soul to add to the greatness of Creation by contributing what it can toward the betterment of life. The point of connection between the two great missions of the soul is the inner quality. When an individual decides to express the inner quality, he is in fact playing his proper role in the drama of life."

Martin asks, "But wouldn't it be possible that some people can express their inner quality without even being aware that the inner quality exists? In other words, to be naturally attuned to God and in harmony with nature simply by being themselves?" Morya answers, "Yes, it is possible. The soul does not have to go through all this suffering on earth simply to be its true self."

Martin mulls this over for a moment, and then goes on. "OK. I have known a few people who had a pure and innocent consciousness. Without trying, they seemed to be in harmony with God and nature. They act confidently, without great display of ego, in ways that are noble and devoid of moral uncertainty. They are not perfect, but I truly respect these people. On the other hand, many people are like me – living in a kind of moral ambivalence, sometimes doing good, unfortunately sometimes doing less than good, sometimes not knowing what is good or bad in a given circumstance. To make the point: sometimes I have to consciously choose to do the morally correct thing. By contrast, these innocent souls I spoke of earlier simply act in a morally

correct way without any thought. I don't have a clue how they became that way. To me, life is – if nothing else – a reoccurring moral dilemma."

Mark observes, "Maybe that's the great challenge for Western culture in general. Western culture emphasizes individuality and free will, using reason to question everything. This can unleash great creative energy, but it can also lead to efforts to manipulate the natural order of things and inadvertently undermine the balance of life. You can't always push the moral envelope without sometimes entering uncharted and dangerous territory."

Martin replies, "Mark, I usually don't see life as being in balance or harmony. I see competition and battle for survival, with all too brief periods of peace and equilibrium. Even if humans did not exit, there would be predators and suffering of the innocent. This is not as I wish it to be. It is the reality of life. We on earth live in duality: a beautiful home filled with remarkable and noble things; yet a home that can also be ugly and threatening. We have to be able to function in our environment as it is and not try to escape either physically or in some kind of mental fantasy. To me, the great challenge for Eastern culture is to awaken to the realization that people can and should take responsibility to improve themselves and their environment, rather than to accept life as it was given to them at birth. Being spiritually attuned does not equate to living a life of squalor or ignoring the injustices that occur in the world."

Mark starts to respond and then says, "Well, I do have a response to that. However, I hear the garage door opening, so our wives must have returned. Let's help them with the shopping bags and hear about their day." The men open the inside door to the garage, greet their wives, and help bring several bags of presents, food, and other goodies into the kitchen.

Commonalities between People and Cultures

After putting away their purchases, the women set out on the table some Chinese carry-out they had picked up in Crystal Lake. As everyone ate, the men asked their wives about their day and the ladies inquired as to how their husbands had spent their time. After Mark explained they were trying to identify the common elements of Eastern and Western philosophical traditions, Helen asked what they had concluded. Martin said that the two cultures appeared to be opposite in some ways but probably were two sides of the same coin. Marcella observes, "Sort of like male and female. Quite different, but equal parts in the whole of humanity."

Elizabeth asks, "I wonder if the Eastern-Western distinction is not over emphasized, just as the differences between men and women can sometimes be exaggerated?" Mark responds, "That may be true, but we cannot ignore the differences either, because in examining these differences we gain insight into the greater whole."

Helen observes, "I think, on questions such as these, we should take a broader perspective. As you know, many scientists are now convinced that it is just a matter of time before we discover intelligent life elsewhere in the universe. There is general consensus that the building blocks of life are nearly everywhere present, and we have found that life can exist and even thrive in the most inhospitable of places. If we assume that intelligent life has evolved elsewhere, then what does that tell us about small things such as cultural differences here on earth? It tells us that our metaphysics and cosmology may be outdated and in need of revision. We need a new perspective."

Marcella takes up the theme: "From this point of view, the differences between cultures and religions may be less important than the common elements that define us as human beings. I

have a feeling that if we do someday encounter other forms of intelligent life, our criticisms of our fellowman will likely become a secondary matter and perhaps even fall to the wayside."

Morya says, "Interestingly enough, that is precisely the rationale behind a community of goodwill. Mankind is at a turning point in its evolution. As we begin to reach for the stars to discover other intelligent life, we must recognize that – if such lifeforms are found – their views will almost certainly be quite different from our own. Maybe even hostile in some instances. We are unique as human beings, and that uniqueness is a precious commodity all men should cherish. We should treasure what we have, including our environment and planetary home. But we also need to expand our understanding of ourselves, and our relationship to God and nature. That understanding will help us concentrate on the much more important commonalities that we share. We are all sons and daughters of God, and we need to work more closely together to achieve the greatness we have as potential – both individually and collectively."

Everyone nods their agreement. After a moment, the ladies turn the conversation to what to have for Christmas dinner – a discussion their husbands enthusiastically join.

Day Four: Christmas Eve

The next day, after a quick breakfast of bagels and orange juice, the ladies went out to buy the turkey breasts and side dishes they had decided on for Christmas dinner. The men did their own shopping, picking up some wine and brandy, along with egg nog and a few snacks that only they would remember to buy. By noon, everyone returned to the house. After putting away the food, all sat down to a leisurely lunch. They then cleared the table and retired to their rooms for a little rest before making pies and decorating the living room with Christmas ornaments. Later in the

afternoon when all the Christmas preparations were done, Marcella served a light dinner of salad and freshly baked bread to whet the appetite for tomorrow's big feast.

Afterwards, everyone went to the living room to sit around the fire and listen to Christmas carols on T.V. Morya told his favorite story of the Wise Men, which no one tired of hearing even after all these years. Around 9:00 pm, eyelids were starting to droop, so Martin suggested that perhaps an early retirement would be appropriate. Since the wind was strong and blowing snow, and the morning would start early with last-minute preparations, the ladies politely excused themselves and went to their bedrooms.

The men sat around and watched the fire for a while, then Martin observes, "Becoming one's true self doesn't happen overnight, does it."

Morya says, "No, it takes a while...sometimes a long, long time. I remember hearing stories of the rise and fall of civilizations, and the roles played by individual souls, lifetime after lifetime, learning lesson after lesson in the great schoolroom of earth. Some graduate from this schoolroom earlier than others; some seem to be forever stuck at some point in their lessons so they don't make much progress for a while. Career students you might say. But most people graduate eventually."

Mark asks, "How does a person know when he has learned enough on earth to move on to other missions?" Morya comments, "We should all remember that there is a connection between our human self, our soul, and God. Ideally, the flow of inspiration from God to the outer consciousness is smooth and uninterrupted. In practice, the connection can be tenuous until the soul in embodiment gains in self-mastery. In response to your question, Mark, the human mind does not always know when the time for graduation has come."

Mark wonders, "Why is this? Why are the connections between spirit and matter so tenuous?" Morya answers, "When we are in spiritual dimensions, the connection between God and the soul is very close. This is because God is spirit and the soul is spirit. It is much easier in spiritual planes to know and follow the will of God. But when we walk through the door into embodiment, we find ourselves in a different environment. We still can connect to God, but it requires an effort of free will or at least a receptivity to spiritual promptings. This can seem hard to maintain on earth, where it is sometimes challenging to live as a good person. And don't forget, on earth our bodies have certain senses and mental capacity. We do have a sense of spirituality, but it is not often as fully developed as it should be. Nonetheless, it is our karma and dharma to learn self-mastery here on earth, and it is here that we must discover the seeds of God within ourselves.

"Having an understanding of how spirit and matter can be integrated inside of our consciousness is an important step in the development of a son and daughter of God. The awakening to one's true self is one method the Creator uses to expand His gifts throughout the universe. It occurs as souls – one by one – learn to become co-creators with God. Once the individual realizes his true identity as a son or daughter of God, then it is natural for the individual to become a co-creator with God. The son follows in his Father's footsteps. The connections between spirit and matter become very strong, indeed."

Karmic Connections

Martin then asks, "I wonder, Morya, if you could explain the connection of souls to each other. Do we always belong to the same family or society, or are we embodied first in one group and then in another?" Mark offers, "I think we are talking about mandalas here: a group of souls linked to each other by karma and dharma." Morya says, "Yes, mandalas do exist. All of us are linked to various other souls in different ways. There is usually a karmic connection between parents and child, husband and wife, brother and sister. Sometimes this connection is to balance karma caused by harm brought to some person. Often there is a positive link between souls who are committed to some great purpose, say the emergence of a civilization or culture. There are also soul-mates and twin flames, which are the subjects of countless romantic legends. There also souls with whom we feel very comfortable as friends. And, unfortunately, there are a few souls we would rather not see at all. Karmic patterns on earth can be very complicated, but over time even negative karmic relationships generally get resolved."

Martin asks, "What about mandalas?"

Morya says, "Mandalas usually are of a positive kind: kindred souls that are committed to one another for some cause such as the expansion of freedom. That kind of thing requires a commitment between many souls lasting many lifetimes. There are other types of mandalas, as well, but that is the one I think you are asking about."

Martin then asks, "Are we in this house part of a mandala?" Mark smiles and Morya answers, "Of course." But he would say no more.

After sitting quietly in front of the fire for a few more minutes, they men say goodnight and go to their rooms for the evening.

Day Five: Christmas

In the morning, everyone got up and went to the dining room to enjoy a delightful breakfast prepared by Marcella and Martin. Beside each plate was a small gift box containing a semiprecious stone shaped and polished by Martin and placed in a gold wire setting by Marcella. Their friends produced their own gifts and presented them to all. After many smiles, hugs, and handshakes, the couples toasted each other and Morya said a few words of gratitude to the Creator for the opportunity of life and the joy of good friends. After breakfast, the men cleared the table and washed the dishes, while the ladies went to the living room to enjoy the fire and a cup of coffee or tea.

Their husbands joined them and the conversation turned to memorable holidays of the past, when each of the couples had young children with all the happiness and challenges that period in life brings. After an hour or so, the ladies got up to begin preparing the early afternoon Christmas dinner. Marcella sent Martin out for a few items she had forgotten to buy, and Mark and Morya sat by the fire to read and watch television.

When Martin returned, he joined his friends, commenting on how bitterly cold the wind was that day. Later, he excused himself to bring in some more logs for the fire and came back with a cut finger which Marcella quickly washed and bandaged for him. Mark, noting the cut, says, "I often wonder how it is that, if we truly are sons and daughters of God, we can be so subject to imperfection." Morya comments, "Life on earth is never perfect."

Martin replies, "Somehow, that thought brings little comfort to one sitting here, cold and hungry, nursing a cut finger and drinking coffee for the caffeine." Mark chuckles and observes, "We all know of your imperfections, my friend. No need to remind us."

Martin then says, more seriously, "What I find most interesting is the difficulty in overcoming base impulses that seem to come from deep within one's subconscious. And, even more interesting, is the fact that these impulses often intertwine with those that are nobler in character. It is almost as if we live in two different worlds, both inside of ourselves. Does that make sense?"

Mark nods and responds, "We all have many sides to ourselves, and often these are contradictory. Remember the story of the charioteer having to coordinate several horses at once in order to go anywhere. We are kind of like that, with our wild horses being our minds, emotions, spiritual nature, and physical body. To become our true self requires that we first learn to control ourselves."

Martin asks, "Still, the question is, how do we separate our true self from our lesser self? From a practical point of view, our lesser self is often what enables us to function in this world. The world is not perfect, so why would we want to be perfect ourselves? We should not let our desire to be perfect be the cause of our demise in the world of practicality."

At this point, Helen and Elizabeth bring some crackers and cheese, accompanied with a small glass of wine. The men gratefully accept the snacks, and the women go back to the kitchen with a promise of more to come, telling their husbands to prepare for dinner in about twenty minutes.

At the appointed time, the men walked into the dining room and sat down at the table beside their wives. The Christmas dinner was delicious, with turkey and dressing, honey baked ham, sweet potatoes, Chinese broccoli, carrots, freshly made rolls, and several pies with whipped cream for dessert. The men complimented their wives many times during the meal, and everyone enjoyed the light conversation and good company between life-long friends. After dinner, the ladies retired to the living room to relax and watch television, while the men washed the dishes and put away the pots and pans. A half-hour later they joined their wives, and watched a bit of

the movie Marcella had selected from Comcast Xfinity. Feeling the romantic story a bit slow for their collective taste, the men excused themselves and retreated to the kitchen table.

Separating the Real and Unreal in Self

Martin picked up the conversation from earlier that afternoon. "We were discussing before dinner the problem of separating the true self from the artificial self. The true self we consider to be the person God intends us to be: essentially, someone who expresses in their daily lives their inner quality to the best of their ability. The lesser or artificial self is the human ego which identifies itself as being separate from God. For some people, the human self appears to be the composite of all the qualities picked up in order to survive on this planet. Separating the ideal self from the human self can be a dilemma for many, since we may be divine in potential but we are remain human beings."

Mark replies, "That is the challenge we all face. However, it is not necessarily a black and white choice, nor is it like walking from one room to another. What normally occurs is that the individual, having recognized his or her inner quality and therefore sensing the true self as potential residing within, begins slowly and deliberately to work towards improving his or her character. This is a step-by-step process, as one chooses to express more and more of one's inner quality. Gradually, making these choices transforms the individual's self-identification from his artificial or superficial self to his true self. In other words, as the Buddha once said, we become what we think. If we think of ourselves as a barbarian, we act like a barbarian. If we think of ourselves as a scholar, we act like a scholar. If we think of ourselves as a son or daughter of God, we begin to act as someone who has that self-identity. The power of the mind in molding our character is one of the defining characteristics of mankind. Our potential for self-improvement is

almost limitless. The natural desire for self-improvement is a force that can help propel us into higher levels of consciousness and self-awareness."

Martin thinks about this for a moment, and Morya adds, "Another way to think of it is this: at some point on the path, a son or daughter of God must determine to let go of past misdeeds and commit themselves to becoming the fullness that God intends. God's intent for our soul is written in our hearts as recognition of our infinite potential as a son or daughter of God. God Himself provides both the seed of the individual's inner quality and the opportunity through many lifetimes for the soul to discover and express those higher qualities."

Morya continues, "When you seek to express your inner quality, you are deciding – consciously or unconsciously – to become your true self. This act of self-determination aligns with the will of God. God does not direct your every move. God gives life and opportunity. God wants you to awaken to your inner potential and to accept your inheritance as a co-creator. That inheritance comes with both honor and responsibility. But God has patience with us. Here on earth, God is mostly concerned about the intentions of our heart, less so on perfection. God does not expect perfection from human beings. He expects us to make responsible decisions based on our understanding of what is best in the circumstances we find ourselves in."

Mark then observes, "Once we align our will with the will of God, we swim with the tide rather than against it. From the perspective of an individual who is unaware of or not aligned with the will of God, becoming the true self can appear unattainable or unrealistic. From the perspective of an individual who seeks to swim with the flow of God's will, the realization of the soul's full potential appears almost inevitable." Martin, after thinking a moment, gets up and brings some cookies and milk to the table, inquiring if his friends would like a warm-up on their tea. A short time later, hearing that the movie had ended, the men returned to their wives and asked if they would mind switching the channel to the news and weather. The rest of the evening was spent in light conversation about friends and family, with Mark and Martin taking turns with the cable switcher trying to find something interesting. Around midnight, the couples thanked each other for a wonderful Christmas, said goodnight, and retired for the evening.

Day Six: Polar Vortex

That night, a polar vortex swept southward through Canada, hitting Minnesota, Wisconsin, and northern Illinois with strong winds, bitter cold, and extremely icy conditions. No one ventured outside, and the governors of the three states declared local emergencies, warning everyone to stay off the roads so the crews could prepare the highways for the coming work week.

The three couples were warm and comfortable in Martin and Marcella's home, so they didn't mind the weather. Their guests wondered if their afternoon flights the next day would be cancelled, but Martin ventured that they probably would be fine since O'Hare was very efficient in clearing runways once the winter storms had passed. The weatherman on a local station said this would be a fast moving storm, so no one was too concerned.

After a relaxed breakfast, the three couples took their coffees and teas into the living room to sit beside the fireplace and enjoy each other's company. They talked about their kids and work activities, catching up on things they hadn't discussed earlier.

Understanding the Role of Humanity

After a while, Martin comments, "I often wonder about the special place of humanity in the larger scheme of things. We know there are billions of stars and probably millions of planets as well, some of which have been found to be fairly similar to earth in terms of distance from a sun and chemical composition. All of this suggests that human beings are not the only intelligent life in the universe. No matter how unique each of us feels as an individual, we are not alone. We are part of a greater whole that is larger and more varied than any of us can imagine. When you look at life that way, you have to wonder about man's relationship to God. If there is a God, and we in this room certainly believe it to be true, then our understanding of God must change as we explore the universe further and one day perhaps find ourselves not alone in the cosmos. In this sense, there is a close connection between science and religion. Whereas religion helped civilization grow out of the Dark Ages by preserving wisdom, so now science by its discoveries is helping religion expand its conceptions of spirituality."

Helen said this was the point she had tried to make earlier, and then asks, "How do you think this new understanding of God relates to what we should be doing now?"

Martin thinks for a moment, and attempts to answer: "I think it has to begin with one's orientation towards life. Are we functioning from the belief that we are the center of the universe, or from a perspective of acknowledging the vastness of life throughout cosmos – of which we are a small but important part? I believe all life is precious to God. To the best of our ability we should view life the same way."

Mark says, "Once you recognize your true self, you naturally see other people as individuals becoming their true selves. What defines us as sons and daughter of God is that we all carry the seeds of God's potential, which we can bring to fruition almost without limit." He pauses, then continues, "I sometimes think of Native Americans and how many of them considered themselves descendants from the gods and therefore caretakers of nature. To them, possession of a piece of land did not imply individual ownership, but responsibility of stewardship on behalf of the Creator. To modern man, this may seem a simple notion, but it really is profound because it encapsulates the essence of what it means to be one with life. Mankind is special in that we are the caretakers of our environment and natural surroundings. We should not exploit nature and life, but rather take care of it, nourish it, and work in harmony with it."

Morya nods his agreement and adds, "Human beings are not likely to be the only sons and daughters of God. Children of the light exist in many forms in the universe and in its various dimensions. However, God has given to humanity the special characteristic of free will and – most importantly – the ability to be highly creative in the use of that free will. God has thus given mankind one of His most cherished gifts: the ability to use the mind to plan and to build." Helen observes, "It is so natural, just like giving birth and raising children, and then watching them mature and go their own way. It seems that all of life exists within the same patterns of creation, birth, maturity, work, and then passing on for spiritual rest and recuperation between embodiments. The life force is everywhere present in the universe, like a spirit: always flowing, always filled with potential, always seeking to be expressed wherever and whenever the slightest opportunity exists."

Marcella then asked if everyone was ready for lunch, so they all moved to the kitchen to help prepare a light lunch of homemade soup and toasted cheese sandwiches, all seasoned to warm the body on a cold wintery day. Afterwards, the friends returned to the living room with a cup of yogi tea made by Helen according to an old family recipe.

Aligning with the Will of God

Martin raises a question. "Morya, I would like your opinion on a basic issue facing all of humanity. What steps can we take to better align ourselves with the will of God? I am not talking about a particular religion or philosophy, but commonsense guidance that anyone can follow."

Morya thinks for a moment and then replies, "The simplest guide is to be your best self. We have discussed the inner quality before, but it is – in essence – a person's conceptualization of the best character they possess. If individuals can find within themselves a tiny nugget of good character, then that is sufficient to build upon. If one seeks every day to express that good character in larger and larger measure, a process is initiated whereby the person increasingly becomes his or her true self. God's will is very simple. God wants His sons and daughters to realize their full potential and become their true selves. The true self is what God intends your soul to become. It is your inheritance. It is God's gift to your lifestream."

Mark adds, "None of us have the ability to control what comes our way in life. We do, however, have at least some control over how we react to our circumstances. To me, this is the essence of becoming a son or daughter of God: assuming personal responsibility for our actions and reactions in life."

Elizabeth says, "We actually teach that lesson to our first graders: 'Learn to control your anger and your desire to possess what is not yours. Learn to help others who depend on you'." Marcella comments, "It's interesting that you mention the early lessons of life, Elizabeth. I have found in counselling that people often have to return in their memories to some earlier event in order to see what impedes them today. We all want to be free of our burdens and limitations, but – more often than not – we are our own worst enemy. We are the source of many of our limitations. Unfortunate things will always occur, but we can control our reaction to these events and not be defeated by them."

Martin observes, "It's easy to say, but difficult to achieve." Morya says, "It all depends on your perspective. When we gaze at the summit it seems inaccessible. But once on the path, the overcoming of obstacles becomes second nature. One wakes in the morning anxious to see what challenges will arise to test one's resolve."

Helen laughs and comments, "You have to excuse my husband's enthusiasm. To him, the joy is in the overcoming because it makes him feel closer to God. Sometimes, I confess, he is hard to live with." The others chuckle at this, because they know Helen shares Morya's dedication to the will of God. If anything, she is even more determined to do the right thing in life.

Martin says, "We all acknowledge that you are quite a pair and well suited to each other. I would only hope that my wife were as patient as you, Helen." Marcella lifts her eyes, and Elizabeth replies, "We all appreciate you as well, Martin – and Marcella, too – for being such good friends and good hosts. Mark has his quirks as well, but – all in all – he is not such a bad person." The friends smile at one another, and then Martin turns on the T.V to catch tomorrow's weather forecast.

Day Seven: A Fond Farewell

The next morning the friends enjoyed a late brunch, chatting for a few hours before Mark and Morya and their wives were to be driven to O'Hara for their afternoon flights. At the table, Morya told everyone that he and Helen had decided to go to Darjeeling in the spring, and to spend some time at an ashram he had been introduced to years ago when he visited India with his parents. Mark and Martin were silent for a moment, and then Martin says, "Well, I can understand why you would want to go to that spiritual retreat. I hope someday that Marcella and I can follow in your footsteps. I will miss our conversations but look forward to their continuing at some time in the future."

Mark adds, "Morya and Helen, my dear friends, I wish you the best on your trip. We feel so appreciative of your friendship and wisdom over the years. I wish we could have you here forever, but I know it is impossible. Please drop us a line once in a while, and do come back when you can."

As everyone got up from the table, they hugged each other, looking into eyes but without many words. Some things are understood between friends. About an hour later, Martin and Marcella drove their guests to the airport. After seeing them to the security gate and waving goodbye, everyone went their separate ways.

Chapter 7: A Final Message from Morya

A few months after their meeting in Woodstock over Christmas, Martin received a brief handwritten note from Morya. The letter said Helen and he were doing well and becoming more invigorated by the day from being in such close proximity to the Himalayas. He wrote that they had decided to stay longer than originally planned, and that perhaps they would look into buying some property on which to build a small home for their retirement. Morya told his friend: "Martin, look inside of yourself for guidance. For God has placed within you a light to show you the way. Give my love to Marcella, and treat her kindly and with love. Remember, Martin, that God is full of mysteries. All of Creation is part of the Creator, and all of Creation is unfolding according to its own laws and principles. It is not foreordained that every part of life will perceive itself as part of God. Yet the potential of self-recognition is at all times present for each of us. God does not hide spiritual truth from anyone. As you go about your work, think of God as the Architect and you as the builder. Consult often with the Architect and listen carefully to His suggestions. Embrace your opportunities, love your fellowman, and always act with integrity in honor of your Heavenly Father."

Martin re-read these words and his eyes became moist as he remembered the many conversations he and Morya and Mark had over the years. He quietly folded the note and placed it on the fireplace mantel. He understood that he would not see Morya again in this lifetime, but took comfort in the belief that their paths would cross in the future.

Martin and Mark met several more times over the next few years. Eventually, Mark and Elizabeth decided to open a teaching center overlooking Lake Titicaca in Peru. After that, the three couples never met each other in person but often communicated by email, sharing news and opinion. Somehow, even though thousands of miles separated them, they all felt as close as a thought away.

About the Author

Martin Lasater is a political scientist, policy analyst, and author, with a lifelong interest in

philosophy, ethics, and governance. He may be reached at: mlasater@comcast.net.